

# Health Information Technology Advisory Committee (HITAC) Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020

# **FEBRUARY 10, 2021**



# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	3
Foreword	12
Overview	13
Legislative Requirements	13
HITAC Target Areas	13
ONC Objectives and Benchmarks	14
HITAC Progress in FY20	15
Health IT Infrastructure Landscape Analysis	19
Federal Activities across the Target Areas	19
Target Area: Use of Technologies that Support Public Health	25
Target Area: Interoperability	29
Target Area: Privacy and Security	35
Target Area: Patient Access to Information	40
Health IT Infrastructure Gap Analysis	42
Target Area: Use of Technologies that Support Public Health	42
Target Area: Interoperability	44
Target Area: Privacy and Security	46
Target Area: Patient Access to Information	47
Recommendations for Addressing Health IT Infrastructure Gaps	49
Target Area: Use of Technologies that Support Public Health	49
Target Area: Interoperability	52
Target Area: Privacy and Security	55
Target Area: Patient Access to Information	57
Suggestions for Additional HITAC Initiatives	58
Conclusion	58
Appendices	59
Glossary	59
Abbreviations	62
Resource List	65
FY20 HITAC Member List	66
Acknowledgements	66

# **Executive Summary**

The 21<sup>st</sup> Century Cures Act (Cures Act) requires the Health Information Technology Advisory Committee (HITAC) to develop an annual report to be submitted to the Secretary of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) and to Congress each fiscal year. This report complies with that directive by reviewing fiscal year 2020 (FY20) HITAC activities, describing the landscape of health information technology (IT) infrastructure across target areas, analyzing infrastructure gaps, and offering recommendations for future HITAC activities.

# **HITAC Progress in FY20**

The Cures Act directs the HITAC to make recommendations to the National Coordinator for Health IT regarding policies, standards, implementation specifications, and certification criteria related to the implementation of a health IT infrastructure, nationally and locally, that advances the electronic access, exchange, and use of health information.

The full committee, through the work of several subcommittees, developed recommendations to support the work of the Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT (ONC) required by the Cures Act. In FY20, the subcommittees included the:

- Annual Report Workgroup
- Interoperability Standards Priorities (ISP) Task Force
- Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data (ICAD) Task Force
- U.S. Core Data for Interoperability (USCDI) Task Force

# **Health IT Infrastructure Landscape**

The Cures Act specifies three priority target areas within which the HITAC should focus its activities: interoperability, privacy and security, and patient access to information. The Cures Act also defines certain additional target areas for the HITAC's consideration, including the use of technologies that support public health. These target areas are a key principle for classifying the HITAC's work and organizing this report.

# **Federal Activities across the Target Areas**

In FY20, there were considerable health IT advancements throughout various agencies of the federal government. ONC released a final rule to implement provisions in Title IV of the Cures Act, called the 21<sup>st</sup> Century Cures Act: Interoperability, Information Blocking, and the ONC Health IT Certification Program Final Rule (hereafter, referred to as the ONC Cures Act Final Rule). ONC also collaborated with 25 federal organizations to release the 2020-2025 Federal Health IT Strategic Plan (Strategic Plan). The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) released a final rule to improve interoperability and expand patients' access to their health information. Several other federal activities addressed the HITAC's priority target areas including efforts to promote price transparency by hospitals and payers, the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) Technological Modernization Action Plan, and the federal response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Target Area: Use of Technologies that Support Public Health

The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the intersection of health IT, public health, and clinical care during a public health emergency. There has been widespread innovation to combat the pandemic, such as the roll-out of COVID-19 electronic case reporting, health information exchange notifications, CommonPass, and The Situational Awareness for Novel Epidemic Response (SANER) Project. However, the pandemic has also exposed deep, systemic gaps within the nation's public health and interoperability infrastructure presenting an opportunity to improve bidirectional information sharing between the clinical and public health communities and therefore enable increased coordination between federal, state, and local public health agencies.

# **Target Area: Interoperability**

Although most clinicians now use electronic health records (EHRs), interoperability remains somewhat fragmented, variable across stakeholder groups, and several barriers need to be addressed. These barriers include areas where standards are lacking or there is limited adoption of existing standards. These barriers are hindering data exchange with the research community and across the care continuum, and adversely affecting the ability to track important information such as social determinants of health (SDOH) data. Additionally, tracking and sharing health information to support health equity initiatives, tracking adverse patient safety events, and attending to the needs of additional care settings are also essential to the success of the nation's health IT infrastructure.

# **Target Area: Privacy and Security**

Privacy and security of health data are important considerations in advancing and maintaining trust in the healthcare delivery system and the electronic sharing of health information. Health data generated and/or stored outside the protection of federal privacy laws are growing, and patients are often unaware that some of their health data are not protected by laws such as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). There continues to be confusion among patients and clinicians about the rules for sharing data and when patient consent is required.

#### **Target Area: Patient Access to Information**

Patient access to health information can have a positive impact on health, healthcare, and health equity by supporting shared decision-making between patients, their caregivers, and clinicians. Continued education, improved accessibility, and increased use of application programming interfaces (APIs) and patient-generated health data (PGHD) are needed to increase patients' ability to safely and securely access, share, and use their data. Patients often have trouble correcting incorrect data in their health records and that data may be shared with other clinicians, perpetuating any errors across the health information ecosystem.

# Health IT Infrastructure Gaps, Opportunities, and Recommendations

The Cures Act requires an analysis identifying existing gaps in policies and resources for achieving the ONC objectives and benchmarks and furthering interoperability throughout the health IT infrastructure, as well as recommendations for addressing the gaps identified. The HITAC has focused on key gaps and opportunities for the health IT industry and has recommended a set of related HITAC activities that act as a repository of ideas for future consideration.

The following table summarizes the HITAC's assessment. Within each target area, topics are grouped by the timeliness of the opportunity to be addressed by the HITAC. An immediate opportunity correlates to planned topics for the HITAC within the next one to two years, i.e., calendar years 2021-22, while longer-term opportunities are anticipated to begin in three or more years, i.e., calendar year 2023 or later.

Topic	Key Gaps	Key Opportunities	Recommended HITAC Activities	
Target Area: Use	Target Area: Use of Technologies that Support Public Health			
		Immediate Opport	tunities	
Bidirectional exchange of clinical and administrative data for public health purposes	Public health authorities face interoperability challenges to be able to collect, access, and use information, as well as exchange it bidirectionally between clinicians and laboratories, particularly data needed for proper reporting.	Improve bidirectional interoperability between public health information systems and EHRs.     Accelerate use of data standards to improve situational awareness for federal, state, and local government emergency response.     Explore an expanded role for Health Information Exchanges (HIEs) to support public health data access and exchange.	<ol> <li>Encourage further support for the identification and exchange of minimum necessary datasets and consideration of technical requirements for exchange for public health, e.g., with laboratories, especially for test order entry, results, and case reporting. Additionally, encourage further support for the development of standards for population-level data exchange.</li> <li>Identify interim solutions implemented to improve reporting capabilities and assess whether additional long-term solutions are needed.</li> <li>Compile a set of useful health IT resources to raise awareness among public health organizations.</li> <li>Facilitate acceleration of the practical use of data standards to improve situational awareness for local, state, and federal government public health emergency response.</li> <li>Learn about the successes and remaining barriers to exchange by HIEs to support public health's geographically oriented information needs, including how to optimize, standardize, and potentially expand their role and address regional differences in capacity to address any gaps. Identify approaches to combine data from national health information networks (HINs) to address regional public health data needs.</li> </ol>	
Privacy and security for public health purposes	Biosurveillance efforts, including case investigation, contact tracing, and proximity notification, as well as increased use of telehealth and remote monitoring face privacy and security issues.	Discuss the tradeoffs between increasing interoperability, protecting privacy and security, and ensuring public safety during pandemics.     Increase the clarity about the privacy and security concerns associated with biosurveillance activities.	<ol> <li>Help clarify what data can be collected and how it can be used.</li> <li>Encourage clinical workforce and patient education/reeducation on the use of technology for telehealth (including smartphones).</li> <li>Identify educational approaches that offer improved transparency of privacy protections applicable to contact tracing applications and biosurveillance technologies such as contact tracing and exposure notification apps.</li> <li>Encourage the development of guidance about and harmonization of privacy and security protections of mobile health data used for public health across varying state and local laws.</li> </ol>	

Topic	Key Gaps	Key Opportunities	Recommended HITAC Activities
Vaccine Tracking	Pre-COVID-19, questions arose about how various public health organizations might be able to monitor unimmunized populations, where patients are obtaining vaccines, and if others (e.g., payers) can access that data. The pandemic has greatly increased the need for health data collection and bidirectional exchange to support vaccine administration.	Investigate whether predictive analytics can be used to a) aggregate and analyze this data to anticipate needs for vaccines among vulnerable and/or high-risk populations, including for flu and COVID-19 prevention, and b) better target outreach, education, and response efforts and strategies.	1. Identify opportunities and barriers for healthcare, home and community-based service (HCBS), and public health organizations to work together to target vulnerable populations for vaccination campaigns, highlight successful predictive analytics, and assess how health IT can better support a balance of vaccine data being pushed vs. pulled for public health purposes.  2. Encourage needed improvements to community registries for easier exchange and use, e.g., increased normalization and standardization of data.
Patient matching for public health purposes	Patient matching challenges exist due to gaps in information (particularly demographic) shared from commercial laboratories and contact tracing records, and lack of a unique patient identifier (UPI).	Improve patient matching through expanded use of artificial intelligence (AI) while considering privacy and security concerns about AI algorithms, in order to accurately identify patients and locate at-risk individuals.      Increase alignment across federal, state, and local public health reporting requirements and guidance to support improved collection and consistency of demographic data.	Develop tactical recommendations based on ONC's forthcoming Patient Matching Report to Congress, including consideration of expanded use of Al and related privacy and security concerns as well as increased alignment of government public health reporting requirements and guidance.
		Longer-Term Oppor	rtunities
International exchange of clinical data for public health purposes	Currently, countries are imposing significant restrictions on the movement of people and goods to ensure public safety, in part due to a lack of information about the health status of travelers.	Share and apply lessons learned across many countries about the use of health IT to support public health, e.g., for electronic case reporting.	Identify opportunities and barriers for the use of health IT in support of compliance with international health regulations and international data exchange. Experts to be consulted could include the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), World Health Organization (WHO), Global Digital Health Partnership (GDHP), Department of Commerce, clinician representatives, and privacy and security experts.
Target Area: Interoperability			
Eychange of	Interoperability poods	Immediate Opport	
Exchange of health data more broadly across the care continuum	Interoperability needs to be increased across the broader care continuum.	Collection of more complete data about a patient will help clinicians identify risk factors for procedures, offer interventions, and provide targeted care. In particular, the Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force	Learn more about recent developments in standards and exchange in the areas of patient-reported outcomes (PROs), e.g., 2020 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) report, and SDOH data such as Health Level 7's (HL7®) Gravity project.

Topic	Key Gaps	Key Opportunities	Recommended HITAC Activities
Increased health equity	Data are not systematically	identified a need for specialty- specific minimum standards to enable closed loop referrals and data exchange between clinicians.  1. Advance requirements to collect and share data	<ol> <li>Identify and help improve data streams where interoperability is a challenge to sharing broader datasets, especially when a pandemic affects healthcare settings like long-term post-acute care (LTPAC) and any transitions to and from those settings. For example, various care and community settings would benefit from increased consensus on datasets for exchange with that setting.</li> <li>Leverage the current federally mandated assessment instruments as the basis for a shared, semantically interoperable dataset.</li> <li>Convene stakeholders, e.g., healthcare organizations, health IT developers, and patient advocacy groups, to discuss:</li> </ol>
across populations, locations, and situations	collected nor used to identify disparities in care, outcomes, and risk. Non-traditional sources of health data exist that have not yet been mined nor shared to support more equitable distribution of health resources.	about groups experiencing health inequities. This data can be used to support the implementation of culturally and linguistically appropriate health IT solutions.  2. Identify non-traditional sources of health information that could be made interoperable, e.g., primary care doctors receive updates electronically from organizations offering exercise classes for seniors, school clinics, or third-party wellness services.	<ul> <li>a. How to improve the collection and sharing of data that can support identifying and addressing disparities in healthcare, e.g., race codes.</li> <li>b. The current state of and potential improvements for the accessibility of consumer-facing health IT by diverse populations.</li> <li>c. Non-traditional sources of health information that could be made interoperable to better serve at-risk populations.</li> </ul>
Exchange of SDOH data	Business models across healthcare sectors do not yet support the capture and use of SDOH data due to a lack of standards and data availability, patient matching challenges, and varying levels of technical maturity of community service providers' IT systems.	Develop and adopt standards for SDOH data collection, transfer, and integration for population health and individuals' needs.	<ol> <li>Suggest updates on SDOH data to the ONC Patient Engagement Playbook.</li> <li>Convene a group of stakeholders from healthcare entities, payers, SDOH technology companies, community-based organizations, and standards development projects to understand the state of SDOH data exchange in practice and identify gaps and barriers.</li> <li>Suggest SDOH data elements for inclusion in the USCDI.</li> </ol>
Coordination of health IT standards to support interoperability: Priority Uses	The HITAC annual review and publication of priority uses of health IT and existing standards and implementation specifications related to the priority uses required by the Cures Act should be implemented.	Building on the prior work of the HITAC, establish an annual process for reviewing and publishing priority uses of health IT and related standards and implementation specifications.	Each year, review and publish priority uses of health IT and related standards and implementation specifications.

Topic	Key Gaps	Key Opportunities	Recommended HITAC Activities
Coordination of health IT standards to support interoperability: USCDI	HITAC members often make suggestions for additions to the USCDI, but currently must submit them to ONC as an individual.	A new system exists for individuals to submit suggestions to ONC for consideration for the USCDI, called ONDEC, but some suggestions would benefit from public discussion by the HITAC first.	As needed, collect and discuss suggestions for consideration for inclusion in the USCDI.
		Longer-Term Oppo	rtunities
Association between EHRs and patient safety	The use of health IT can impact patient safety.	Define factors that increase and decrease the safety of health IT that affects patient outcomes.	<ol> <li>Review changes that could be made to the Health IT         Certification Program to support improvements to EHRs         to support patient safety.</li> <li>Help further define patient safety and any gaps where         technology does not support that definition.</li> <li>Explore the use of health IT in automating the collection         and sharing of data about adverse events for drugs and         devices.</li> </ol>
Sharing data with the research community	Researchers are challenged by data quality and consistency concerns, limited governance structures and policies allowing access to the data, inconsistent implementations across technical architectures, and varying needs of individuals and organizations that create and use data.	Increase alignment between the clinical and research health information ecosystems to enable prospective and ongoing research to happen more quickly and effectively.	<ol> <li>Learn more about gaps in new and existing standards needed by the research community, which is accountable to institutional review boards (IRBs).</li> <li>Identify educational approaches that increase awareness and promote the implementation of the research priorities outlined in the National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda.</li> </ol>
Sharing data with the research community: Metadata	Many data management tasks are burdensome because they are manual and require human labor for reconciliation that could be automated.	Determine the type(s) of metadata and related standards necessary to facilitate machine-based, clinical data management, including management of exchanged data to reconcile data from multiple sources.	Identify needed metadata standards and potential additions to the USCDI.
Target Area: Priv	acy and Security		
Immediate Opportunities			
Beyond HIPAA: Rules for Sharing	Clear rules are lacking for data not subject to HIPAA protections.	Support increased transparency and patient education on business practices and other potential uses of patient health data when healthcare organizations share or license data to technology companies.	Define the roles, responsibilities, and operations of various technical actors in the app economy, building on work completed by a past FACA subcommittee. These technical actors include clinicians, developers, and patients.

Topic	Key Gaps	Key Opportunities	Recommended HITAC Activities
Beyond HIPAA: Patient Consent	A lack of clarity exists about the parameters for data sharing and disclosure, and their implications for consent.	In the near term, improve clarity around patient consent for research and exchange of their data, and further patient understanding of the accuracy and validity of clinical information offered by third-party applications (apps).	Suggest steps toward a consistent technical and operational approach to capturing and managing consent.
		Longer-Term Oppo	rtunities
Beyond HIPAA: Rules for Sharing	Clear rules are lacking for data not subject to HIPAA protections.	Support increased transparency and patient education on business practices and other potential uses of patient health data when healthcare organizations share or license data to technology companies.	<ol> <li>Learn more about HHS and Federal Trade Commission (FTC) activities, as well as security approaches of or any security lapses by third-party app developers.</li> <li>Explore patient and clinician experiences with the sharing of health data with third-party technology companies to continue to identify best practices and gaps.</li> <li>Review government and industry activities already underway protecting the privacy and security of health data shared with third-party technology companies.</li> </ol>
Beyond HIPAA: Patient Consent	A lack of clarity exists about the parameters for data sharing and disclosure, and their implications for consent.	Over time, improve clarity around patient consent for research and exchange of their data, and further patient understanding of the accuracy and validity of clinical information offered by third-party apps.	Identify educational approaches and potential regulatory solutions that offer improved transparency of privacy protections outside the purview of HIPAA.     Explore ways clinicians can educate patients about the benefits and potential risks of using third-party apps as contemplated by the ONC Cures Act Final Rule and about the need to review and comprehend the apps' privacy policies.
Beyond HIPAA: Internet of Things (IoT)	There is limited interoperability across IoT vendors. As IoT objects become more integrated with health IT systems, security risks increase. Additional concerns have been raised regarding the challenges of informed consent for users of IoT technologies.	Increase awareness of the privacy and security risks of using the IoT to collect health-related data.	<ol> <li>Identify best practices for increasing the privacy and security of health-related data collected from connected devices.</li> <li>Identify educational approaches that increase awareness of the privacy and security issues for health-related data collected from devices connected to the IoT and ways to reduce them.</li> </ol>
Privacy and security of synthetic data	HIPAA constraints limit the ability to conduct research and train machine learning models using large-scale datasets, in both research and healthcare settings.	Explore whether the use of synthetic health data raises privacy and security issues and, if so, to what extent.	Assess whether the use of synthetic data raises any unintended privacy risks, such as the ability to use AI to reidentify the actual patients on whom the synthetic health data are based.

Topic	Key Gaps	Key Opportunities	Recommended HITAC Activities
Target Area: Pat	ient Access to Informat	ion	
		Immediate Opport	unities
Safety and impact of mobile health applications	Existing concern about the clinical accuracy of mobile apps and the potential for patient harm is increasing.	Provide reliable information about the quality of apps to enable clinicians to advise patients about app use and to empower patients when using apps to make decisions about their care.	<ol> <li>Support the existing efforts of consortia that are working to vet apps based on their safety and accessibility and educate patients about the findings of the consortia. In particular, investigate if frameworks or scorecards for assessing apps exist or are being developed; if so, raise awareness of these efforts.</li> <li>Explore ways the safety of mobile health applications could be enhanced.</li> <li>Evaluate the impact of the use of apps (as opposed to the current portal systems) on patient challenges in collecting, accessing, using, and sharing their health data. Areas to consider include the efficacy, patient experience, and remaining challenges of the use of apps.</li> </ol>
Correction of incorrect clinical data and the ramifications of exchange of this data	Today, there is a limited ability to correct data that has already been exchanged. As a result, these incorrect data might persist and be further disseminated. Transparency about the accuracy of patient data and consent to share it are lacking for patients, which in turn affects patient safety.	Increase clarity on the applicable statutes and liability that apply to the exchange of incorrect data, and on methods for correction.	<ol> <li>Identify approaches that clinicians and HIEs are taking to correct incorrect data, including incentives for widespread correction.</li> <li>Discuss liability considerations related to exchanging and correcting incorrect data.</li> <li>Learn about organizational policies and mechanisms for patients to document change requests, and how data provenance of patient corrections is being tracked.</li> </ol>

# Illustrative Stories of What the Recommended HITAC Activities Will Enable

#### Target Area: Use of Technologies that Support Public Health

A patient who lives in a rural county underwent a nasal swab test for COVID-19 at a county-run public testing site and received a positive result while still at the site, which was also reported to the state public health agency. However, key demographic data were not collected for the patient so timely contact tracing and notification of proper quarantine conduct could not be undertaken. As a result of improved patient matching techniques, the state public health agency has begun investigating artificial intelligence-based solutions to improve its ability to conduct patient matching and to use other data sources to fill in missing demographic information to increase the precision of case reporting and subsequent vaccination programs.

#### **Target Area: Interoperability**

An academic medical center wants to use its clinical data for population health purposes and community outreach. It finds that it needs to capture more patient demographic data to be able to identify health disparities and implement community benefit programs. The academic medical center institutes a new process based on recommended best practices to collect standardized, patient-reported demographic data such as race, ethnicity, gender identity, and preferred language. Applying appropriate privacy protections, it then shares this data with social service organizations to improve care and outreach in its service area as well as with public health organizations and state agencies to support public health efforts.

# **Target Area: Privacy and Security**

Several of an internist's patients have asked her to accept some of the electronic data collected on their fitness trackers so that she can monitor their weight and activity levels as they start new exercise programs. She is hesitant at first because she is not familiar with the privacy and security risks of devices connected to the IoT and how these risks might compromise her EHR system. Luckily, best practices for developers have been identified to increase the privacy and security of health-related data collected from connected devices. Additionally, tools to increase awareness of the risks of connected devices have been made available to healthcare providers. As a result of outreach efforts, the internist accesses relevant guidelines and takes steps to reduce the privacy and security risks of receiving information from the IoT while more effectively partnering with her patients.

# **Target Area: Patient Access to Information**

As a result of public deliberation about improving the governance process, data correction requests from patients are addressed more quickly and seamlessly. For example, a patient notices in her patient portal that a medication dosage is listed incorrectly. Fortunately, she can easily report this error to her primary care provider using the portal. Once the provider verifies and corrects the error, the patient's entire care team is automatically notified of the change electronically, including specialists outside her network who use different EHRs. In this case, the correction was made widely within a week of the patient reporting the error rather than over several weeks, if at all. The medication dosage was listed correctly in her medical record the next time she had an appointment with one of her specialists, thereby avoiding the adverse event of a drug-drug interaction.

# **Foreword**

We are pleased to present the annual report of the Health Information Technology Advisory Committee (HITAC) for FY20.

This report describes the work undertaken by the HITAC during its third year. The HITAC was formed by the Cures Act and is governed by the Federal Advisory Committee Act. The HITAC is a federal advisory committee composed of members representing hospitals and health systems, healthcare providers, health information exchanges, insurers, health IT developers, universities, and federal agencies, as well as patients and consumers. Working together, HITAC members make recommendations about policies, standards, implementation specifications, and certification criteria to the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology within HHS.

In this report, the HITAC evaluates the health IT infrastructure landscape of the United States for gaps, opportunities, and recommendations. The committee focused its evaluation in four target areas: technologies that support public health, interoperability, privacy and security, and patient access to Information. In FY20, the HITAC published reports on priority uses of health IT and on the intersection of clinical and administrative data. The HITAC also transmitted recommendations on the USCDI Data Element Promotion Model. Several areas for future HITAC work were surfaced during the HITAC meetings in FY20, and robust discussion among the members yielded several areas for potential activity in FY21 and beyond.

We wish to acknowledge and appreciate all the hard work done by committee members and additional members of the public serving on the HITAC subcommittees, as well as by committee members participating in the deliberations of the committee as a whole. In addition, we thank the staff of ONC and the other federal agencies that support the HITAC.

It has been our privilege to serve as co-chairs for the HITAC from 2018 through 2020. The commitment and diverse expertise of the HITAC members have brought both energy and insight to this evaluation of the U.S. health IT infrastructure. We look forward to another busy year as we continue to identify and promote use of better information and technology to improve care delivery and the health and well-being of everyone in the United States.

Carolyn Petersen and Robert Wah
Co-Chairs, Health Information Technology Advisory Committee during FY20\*

\* Two new HITAC co-chairs began their terms on January 1, 2021: Aaron Miri and Denise Webb. However, this foreword was authored by the prior co-chairs, Carolyn Petersen and Robert Wah, who led the HITAC during its FY20 activities.

# Overview

#### LEGISLATIVE REQUIREMENTS

In December 2016, Congress passed the Cures Act, P.L. 114-255, with a bipartisan majority. The Cures Act created the HITAC, which is governed by the provisions of the Federal Advisory Committee Act (FACA), P.L. 92-463, as amended, 5 U.S.C. App. 2. The HITAC makes recommendations to the National Coordinator for Health IT about policies, standards, implementation specifications, and certification criteria relating to the implementation of a health IT infrastructure, nationally and locally, that advances the electronic access, exchange, and use of health information.

The Cures Act requires the HITAC to develop an Annual Report to be submitted to the Secretary of Health and Human Services and Congress each fiscal year (FY). The annual report must provide:

- Analysis of HITAC progress related to the target areas;
- Assessment of health IT infrastructure and advancements in the target areas;
- Analysis of existing gaps in policies and resources for the target areas; and
- Ideas for potential HITAC activities to address the identified gaps.

#### HITAC TARGET AREAS

Section 4003(e) of the Cures Act established the following priority target areas for the HITAC:

- Interoperability "Achieving a health information technology infrastructure, nationally and locally, that allows for the electronic access, exchange, and use of health information, including through technology that provides accurate patient information for the correct patient, including exchanging such information, and avoids the duplication of patient records."
- Privacy and Security "The promotion and protection of privacy and security of health information in health information technology, including technologies that allow for an accounting of disclosures and protections against disclosures of individually identifiable health information made by a covered entity for purposes of treatment, payment, and healthcare operations (as such terms are defined for purposes of the regulation promulgated under section 264(c) of HIPAA), including for the segmentation and protection from disclosure of specific and sensitive individually identifiable health information with the goal of minimizing the reluctance of patients to seek care."
- Patient Access to Information "The facilitation of secure access by an individual to such individual's protected health information and access to such information by a family member, caregiver, or guardian acting on behalf of a patient, including due to age-related and other disability, cognitive impairment, or dementia."
- Any other priority target area that the HITAC identifies as an appropriate target area to be considered. In FY20, the HITAC did not identify a need for additional priority target areas as defined in the Cures Act. The HITAC will revisit this consideration in the FY 2021 (FY21) annual report.

Section 4003(e) of the Cures Act established additional target areas for the HITAC, including the use of technologies that support public health.

# ONC OBJECTIVES AND BENCHMARKS

As required by the Cures Act, ONC established a set of objectives and benchmarks against which to measure the advancement of the priority target areas during FY19-FY20, outlined below.

# **ONC Objectives in FY19-20**

- 1. Advance the development and use of health IT capabilities
- 2. Establish expectations for data sharing

# **ONC Benchmarks in FY19-20**

ONC Activity	ONC Benchmark*	Progress in Meeting in FY19-20
Publish final rule covering secure, standards-based APIs for patients to access their medical records and information blocking exceptions.	Final rule published	<ul> <li>The ONC Cures Act Final Rule was published on May 2, 2020.</li> <li>The ONC Cures Act Interim Final Rule with Comment Period was published on November 4, 2020.</li> </ul>
Publish TEFCA to support exchange.	<ul> <li>RCE cooperative agreement awarded.</li> <li>Final Trusted Exchange Framework published.</li> <li>Draft Common Agreement made available for public comment.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>ONC awarded the cooperative agreement for the RCE on September 3, 2019.</li> <li>ONC published the first draft of Trusted Exchange Framework on January 5, 2018, and the second draft on April 19, 2019. The final version is expected to be published in FY21-22.</li> <li>The draft Common Agreement is expected to be made available for public comment in FY21-22.</li> </ul>
Coordinate health IT standards and certification to support interoperability.	<ul> <li>The HITAC final report on priority uses of health IT and associated standards and implementation specifications transmitted to the National Coordinator for Health IT.</li> <li>The HITAC recommendations on the USCDI Data Element Promotion Model transmitted to the National Coordinator for Health IT.</li> <li>HL7® published Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR®) Release 4 (R4), updated US Core Profiles for R4, and published a Bulk Data Access Implementation Guide.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The HITAC Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force addressed three Priority Use Cases (Orders &amp; Results, Closed Loop Referrals &amp; Care Coordination, and Medication &amp; Pharmacy Data) with detailed recommendations included in the final report transmitted to the National Coordinator on December 9, 2019</li> <li>The HITAC transmitted recommendations on the USCDI Data Element Promotion Model to the National Coordinator on December 9, 2019.</li> <li>HL7® published FHIR® R4, updated US Core Profiles for R4, and published a Bulk Data Access Implementation Guide in 2019.</li> </ul>

<sup>\*</sup> To date, ONC has defined the HITAC benchmarks as standalone measures rather than comparisons to an established industry standard of excellence. Infrastructure advancements compared to a baseline may be assessed in future annual reports.

# HITAC Progress in FY20

### **Summary of HITAC Subcommittee Meetings and Recommendations**

The Cures Act directs the HITAC to make recommendations to the National Coordinator for Health IT regarding policies, standards, implementation specifications, and certification criteria relating to the implementation of a health IT infrastructure, nationally and locally, that advance the electronic access, exchange, and use of health information.

# Overall Accomplishments in FY20

The HITAC's focus in FY20 was on developing interoperability standards priorities recommendations and evaluating the intersection of clinical and administrative data. The HITAC held nine public meetings of the full committee, including a special meeting on the COVID-19 pandemic response, and 45 public meetings of the task forces and workgroups. The HITAC delivered 52 recommendations to the National Coordinator for Health IT.

The charges and accomplishments of the subcommittees are as follows:

# **Annual Report Workgroup**

The Cures Act requires the HITAC to develop an annual report to be submitted to the Secretary of Health and Human Services and Congress each fiscal year. At the HITAC meeting on June 20, 2018, the HITAC formed the Annual Report Workgroup and charged it with the following:

- Overarching Charge: The workgroup will inform, contribute to, and review draft and final versions
  of the HITAC Annual Report to be submitted to the Secretary of Health and Human Services and
  to Congress each fiscal year. As part of that report, the workgroup will help track ongoing HITAC
  progress.
- Specific Charge:
  - 1) Analysis of HITAC progress related to the target areas
  - 2) Assessment of health IT infrastructure and advancements in the target areas
  - 3) Analysis of existing gaps in policies and resources for the target areas
  - 4) Ideas for potential HITAC activities to address the gaps

#### Accomplishments in FY20

The Annual Report Workgroup held 11 public meetings in FY20 to develop its recommendations. The HITAC approved the HITAC Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2019 for submission to the National Coordinator for Health IT in February 2020 and subsequent transmittal to the Secretary of Health and Human Services and Congress. The HITAC Annual Report reviewed HITAC activities in FY19, described the landscape of health IT infrastructure, identified gaps and opportunities, and offered recommendations for future HITAC activities.

#### **Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force**

The Cures Act requires the HITAC to set priorities for standards adoption. At the HITAC meeting on June 20, 2018, ONC charged the HITAC with providing recommendations to the National Coordinator on standards priorities. The HITAC then formed the Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force and charged the Task Force with the following:

- Overarching Charge: To make recommendations on priority uses of health information technology and the associated standards and implementation specifications that support such uses.
- Specific Charge:
  - 1) Make recommendations on the following:
    - a. Priority uses of health IT (consistent with the Cures Act's identified priorities)
    - b. The standards and implementation specifications that best support or may need to be developed for each identified priority
    - c. Subsequent steps for industry and government action
  - 2) Publish a report summarizing its findings

#### Accomplishments in FY20

The Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force held three public meetings in FY20. The HITAC approved and transmitted <u>42 recommendations</u> to the National Coordinator for Health IT in October 2019.

The Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force report summarizes the activities of the Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force, describing priorities, recommendations, and suggested policy actions for ONC consideration. It covers three priority use cases: (1) Orders and Results, (2) Closed Loop Referrals and Care Coordination, and (3) Medication and Pharmacy Data. Recommendations include those that cross domains and those that focus on the three priority use cases.

For each of the priority use cases, the report includes a patient story that illustrates how the recommendations, if adopted, could improve health and healthcare. Tier 1 issues, along with observations, recommendations, and potential policy levers, are the top priority issues the HITAC recommends addressing. Tier 2 issues, along with observations, recommendations, and potential policy levers, are also important issues in the view of the HITAC, but with less urgency compared to the Tier 1 issues. The policy levers expounded on the report apply to ONC as well as other federal agencies, such as CMS and the FDA.

The Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force identified additional use cases of interest that it did not explore in detail in the report: (1) evidence-based care for common chronic conditions, (2) SDOH, and (3) cost and price transparency beyond medications. Its role is unique in the evolution of interoperability standards by applying a review of current-state standards to pressing clinical issues and processes. The Task Force identified gaps in standards and implementation of standards needed to support advances in the Task Force's priority use cases.

#### Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data Task Force

At the HITAC meeting on January 15, 2020, ONC charged the HITAC with providing recommendations on the convergence of clinical and administrative data. The HITAC then formed the Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data Task Force and charged it with the following:

#### Overarching Charge:

- O Produce information and considerations related to the merging of clinical and administrative data, its transport structures, rules, and protections, for electronic prior authorizations to support work underway, or yet to be initiated, to achieve the vision.
- Leverage existing information from HITAC and National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics (NCVHS) prior authorization hearings, and other sources, to inform the Task Force's information acquisition and analysis efforts.

# Specific Charge:

- 1) Design and conduct research on emerging industry innovations to:
  - a. Validate and extend landscape analysis and opportunities
  - b. Invite industry to present both established and emerging end-to-end solutions for accomplishing medical and pharmacy priority authorizations (PAs) that support effective care delivery, reduce burden, and promote efficiencies
- Identify patient and process-focused solutions that remove roadblocks to efficient medical and pharmacy electronic prior authorization and promote clinical and administrative data and standards convergence
- 3) Produce Task Force recommendations and related convergence roadmap considerations for submission to the HITAC for its consideration and action. The Task Force will share deliverables with NCVHS to inform its convergence and PA activities
- 4) Make public a summary of its findings once task force activities are complete, no later than September 2020

#### Accomplishments in FY20

The Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data Task Force held 30 public meetings in FY20. It brought draft recommendations to the HITAC in September 2020 and final recommendations in November 2020. The HITAC approved and transmitted the <a href="15">15</a> recommendations to the National Coordinator for Health IT in November 2020.

The Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data Task Force report provides an analysis of the current prior authorization landscape, identifying standards alignment, capability, and adoption status, and provides commentary on the major applicable standards —X12, NCPDP, HL7®, and SMART® on FHIR®. The Task Force developed an ideal state vision of prior authorization based on an integrated workflow for prior authorization. The Task Force then developed guiding principles to ensure its recommendations address the current gaps and advance the ecosystem towards the envisioned ideal state as well as fostering the intersection of administrative and clinical frameworks.

The Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data Task Force then developed its 15 recommendations for achieving data integration. The recommendations identify the specific areas in which resources and energies must be focused to bring about the desired ideal state. The recommendations describe the needed actions without prescribing how they should be undertaken. Federal leadership and broad participation and coordination will be needed to clarify and carry out the details needed to accomplish each one.

#### **U.S. Core Data for Interoperability Task Force**

At the HITAC meeting on February 20, 2019, ONC charged the HITAC with developing recommendations to inform the development of the ONC Cures Act Final Rule. The HITAC then formed the U.S. Core Data for Interoperability Task Force and charged it with the following:

- Overarching Charge for Phase 1: Review the newly specified data elements proposed in USCDI v1.
- Specific Charge: Provide recommendations on the following:
  - 1) Inclusion of Provenance Data Elements
  - 2) Inclusion of Clinical Notes Data Elements
  - 3) Inclusion of Pediatric Vital Signs Data Elements
  - 4) Inclusion of Address and Phone Number Data Elements
  - 5) Missing Data Elements within the Data Classes
- Overarching Charge for Phase 2: Provide recommendations for the USCDI Data Element Promotion Model.
- Specific Charge: Provide recommendations on the following:
  - 1) Promotion Model Lifecycle for Submitted Data Elements
  - 2) Data Element Submission Information
  - 3) Data Element Promotion Criteria

#### Accomplishments in FY20

The U.S. Core Data for Interoperability Task Force focused on the overarching charge for Phase 2 in FY20. It held one meeting in FY20 to review final edits to its Phase 2 recommendations. The HITAC approved and transmitted 10 recommendations to the National Coordinator for Health IT in October 2019.

The recommendations focus on: (1) promotion model lifecycle for submitted data elements (Promotion Model), (2) data element submission information, and (3) data element promotion criteria. The U.S. Core Data for Interoperability Task Force was given the supplemental charge to discuss additional defining criteria as needed. As a result, it identified the need to provide details to ONC's Draft USCDI Data Element Promotion Model from the user's perspective. The recommendations describe the three focus areas, along with the HITAC's role in the USCDI promotion process.

The U.S. Core Data for Interoperability Task Force recommends shortening the timeline for the Promotion Model because feedback was in favor of a more rapid process. Additionally, the Task Force recommends an annual review of the overall USCDI process and the creation of a users' guide for data element submission and advancement. The remaining recommendations focus on the details of the Promotion Model and provide concrete actions to operationalize the process.

# Health IT Infrastructure Landscape Analysis

### FEDERAL ACTIVITIES ACROSS THE TARGET AREAS

#### Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT

ONC's key responsibilities include formulating the federal government's health IT strategy and promoting coordination of federal health IT policies, technology standards, and programmatic investments. ONC helps coordinate health IT initiatives across HHS's programs and other relevant executive branch agencies to avoid duplication of effort and to ensure that each agency undertakes activities primarily within the areas of its greatest expertise and technical capability. This section describes the health IT activities advanced by various agencies of the federal government during FY20. Certain key federal activities that the HITAC considered to be cross-cutting across the target areas have been included in this section. It does not encompass all relevant federal activities conducted throughout FY20; some of them are addressed within the target area sections throughout this report.

# ONC's Regulation for the 21st Century Cures Act

On May 1, 2020, the ONC Cures Act Final Rule was published in the Federal Register. The ONC Cures Act Final Rule implements provisions in Title IV of the Cures Act. The ONC Cures Act Final Rule promotes patient access to their electronic health information (EHI), supports clinicians' needs, advances innovation, and addresses industry-wide information blocking practices. ONC received more than 2,000 comment submissions on the proposed rule, including those from the HITAC. These comments informed the ONC Cures Act Final Rule. Considering the additional burdens on clinicians, health systems, and health IT developers from the COVID-19 pandemic, ONC announced that it will exercise its discretion in enforcing certain new requirements under the ONC Cures Act Final Rule that have compliance dates and timeframes until three months after each initial compliance date or timeline.¹ On November 4, 2020, the Information Blocking and the ONC Health IT Certification Program: Extension of Compliance Dates and Timeframes in Response to the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency Interim Final Rule was published in the Federal Register. In the rule, ONC extended the applicability and compliance dates of some provisions in the ONC Cures Act Final Rule to give the health information ecosystem additional flexibility and time to effectively respond to the COVID-19 pandemic.²

The following sections summarize key provisions of the ONC Cures Act Final Rule for which the HITAC provided recommendations to ONC.

#### Information Blocking

The Cures Act prohibits information blocking and authorizes the Secretary of Health and Human Services to identify reasonable and necessary activities that do not constitute information blocking. In the ONC Cures Act Final Rule, ONC identified eight exceptions for reasonable and necessary activities that do not constitute information blocking, provided certain conditions are met. If the actions of a regulated actor (health care provider, health IT developer of certified health IT, HIE, or HIN) satisfy one or more exceptions, the actions would not be treated as information blocking and the actor would not be subject to civil monetary penalties or other disincentives under the law.

In response to public comments, the ONC Cures Act Final Rule encourages regulated actors to provide accurate, objective, unbiased, fair, and non-discriminatory information to patients related to the privacy practices of third-party apps to help patients select trusted apps. However, regulated actors may not prevent patients from sharing their data with a particular app.

#### Revised and New Certification Criteria, and Conditions and Maintenance of Certification

ONC finalized additions and changes to the ONC Health IT Certification Program to implement provisions of the Cures Act. ONC added Conditions and Maintenance of Certification requirements for health IT developers and voluntary certification of health IT for use by pediatricians. ONC finalized a small number of new certification criteria, revised several existing certification criteria, and removed a few certification criteria. These changes constitute the "2015 Edition Cures Update."

More specifically, ONC finalized Conditions and Maintenance of Certification requirements that outline initial and ongoing requirements for health IT developers and their certified Health IT Modules related to: (1) information blocking; (2) assurances; (3) communications; (4) APIs; (5) real-world testing; and (6) attestations. ONC finalized an oversight and enforcement approach to encourage consistent compliance with the requirements, including a corrective action process for ONC to apply when there are potential or known instances where a health IT developer is not meeting a Condition or Maintenance of Certification. The Conditions and Maintenance of Certification can cover both the actions of the developer that offers a certified product and the actual certified product. For example, this means that if a health IT developer with multiple products has at least one product certified to at least one criterion, the developer must not take any action that constitutes information blocking, and must provide assurances satisfactory to the Secretary that the developer will not take any action that constitutes information blocking with respect to any of its products.

#### **Application Programming Interfaces**

The Cures Act calls on health IT developers to publish APIs and allow health information to be accessed, exchanged, and used without special effort through the use of APIs or successor technology or standards, as provided for under applicable law. ONC finalized provisions implementing this requirement to support patients' ability to securely and seamlessly access, exchange, and use their EHI via internet-enabled devices (such as smartphone apps).

Furthermore, ONC finalized certification requirements that will improve interoperability by focusing on standardized, transparent, and pro-competitive API practices that allow for real-time access to EHI. For instance, ONC adopted HL7® FHIR® Release 4.0.1 and a set of implementation specifications that provide known technical requirements against which third-party apps can be developed. The certified API technology must support read access for both a single patient and a population of patients. ONC also set parameters for what fees are allowable and to whom those fees can be charged with respect to certified API technology. These requirements will further support the access, exchange, and use of EHI by patients and clinicians.

#### United States Core Data for Interoperability

To advance interoperability and support the move towards value-based care, ONC replaced the Common Clinical Data Set (CCDS) referred to in the 2015 Edition Health IT Certification Criteria (2015 Edition) with the broader dataset of the USCDI. The USCDI establishes a set of data classes and constituent data elements required to be exchanged in support of interoperability nationwide. These

classes and elements will be required to be available in certain certified Health IT Modules. The USCDI includes all the information required in the CCDS in addition to new required data classes and data elements. This change will increase the minimum baseline of data that must be commonly available for interoperable exchange. Over time, the USCDI will be updated through a predictable, transparent, and collaborative process that allows stakeholders the opportunity to comment on its expansion.

#### Trusted Exchange Framework and Common Agreement

The Cures Act requires ONC to develop or support a trusted exchange framework (TEF), including a common agreement among HINs nationally. The Common Agreement is intended to provide a single "on-ramp" to nationwide connectivity while advancing a landscape where health information securely follows the patient when and where it is needed. As of December 2020, the Recognized Coordinating Entity (RCE), The Sequoia Project, held more than 30 public stakeholder engagement calls to provide status updates and to gather feedback to inform the development of the draft Common Agreement and the Qualified Health Information Network (QHIN) Technical Framework, which outlines the technical requirements that QHINs must use to exchange data with one another. ONC and the RCE are working together to develop the draft Common Agreement and QHIN Technical Framework that will be released for public comment. ONC is committed to continuing to work with the RCE and has awarded an additional approximately \$1.1 million for the second year of its activities.<sup>3</sup>

#### 2020-2025 Federal Health IT Strategic Plan

ONC, in collaboration with more than 25 federal agencies, released the Strategic Plan for public comment in January 2020. The Strategic Plan outlines how the federal government intends to use health IT to: (1) promote health and wellness; (2) enhance the delivery and experience of care; (3) build a secure, data-driven culture to accelerate research and innovation; and (4) connect healthcare and health data through an interoperable health IT infrastructure.<sup>4</sup> ONC received more than 90 comments on the Strategic Plan.<sup>5</sup> ONC released the final Strategic Plan on October 30, 2020.<sup>6</sup>

#### Clinician Burden Reduction

ONC, in partnership with CMS, released a final comprehensive strategy to reduce the regulatory and administrative burden that clinicians experience relative to the use of health IT and EHRs, as required by the Cures Act.<sup>7</sup> ONC and CMS revised the strategy based on 208 public comments. The strategy includes recommendations to reduce clinicians' time and effort needed to document information in EHRs and meet EHR-related regulatory reporting requirements, increase the standardization of public health reporting, and improve the usability of health IT.<sup>8</sup>

#### ONC Research Agenda

ONC released the National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda (Research Agenda), summarizing its plans to advance the use of health IT in research from 2020 to 2025. The Research Agenda outlines two overarching goals: (1) leveraging high-quality electronic health data for research; and (2) advancing a health IT infrastructure to support research. It also includes strategies to advance nine priorities within the two goals.<sup>9</sup>

#### **ONC Precision Medicine Standards and Pilot Initiatives**

ONC is leading multiple-precision medicine-related pilot efforts to test out data standards related to genomics and SDOH. The genomic pilot sites are part of the Sync for Genes project, which is designed to pilot test and demonstrate how genomic data can be used at the point of care and for research. The genomic pilot sites tested exchanging data for newborn screening, cancer treatment, pharmacogenomics, and bone marrow matching between genomic labs, healthcare entities, researchers, and patients. <sup>10</sup> The SDOH pilot sites are focused on leveraging digital tools and questionnaires to advance the standardized collection of SDOH data. <sup>11</sup>

#### **Other Federal Activities**

#### CMS's Interoperability Rule

CMS's Interoperability and Patient Access Final Rule (hereafter, referred to as the CMS Interoperability Rule) was published in the Federal Register on May 1, 2020, introducing new policies that will expand patients' access to health information and improve the seamless exchange of data in healthcare. The CMS Interoperability Rule requires certain Medicare, Medicaid, Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP), and Qualified Health Plans on the Federally Facilitated Insurance Exchanges to:

- Give patients easy access to their health information via FHIR®-based APIs. The API must
  provide access to claims, encounter information, and a sub-set of clinical information and
  allow the patient to send the data to any third-party app of his or her choosing.
- Exchange patient clinical data with another payer at the patients' request, allowing patients
  to take their information with them as they move from payer to payer over time to help
  create a longitudinal health record with patients' current payer.

The final rule also requires hospitals to send electronic notifications of a patient's admission, discharge, or transfer to another healthcare facility or community clinician.

#### **Price Transparency**

Incorporating information on healthcare costs in discussions with patients can inform and facilitate shared decision-making processes to establish treatment plans. <sup>12</sup> In November 2019, CMS finalized price transparency requirements effective January 1, 2021, that mandate hospitals to establish, update, and make public a yearly list of the hospital's standard charges (including gross charges, discounted cash prices, payer-specific negotiated charges, and de-identified minimum and maximum negotiated charges) for items and services provided by the hospital. <sup>13</sup> Building on this requirement, in May 2020, CMS issued a proposal to collect hospitals' median payer-specific negotiated inpatient services charges for Medicare Advantage organizations and third-party payers. CMS also requested information regarding the potential use of these data to set relative Medicare payment rates for hospital procedures. <sup>14</sup> In November 2020, CMS, the Department of Labor, and the Department of the Treasury finalized a rule that requires most health plans to give patients access to real-time prices so that patients can know what their healthcare will cost before going in for treatment. <sup>15</sup>

# Department of Veterans Affairs and Department of Defense Data Exchange

In April 2020, the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and the Department of Defense (DoD) launched a joint HIE capability through the eHealth Exchange, a nationwide HIE network that provides a single point for bidirectional exchange between community clinicians and the departments. The joint HIE capability allows for patients to opt out and will serve as the basis for future interoperability initiatives of the departments, including connecting to the CommonWell Health Alliance.<sup>16</sup>

#### HHS Office for Civil Rights Patient Right of Access Enforcement

In 2019, the Office for Civil Rights (OCR) launched an initiative to vigorously enforce the HIPAA Privacy Rule provision for the right of patients to access their medical records promptly, without being overcharged, and in the readily producible format of their choice. As of October 9, 2020, OCR has resolved nine cases with healthcare entities by entering into settlement agreements that require the entities to pay a monetary settlement, implement a corrective action plan, and face monitoring by OCR for at least a year.<sup>17</sup>

# Health IT Certification Violations Enforcement by the Department of Justice and HHS Office of Inspector General

In recent years, the federal government has increased its focus on health IT certification and financial relationships in enforcement actions. The Department of Justice (DOJ) and HHS Office of Inspector General (OIG) have reached settlement agreements with several health IT developers based on falsely obtained ONC Health IT Certification Program certifications. The health IT developers concealed from their ONC-Authorized Certification Body (ONC-ACB) that the health IT module did not comply with all the applicable requirements to be certified. In addition, one health IT developer engaged in a kickback scheme with an opioid company by implementing a clinical decision support (CDS) tool in a manner that influenced opioid prescriptions. In

#### National Institutes of Health All of Us Research Program

The National Institutes of Health's All of Us Research Program consists of a longitudinal national research cohort of one million or more U.S. volunteers from which clinical, environmental, genetic, and behavioral data will be collected to enable precision medicine. The All of Us Research Program is focused on collecting data from multiple sources, including EHRs and mobile health technology.<sup>20</sup> Through October 2020, more than 359,000 people have completed the consent process and more than 271,000 participants have completed the initial steps of the program.<sup>21</sup>

#### National Institutes of Health and Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Standards Support

NIH and the AHRQ are promoting the use of FHIR® in their funded research projects.<sup>22,23</sup> NIH-supported researchers are encouraged to adopt and use the USCDI to improve the interoperable exchange of clinical and research data.<sup>24</sup>

# U.S. Food and Drug Administration

In September 2019, the FDA released its Technology Modernization Action Plan (TMAP). The TMAP describes important near-term actions that the FDA is taking to modernize the use of technology—computer hardware, software, data, and analytics—to advance its public health mission. The TMAP outlines three strategies to achieve this goal: (1) modernization of the FDA's technical infrastructure; (2) enhancing the

FDA's capabilities to develop technology products to support its regulatory mission; and (3) communication and collaboration with stakeholders to drive technological progress that is interoperable across the system and delivers value to patients. The TMAP is aimed at preparing the FDA to harness the ever-increasing amount of data, from both real-world evidence and clinical trials, to assist it in responding to novel technology reviews and a rapidly increasing workload.<sup>25</sup> In addition, the FDA launched the Digital Health Center of Excellence (DHCoE) in September 2020. The DHCoE is focused on aligning and coordinating digital health work across the FDA and will serve as a centralized resource for digital health technologies and policy.<sup>26</sup>

#### Federal Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic

The federal government mounted a widespread response to the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, to highlight and share best practices across the health IT industry to advance interoperability for the COVID-19 pandemic response, ONC is using the Interoperability Proving Ground to collect information on relevant industry projects. There have been many projects submitted from academic institutions and industry stakeholders across the country.<sup>27</sup>

ONC conceptualized the Patient Unified Lookup System for Emergencies (PULSE) to enable health information exchange during declared disasters or public health emergencies. PULSE-COVID, a new iteration of this concept, was developed through a public-private partnership. This allows verified users, e.g., public health authorities and clinicians, to find and view electronic patient health and medication histories from across nationwide HIE networks. With a simple search on PULSE-COVID, users can access and view clinical care documents including medications, allergies, diagnoses, lab results, and other relevant information to augment clinical care, identify patient comorbidities, and fill in gaps related to patient health or demographic characteristics. Users can also utilize PULSE-COVID to access clinical histories for patients in non-routine care settings such as quarantine centers and other alternate care sites. PULSE-COVID has been successfully deployed in five states.

Furthermore, OCR has issued multiple bulletins, notifications of enforcement discretion, guidance, and resources to explain how patient health information may be used and disclosed during the COVID-19 pandemic response. Notable guidance specific to health IT includes: (1) enforcement discretion for telehealth remote communications during the public health emergency; (2) enforcement discretion to allow uses and disclosures of protected health information (PHI) by business associates for public health and health oversight activities during the public health emergency; and (3) guidance on how covered entities may disclose PHI about an individual who has been infected with or exposed to COVID-19 to law enforcement, paramedics, other first responders, and public health authorities.<sup>28,29</sup>

As mentioned above, additional discussions of federal activities are detailed within the target area and topics below.

# TARGET AREA: USE OF TECHNOLOGIES THAT SUPPORT PUBLIC HEALTH

#### **Background**

Public health focuses on protecting and improving health at a population level rather than one person at a time. All states and territories require clinicians to report specific diseases and conditions to public health agencies through various public health surveillance and information systems.<sup>30</sup> Clinicians use EHR and health information exchange functions for required reporting to public health agencies. Public health agencies depend upon receiving data from clinicians through these systems. This helps public health agencies measure the prevalence and incidence of diseases, maintain high immunization coverage rates, manage outbreak investigations, and plan for and respond to public health emergencies.

The COVID-19 pandemic that emerged in early 2020 has cast light on the importance of health IT in disaster response and public health emergencies, and exposed room for improvement. Moreover, the pandemic has increased the urgency of addressing gaps within the public health infrastructure. The HITAC convened a listening session to better understand the limitations of health IT with regard to public health and, as such, this topic is included in the HITAC Annual Report for FY20. This section will examine the intersection of health IT and the public health and clinical response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### **Current State**

#### Bidirectional Exchange of Clinical and Administrative Data for Public Health Purposes

The bidirectional exchange of clinical and administrative data between clinicians providing patient care and public health entities is essential to better understand and combat a public health emergency, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Diagnostic Code Value Sets

As COVID-19 cases began to increase in the United States, a need arose to have standardized diagnostic coding for patients with the virus. The use of diagnostic code sets such as the 10<sup>th</sup> Revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10) makes syndromic surveillance possible across a state or region of the country. In January 2020, the WHO met to establish a new diagnostic code for COVID-19, U07.1. Initially, the CDC directed clinicians in the United States to code using a grouping of diagnostic codes that describe a patient's symptoms; however, the CDC acted quickly to adopt the WHO diagnostic code into the ICD-10 value sets for standardized use. This rapid, off-cycle addition of a new diagnostic code is unprecedented.<sup>31</sup> Although the CDC implemented this code rapidly, there has been slow adoption in using this diagnostic code for clinical documentation.<sup>32</sup> As COVID-19 vaccines become readily available, distinct ICD-10 and Current Procedural Terminology (CPT®) codes have been established for the COVID-19 vaccines authorized for emergency use by the FDA to allow for tracking and reporting. The level of specificity for these codes, which describe both the manufacturer and the specific dose, has not been previously established for other vaccine codes.<sup>33,34</sup> However, widespread implementation of the new vaccine administration codes may take some time.

#### **Public Health Reporting**

For federal and state public health officials to be able to accurately categorize the breadth of COVID-19 infection, robust reporting is essential. Federal reporting requirements on COVID-19 testing, patient impacts, and hospital capacity are based on manual push reporting.<sup>35</sup> Additionally, CMS published an interim final rule requiring hospitals, critical access hospitals, and CMS-certified long-term care facilities to report COVID-19 metrics at least once every seven days.<sup>36</sup>,<sup>37</sup> However, there is a paucity of data standards to allow for standardized electronic reporting from EHRs directly to public health or government officials. Hospitals have experienced a significant burden in reporting this data in a timely and accurate manner.<sup>38</sup>

Realizing the gravity of this problem, a group of diverse industry stakeholders organized a coalition called The SANER Project to develop a FHIR® resource to report such metrics. This effort is focused on improving state and federal response operations through real-time situational awareness of the healthcare delivery system. Healthcare facilities and government response authorities can leverage the standards developed through the SANER Project to collect data that is critical for controlling the spread of COVID-19 and managing limited healthcare resources across the country. These data include the number and status of specific hospital bed types, number of ventilators, and availability of staffing and other critical supplies.<sup>39</sup>

#### Information Exchange

The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated the need for robust data exchange and interoperability within the healthcare field. There is a wide spectrum of reporting capabilities across the country, from the rollout of electronic case reporting to persistent manual data exchange. HIEs have deployed innovative technologies to inform state and local authorities on trends in biosurveillance and hospital usage. By nature, HIEs are well-connected to gather near-real-time data such as positive lab tests, hospital admission information, co-morbidities, and length of stay information. These capabilities have been integral in gathering data that is not available through the existing public health reporting infrastructure. There example, Indiana Health Information Exchange, Delaware Health Information Network, and Nebraska Health Information Initiative have been sending enriched data and daily alerts of positive and negative COVID-19 tests to public health agencies and hospitals.

#### Privacy and Security for Public Health Purposes

Although a federal or state public health emergency declaration allows for more flexibility in information exchange, ensuring privacy and security for patients' health information is also of importance.

# Minimum Necessary Datasets for Public Health Allowable Use

When sharing information, the HIPAA Privacy Rule requires covered entities and their business associates to limit the disclosure of PHI to the minimum amount necessary to accomplish the intended purpose. During the COVID-19 public health emergency, public health authorities began to experience roadblocks when trying to access clinical data for case investigations and contact tracing because information disclosed from covered entities was not standardized and did not meet their robust data needs. Policy and legal guidance have been issued by state and local governments to define what the HIPAA "minimum necessary" dataset is for public health authorities using PHI. However, no additional guidance on the topic has been issued by OCR. Many states or cities have designated that a Continuity of Care Document or its equivalent may qualify as the minimum data necessary. In

December 2020, OCR issued guidance clarifying when a covered entity can rely on the representation from a public health agency that its request for data is the minimum necessary.<sup>45</sup>

#### Novel Biosurveillance Technologies

There is an urgent need to be able to conduct nationwide surveillance and contact tracing of COVID-19 cases. To supplement traditional contact tracing strategies, various IT companies have proposed solutions using cell phone location data and mobile apps to enable exposure notifications. In April 2020, Google and Apple launched a collaborative tool for individuals and state public health agencies to support exposure location using Bluetooth technology. Apple and Google have also developed a tool that allows state jurisdictions to rapidly build an app from a standardized template. Exposure notification apps notify users when they have been in the same geographical location in the past 14 days as another user who has reported a positive COVID-19 test; however, the app's success depends upon adoption rates and voluntary reporting of results. Additionally, various employers have adopted mobile app tools that harness employee data, such as COVID-19 test results, to facilitate a return to office work.

These technologies have raised privacy and security concerns. These apps, which may be required by employers, are typically not subject to HIPAA protections. Employees, state public health authorities, and other stakeholders have voiced concerns over how these companies will handle and store the data long-term and will restrict data usage for unrelated activities. <sup>48, 49</sup> Although multiple states have incorporated similar digital technologies into their public health response strategies, adoption has not been widespread. <sup>50,51</sup>

#### Telehealth

The COVID-19 pandemic led to widespread temporary closures of outpatient clinical offices and heightened risk for non-COVID-19-related care in hospitals. In response, the federal government provided flexibility to encourage the use of telehealth. CMS relaxed several requirements pertaining to telehealth and expanded reimbursement for telehealth, with commercial insurers following suit, to rapidly adapt to the conditions imposed on the healthcare system. 52 Because many clinicians were not well-equipped for a remote modality of patient care, the Federal Communications Commission (FCC) provided funding for telehealth infrastructure. The Health Resources & Services Administration (HRSA), with support from ONC, has continued to offer technical assistance for telehealth.<sup>53</sup> The relaxed CMS regulations on telehealth, along with the need to limit in-person contact, created strong demand for telehealth visits during the spring of 2020. Estimates showed that the number of telehealth visits rose rapidly through mid-April but then leveled, and even slightly declined as states began to relax stay-athome orders in May 2020.54 CMS estimated that from mid-March 2020 to July 2020, more than 9 million beneficiaries used telehealth in traditional Medicare, an increase of more than 5,000 percent from the prior three months. Of those 9 million beneficiaries, 5.8 million used telehealth for a common office visit.55 Furthermore, there were more than 34.5 million services provided via telehealth to Medicaid beneficiaries between March and June 2020.56

This change in practice has shown early success in the provision of care for patients who would otherwise have had to delay care in the pandemic. As a result, there have been calls from many stakeholder groups to make these reforms long-term changes.<sup>57</sup> In the 2021 Physician Fee Schedule, CMS extended many of the telehealth policies previously introduced under Medicare as part of the response to the pandemic. In the 2021 Physician Fee Schedule, CMS extended many of the telehealth policies previously introduced under Medicare as part of the response to the pandemic.<sup>58</sup>

CMS also issued a proposed rule on June 30, 2020, and a final rule on November 4, 2020, to permanently expand telehealth flexibility for home healthcare services. <sup>59</sup> Furthermore, with the regulatory support for telehealth, EHR vendors are launching new tools and services that allow clinicians to conduct video visits while updating clinical documentation and reviewing patient histories in the EHR workflow. <sup>60</sup> Although the regulatory support and financial incentives have helped spur the adoption of telehealth, clinicians and patients still needed to learn how to use this technology to successfully adapt to a new paradigm of care. Many professional medical associations began to share educational resources for clinicians to ensure that they were successful in using telehealth. Furthermore, health systems that have implemented telehealth services have had to consider diverse technological capabilities and access among their patients. <sup>61</sup>

#### Vaccine Tracking

Vaccine tracking is a common practice during a communicable disease outbreak. The administration of multi-dose vaccines requires mechanisms to track and match individual patients across doses as well as the supply and administration of COVID-19 vaccines throughout the country.<sup>62</sup> The CDC has developed the Vaccine Administration Management System (VAMS) to support data collection for the COVID-19 vaccine.<sup>63</sup> In addition, the Immunization Gateway sponsored by the CDC is working to simplify the sharing of vaccine information across states for providers already connected to existing immunization information systems and to the CDC.

States are using diverse, existing immunization information systems to track this information. However, the magnitude of the COVID-19 pandemic is greater than other recent outbreaks and is straining these systems.<sup>64</sup> Each state manages the rollout of its own vaccine administration, resulting in widespread use of disparate IT systems to handle each step in the process, such as registration, scheduling, inventory management, and clinical records. The standardization of data elements collected by each IT system in a state may not be uniform across other systems in the state or nationwide.<sup>65</sup> In addition, while the majority of state immunization information systems (IIS) can share data bidirectionally, some lack the capacity for returning data to clinical information systems for tracking the delivery of immunizations to targeted groups of patients as part of population health strategies.

#### Patient Matching for Public Health Purposes

The ability to complete patient matching efficiently, accurately, and at scale has long been identified as key to the success of the nation's health IT infrastructure. Frecise patient matching is essential to protecting patient privacy and ensuring patient safety. Accurate patient matching rates vary widely across healthcare organizations and are difficult to compare because organizations may calculate rates differently. Patient matching has become a prominent issue during the COVID-19 pandemic. Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, incomplete or missing demographic information from lab reports was widespread. This missing data complicated aggregate analysis and contact tracing efforts. State public health agencies often needed to take additional measures to use patient matching technologies to confirm patient identities, leading to delayed contact tracing outreach. In June 2020, HHS released guidance that outlined required data elements for all lab tests conducted. These data elements include demographic information such as the patient's address, phone number, sex, race, and ethnicity. These data elements support the application of advanced technologies for patient matching.

Complementary to the patient matching work during the COVID-19 pandemic, the 2020 appropriations bill explanatory statement requires ONC to provide a report to Congress that outlines the current technological and operations methods that improve the identification of patients.<sup>69</sup> To support this work, ONC conducted two working sessions in the summer of 2020. The first, held on June 1, 2020, discussed the current challenges with patient matching, the promise and potential implementation of a UPI, and privacy and security concerns.<sup>70</sup> The second session held on August 31, 2020, focused on privacy and security, research and evaluation, standards, and innovation.<sup>71</sup>

#### International Exchange of Clinical Data for Public Health Purposes

With the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, countries began imposing significant restrictions on travel to ensure public safety and control the spread of COVID-19.<sup>72</sup> Many implemented screening protocols and information collection at their airports; however, there has been inconsistent implementation across the globe. As countries plan their strategies to be able to safely reopen their borders to visitors, the ability to understand the potential for COVID-19 exposure will be paramount. At present, there is minimal health data exchange internationally and each country has a unique standard for documentation.<sup>73</sup> The Commons Project Foundation, a non-profit that creates public data trusts, created a joint project with The World Economic Forum to address this issue. The project, called CommonPass, aims to provide travelers with a secure and verifiable way to document their health status as they travel and cross borders.<sup>74</sup> As the world prepares to tackle other public health challenges of the future, these information-sharing channels and tools will be crucial. The exchange of clinical data between countries can also provide insights for surveillance, operational response, treatment, and therapeutic development.<sup>75</sup>

#### TARGET AREA: INTEROPERABILITY

#### **Background**

During the past decade, hospitals and clinician offices have made tremendous gains in shifting from paper record-keeping to computerized systems. Although barriers to achieving interoperability still exist, there has been significant progress. For example, 56 percent of hospitals had electronic patient information from outside sources available at the point of care in 2018, an increase of 10 percent from 2015. Three-quarters of hospitals use both electronic and non-electronic methods for exchanging summary of care records. Small, rural, and critical access hospitals trail larger, suburban, and urban hospitals in participation with information-sharing networks. Office-based clinicians' rates of electronically finding or querying data from outside sources increased by 50 percent from 2015 to 2017.

#### **Current State**

#### Health Information Exchange

The health information ecosystem continues to strive towards interoperability for its cost-saving potential and benefits to clinical care. Connectivity and interoperability remain a challenge for clinicians across care settings because information that has been captured and stored in health IT systems is still not easily shared. Progress has been made but interoperability remains fragmented.

Increased use of nationwide health information networks—such as eHealth Exchange, Carequality, and CommonWell Health Alliance—is anticipated to significantly improve interoperability. Many of the national health information networks publish data on the number of participating organizations and data exchange volume. Beyond these data points, however, there is little information available describing the benefits of increased connectivity and data flow, or on the gaps that remain to be addressed.

Specific use cases that require significant amounts of specialized clinical data are also not well supported today. Organ procurement and transplants are examples of a vital part of healthcare that has complex data needs that often have to be addressed through significant manual inputs and with non-standard data. Health systems and organ procurement organizations (OPOs) are developing automated processes to streamline the identification, evaluation, and placement of transplantable organs. For instance, health systems and OPOs are working to replace manual processes with electronic interfaces in hospital EHRs, allowing hospital staff to generate a report to an OPO and donor registry communication hub with the press of a button. These organizations are also working on APIs to assist with seamless data exchange. Transplant centers are increasingly adopting these APIs, with 50 out of 250 transplant centers using at least one API solution. CDS systems are being implemented to facilitate the early referral of potential organ donors to an OPO, which may positively impact donation outcomes.

#### Exchange of Health Data More Broadly across the Care Continuum

Interoperability challenges are even greater in care settings such as behavioral health, LTPAC, and home health, which were not eligible to participate in the CMS Medicare and Medicaid EHR Incentive Programs (now known as the Promoting Interoperability Programs). Many of these healthcare entities continue to rely on fax and phone communication to accept referrals and exchange clinical information. <sup>81</sup> As of 2017, just 29 percent of substance abuse treatment centers use only electronic methods to store and maintain health records. <sup>82</sup> About 25 percent of substance use disorder (SUD) treatment facilities use only paper methods to send and receive health information, whereas less than 10 percent use only electronic methods. <sup>83</sup>

Under the broad LTPAC umbrella, there are varying rates of adoption of health IT and abilities to send and receive data electronically. To help advance interoperability in LTPAC settings and to align data reporting requirements, CMS created the Data Element Library (DEL), which is a collection of interoperable data elements and their associated health IT standards. <sup>84</sup> CMS is working to align the DEL with health IT content standards, such as Logical Observation Identifiers Names and Codes (LOINC), Consolidated-Clinical Document Architecture (C-CDA), and FHIR®, which will allow data generated by LTPAC providers for payment and reporting to CMS to be repurposed for broader interoperable data exchange. <sup>85</sup> In addition to clinical data exchange, administrative data interoperability is critical for efficiency across the care continuum. Administrative data, such as prior authorizations, may be recorded in one care setting; however, this information is not always exchanged for reuse in other care settings. <sup>86</sup>

New rules and ongoing projects may further interoperability between LTPAC and inpatient and ambulatory clinicians. The CMS Interoperability Rule requires hospitals to send LTPAC providers and other clinicians event notifications about shared patients.<sup>87</sup> AHRQ is funding projects that advance the standardization and integration of PRO data.<sup>88</sup> The 360 Exchange Closed Loop Referral Project aims to streamline the referral process by standardizing data exchange and transport.<sup>89</sup> To address the exchange of functional and cognitive status data specifically, CMS supports the PACIO Project. This project aims to advance data exchange between LTPAC providers and other providers using FHIR® standards.<sup>90</sup>

LTPAC sites use a variety of standardized measurement tools to assess patient outcomes and compare them across the post-acute care continuum as well as improve care transitions. These include the Minimum Data Set (MDS) for skilled nursing facilities, Inpatient Rehabilitation Facility Patient Assessment Instrument (IRF-PAI), Outcome and Assessment Information Set (OASIS), and Long-Term Care Hospital CARE Data Set (LCDS). Data elements are easily available with national standards to support LTPAC health IT and care communication.<sup>91</sup>

#### Increased Health Equity across Populations, Locations, and Situations

Health equity means that everyone has an opportunity to achieve their full health potential without disadvantage from achieving this potential because of social position or other socially determined circumstances. Outcomes that reflect health inequities include differences in length of life, quality of life, rates of disease, disability and death, severity of disease, and access to treatment. Processes to treatment to identify health disparities, understand why they exist, and reduce them with evidence-based interventions that take into account unique regional and cultural needs. One of the key components of identifying health disparities and promoting health equity is data that allows for the analysis of health processes and outcomes by race, ethnicity, language, sexual orientation, gender identity, and disability status.

Race, ethnicity, and language data are noted for collection in several rules and standards. Historically the CMS Promoting Interoperability programs required clinicians and hospitals to collect race and ethnicity data using standards developed by the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB).<sup>94</sup> The CDC publishes a race and ethnicity code set that has more granular categories for race and ethnicity and allows multiple races and ethnicities to be chosen for the same patient, and rolls up the OMB standards.<sup>95</sup> The USCDI specifies race, ethnicity, and language as part of demographics using the OMB or CDC standards. HHS promulgated a rule requiring labs to include race and ethnicity on COVID-19 test results submitted to the CDC.<sup>96</sup>

Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity (SO/GI) data are captured less frequently and are therefore often not included in analyses of quality of care or health disparities. Properties and hospitals are required to have certified Health IT Modules that allow users to record, modify, and access structured SO/GI data. However, clinicians and hospitals are not required under the Promoting Interoperability programs to collect or use SO/GI data. Studies suggest that rates of SO/GI data collection are low, with 22 percent of patients asked for this information in an Emergency Department setting. Pennsylvania, and Washington are advancing policies for SO/GI data collection related to COVID-19 cases.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (the ACA) includes provisions for documenting disability status with six questions developed by the US Census Bureau. They include questions to ascertain if a

patient has difficulty hearing, seeing, concentrating, making decisions, or performing activities of daily living. There are no standards for storing and sharing disability information, making it difficult to accurately identify people with disabilities and detect health disparities.<sup>101</sup>

# Exchange of Social Determinants of Health Data

SDOH data are defined as "the conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, age, and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life." This information can be used to identify patient-specific needs, enhance patient engagement, and share information across healthcare and social service organizations.

Despite strong evidence linking patients' social circumstances to their health status, the healthcare system is struggling to capture SDOH information from patients to inform clinical decision making. There are several initiatives underway to standardize the capture and use of SDOH data in health IT. The HL7® Gravity Project is developing consensus-based documentation standards to capture SDOH data as part of the patient health record. 102 Started in May 2019, the Gravity Project has developed a master list of data elements for: (1) housing instability and homelessness; (2) food insecurity; and (3) transportation access. 103 It submitted ICD-10, LOINC, and Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine (SNOMED) codes for food insecurity to the respective standards development organizations and is working to do the same for housing instability, homelessness, and transportation access. 104 ONC and HHS are working to advance SDOH standards initiatives and are promoting the interoperable capture, use, and exchange of SDOH data through the Health IT Certification Program. The HHS Office of the Chief Technology Officer launched a department-wide SDOH strategy in 2019. 105 A number of HIEs are actively working to support the sharing of SDOH data. 106

#### Association between EHRs and Patient Safety

Well-designed, properly implemented, and responsibly used health IT can improve patient safety by better supporting clinical workflows and decision making. At the same time, health IT can introduce new patient safety risks, especially those associated with poor usability, such as incorrect drug dose administration, delays in care, and other adverse events. For example, hospitals with the same EHR developer have different rates of detecting adverse drug events using CDS, suggesting that technology as well as organizational safety, culture, and processes are important contributors. 107 ONC and CMS's joint Clinician Burden Reduction Strategy describes how improved EHR usability and user experience can positively impact patient safety. For example, some design features, such as screen emphasis, typography, and color choices, can make it easier for a clinician to locate the correct medication or laboratory order. 108

The ONC Health IT Certification Program includes patient safety components that increase safety-enhanced design requirements. Onc Health IT Certification Program, such as a safety reporting system for EHRs, to improve patient safety. The Cures Act called for the creation of the EHR Reporting Program to collect information from technology developers and clinicians to assess EHR performance. Stakeholders identified safety as a measure to be included in the EHR Reporting Program assessment. The voluntary reporting criteria for the EHR Reporting Program include a focus on usability and its impact on patient safety. ONC'S SAFER Guides recommend practices to optimize the safe use of EHRs and guide technology teams in conducting self-assessments and implementing high priority safety practices.

# Sharing Data with the Research Community

Due to the large volume of electronic health data created by EHRs and consumer electronics, researchers are increasingly conducting clinical studies based on this data.<sup>114</sup> EHRs may act as an evidence base for research that can help guide health-related decisions made by clinicians and patients.<sup>115</sup> Some EHRs have self-service search tools that allow clinicians to understand patient populations and informally investigate data in the pre-research phase.<sup>116</sup> However, challenges with data quality, consistency, and health IT infrastructure have made it difficult to use clinical data for research purposes.<sup>117</sup>

Historically, clinical data and research data have been siloed, i.e., clinical data are not available to researchers and research data are not available in EHRs. Clinicians and researchers share a set of data use functions including data capture, access and transport, storage, aggregation, and knowledge sharing. However, the structure and storage of data vary between the two domains. In response, the first goal of ONC's National Health IT Priorities for Research is "leveraging high-quality electronic health data for research" and priorities that focus on improving data quality at the point of capture, increasing data harmonization to enable research uses, and improving access to interoperable health data.<sup>118</sup>

Projects and initiatives are underway to harmonize health IT infrastructure and make it easier for researchers and clinicians to share clinical data. One such initiative is Making EHR Data More Available for Research and Public Health. Funded by HHS' Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE) and executed by the CDC, the project aims to use FHIR® standards to extract data from multiple clinical platforms and create a reliable, scalable, and interoperable method to obtain EHR data for multiple public health and research scenarios using a scalable and extensible application. Additional initiatives focus on other needs of the health IT infrastructure, such as efficiently honoring data use agreements between the two parties, supporting easier identification, consent, and consent management of research participants, and implementing research findings at the point of care. In addition, technical advances are creating new opportunities to leverage data for research and other uses in a manner that allows the data to be accessed for a specific purpose, such as training algorithms, without sharing or centralizing the data.

HHS' Federal Policy for Protection of Human Research Subjects (known as the "Common Rule") sets forth requirements that protect human subjects involved in research conducted or supported by HHS. Efforts are underway to support the alignment of the FDA research regulation requirements with the Common Rule human research requirements as required by the Cures Act. Currently, researchers must follow the regulation that offers the greater protection to human subjects when the investigation is both supported by HHS and involves an FDA-regulated product.

#### Metadata

An important component of integrating clinical data for research is facilitating data management to collect data and ensure it is standardized, can be merged from multiple sources over time, and can be related to outcomes. Clinical research standards, which are governed by the Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium, leverage metadata nomenclature to facilitate machine-based, clinical data management. Metadata is data about data, or information about information, or the information required to contextualize and understand a given data element. It is widely used in clinical trials to efficiently manage and use data and keep track of where it is captured, transformed, transferred, stored, and processed. In the delivery of care outside of clinical trials, metadata is often limited and includes when data was created as well as who accessed the data and when it was updated. The United States Information Knowledge Base is a repository of healthcare metadata, specifications, and standards funded and directed by AHRQ.

# Management of Data from Outside Sources

The ability to incorporate, de-duplicate, reconcile, and use data from external sources is important to support clinicians' management of data from outside sources. As of 2017, one in 10 office-based physicians send, receive, find, and integrate patient health information from outside sources. The most common reasons for not using health information received electronically from outside sources include: (1) information is not available when needed; (2) information is available but not integrated into the EHR; (3) information is not presented in a useful format, e.g., too much information, redundant information, or unnecessary information.

Many solutions that enable clinical access to data from outside sources require deviations from the typical workflow in one of two ways. One requires clinicians to leave the EHR for another website and the other requires clinicians to move to a separate section of the EHR that houses the outside data. Users are less likely to access data from external sources if it requires added steps, such as navigation to parts of the EHR outside of the standard workflow. One health system found that a change in user interface whereby local and outside data are comingled, or presented alongside local data in an integrated and logically organized way, results in increased views of outside data in inpatient, outpatient, and emergency encounters by all clinician types.<sup>127</sup>

# HL7® FHIR® Standard

FHIR® facilitates interoperability between legacy health IT systems, eases the provision of healthcare information to clinicians and individuals on a variety of devices such as computers, tablets, and cell phones, and enables third-party app developers to provide medical apps that can be easily integrated into existing systems. ONC's adoption of FHIR® release 4.0.1 in the ONC Cures Act Final Rule is anticipated to significantly advance the use of FHIR® across the industry. Several industry groups are actively working to use, improve, and refine the FHIR® standard. Their efforts serve purposes such as exchanging SDOH data, advocating for consumer-directed exchange, identifying common oncology data elements, connecting clinical research and healthcare, and promoting interoperability across value-based care stakeholders. 128

#### Unique Device Identifiers

A unique device identifier (UDI) is an alphanumeric code that identifies a specific medical device that may be added to relevant records such as hospital purchase orders, patients' health records, or insurance claim forms. The UDI enables device tracking throughout the health information ecosystem and the ability to quickly identify faulty products and issue recalls, thereby improving patient safety. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the FDA announced it will delay enforcement of compliance with its requirement for medical devices to have a UDI from September 24, 2020, to September 24, 2022. 129 CMS is still determining whether it will include UDI information on the next version of the Medicare claims form.

# Health IT Support for Opioid Response

Health IT is an important tool in addressing the opioid epidemic. The use of health IT has been demonstrated to improve adherence to opioid prescribing guidelines, increase the safety of prescribing for controlled substances, enhance clinician access to Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs (PDMPs), and expand access to substance use disorder treatment and recovery support.

Currently, all states except Missouri have an operational statewide PDMP.<sup>130</sup> PDMPs can provide health authorities with timely information about prescribing and patient behaviors that may contribute to the opioid

epidemic, which can facilitate a nimble and targeted response.<sup>131</sup> Rates of PDMP and EHR integration vary widely by state, with high rates of interoperability in some states and nearly none in others. One report shows that 29 percent of hospitals have EHR capabilities to allow prescribers to check the state PDMP via the EHR while 14 percent of hospital EHRs automatically integrate data from the state PDMP.<sup>132</sup> Many state PDMPs need technical enhancements and significant EHR integrations to maximize utilization. One study found that viewing PDMP data when it is integrated into the EHR takes up to 15 seconds, while viewing the data when it is not integrated into the EHR may take up to five minutes.<sup>133</sup>

The use of CDS for safe opioid prescribing practices is gaining traction. CDS Hooks is a standard for notifying an external service when a specific activity occurs within an EHR user session. The external service can then return information including text, actionable suggestions, or links to launch to an app from within the EHR workflow. When implemented well, CDS can prompt clinicians to write more appropriate pain medication prescriptions. To advance this work, AHRQ is supporting projects aimed at developing CDS tools for patients and clinicians.

# TARGET AREA: PRIVACY AND SECURITY

# **Background**

As interoperability and access to patient health information increase, the privacy and security of health data are primary concerns for stakeholders. Robust privacy and security practices are important considerations in advancing and maintaining trust in interoperability, while poor privacy and security practices heighten the vulnerability of patient information stored in health information systems and elsewhere. In addition, inadequate privacy and security practices have the potential to create data management problems for healthcare entities via unauthorized and/or unintended disclosure, ransomware, and other avenues.

Privacy and security regulations are sometimes cited as a barrier to sharing health information. It is anticipated that the ONC Cures Act Final Rule and CMS Interoperability Final Rule will reduce the ability of healthcare entities and others to use the existing privacy and security regulations to evade sharing health data. 137,138

#### **Current State**

#### Beyond HIPAA: Protections for Data Generated Outside of the HIPAA Framework

Health data are increasingly collected, shared, and used by entities that are not subject to HIPAA. HIPAA does not apply to data created by an entity that is not a covered entity or business associate, or to data disclosed to an entity not subject to HIPAA, such as a digital app. <sup>139,140</sup> This fact is often not transparent to patients.

Several federal privacy laws and regulations provide additional protections to health data. These include the Substance Abuse Confidentiality Regulations (42 CFR Part 2), and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) (20 U.S.C. § 1232g; 34 CFR Part 99). 42 CFR Part 2 protects the confidentiality of patient records related to SUDs by restricting disclosure of the records to a greater extent than as required by HIPAA. FERPA protects the privacy of student education records, including students' health records maintained by a school nurse of a covered institution. The HIPAA Privacy Rule specifically excludes from

PHI student education records that are protected by FERPA. As a result, health IT used to support clinicians in institutions covered by FERPA must address the unique privacy requirements of FERPA, which differ from HIPAA requirements.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act), which became law on March 27, 2020, amended 42 CFR Part 2 by relaxing some of the specific patient consent requirements to facilitate information sharing and better align 42 CFR Part 2 with HIPAA. These changes were made to improve access and coordination of care for patients with SUD. Now, once a patient provides initial consent to the disclosure of SUD data, the data can be used or disclosed by a covered entity, business associate, or 42 CFR Part 2 program for treatment, payment, or healthcare operations without obtaining additional consent. The CARES Act balances this softening of the consent requirements by strengthening the prohibition against using unconsented SUD records against the patient and prohibiting discrimination based on the information contained in the records or received because of their disclosure. In July 2020, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) published a final rule which modernizes 42 CFR Part 2 to improve care coordination and update patient consent requirements without altering the basic framework for confidentiality protections for SUD patient records.

In December 2019, OCR and the Department of Education released updated joint guidance clarifying the application of FERPA and the HIPAA Privacy Rule on records maintained on students. <sup>144</sup> The guidance, originally published in November 2008, details when each law applies and when records can be disclosed. <sup>145</sup>

#### Rules for Sharing

There have been some recent attempts to increase transparency and improve privacy protections of data not subject to HIPAA. The Consumer Technology Association issued industry-developed guidelines for companies that handle electronic consumer health and wellness data. The voluntary guidelines aim to address privacy risks, discover consumer preferences, and earn consumer trust. The eHealth Initiative and the Center for Democracy and Technology have partnered to create a framework to protect health data not protected by current privacy laws. In May 2020, the American Medical Association (AMA) published a list of privacy principles to respond to Americans' growing reluctance to share health data. The AMA plans to use the principles to create changes to improve the privacy and security of health data in the hands of parties not subject to HIPAA. The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) published recommended activities that IoT manufacturers can take to make it easier for users to keep devices secure. The FDA has issued formal guidance on how medical device manufacturers should handle reports about cyber vulnerabilities. The FTC has enforcement authority over the privacy practices of many entities that fall outside of HIPAA. The FTC's enforcement authority applies to acts and practices that are unfair and deceptive and does not prescribe privacy requirements that must be adopted or followed.

#### **Patient Consent**

Healthcare entities are partnering with outside parties, particularly technology companies, to improve the clinicians' technology, develop data analytics, conduct research, and other purposes. Although such arrangements are not new, questions have recently arisen regarding the propriety or legality of some of these arrangements involving PHI, perhaps because they are becoming more prevalent and involve larger amounts of data.

For example, St. Louis-based Ascension Health announced in November 2019 that it had engaged Google to help it improve its technology operations and move its infrastructure to a cloud-based platform. <sup>152</sup> Although the parties signed a business associate agreement and Google has stated that it has taken steps to ensure the privacy of the patient data, <sup>153</sup> the endeavor, called "Project Nightingale," has sparked federal scrutiny amid concerns that the data are not being adequately protected, that patients had not received advance notice about the deal, and whether patients can opt out of such data sharing. <sup>154</sup>

Similarly, Mayo Clinic has licensed its patient data to 16 technology companies to train AI systems without notifying patients of the deals or asking them for consent to use their data. After patients raised concerns, the Mayo Clinic now says it is reexamining its consent process. This will become a bigger problem as more entities acquire PGHD technologies, such as Google's anticipated acquisition of Fitbit, which has raised questions regarding how Google would handle and safeguard the data of Fitbit's 28 million users. As a result, some people do not trust that their health data would be protected, stymieing the adoption of health technology although health IT can improve patient outcomes. 157

#### Internet of Things

The IoT refers to the technology and connectivity of various objects including appliances, devices, wearables, and sensors to the Internet or other networks. Connecting these objects enables organizations to collect and analyze data to gather new insights into how to optimize processes, improve decisions, and automate responses to health events. The IoT has many potential applications in healthcare, such as remote monitoring, medical device integration, smart pills, and smart facilities, i.e., inventory management. Patient-generated health data (PGHD) can be collected and shared using the IoT.

There are privacy and security concerns with the IoT.<sup>160</sup> Devices such as fitness trackers link data to online user accounts, which can be used for advertising or to determine insurance rates. Connected devices can also be used to eavesdrop on users.<sup>161</sup> As IoT objects become more integrated with health IT systems, security risks increase. These include the potential for unauthorized access, misuse of personal information, and the ability of IoT objects to be used to facilitate attacks on other systems.<sup>162</sup> Most users are unaware that devices in the IoT, including medical devices, are typically not subject to HIPAA.<sup>163</sup> Additional concerns have been raised regarding the limited interoperability across IoT vendors and the challenges of informed consent for users of IoT technologies.<sup>164</sup>

# Privacy and Security of Synthetic Data

Researchers who want to conduct large-scale, population-level research on de-identified data are often not able to because privacy concerns about health data make it difficult to perform analyses used for predictive analytics, improved outcomes, and other topics. <sup>165</sup> For example, de-identified data may be easily re-identified using AI, reducing the ability of researchers to access data of real patients due to the privacy risk. <sup>166</sup> Synthetic data statistically mirrors the real population in terms of demographics, disease burden, vaccinations, medical visits, and social factors. Because it is not related to actual clinical data, the use of synthetic data can alleviate many privacy and security concerns for experimenting with large-scale data. For example, Synthetic Mass is a synthetic database based on the population of Massachusetts, with patients generated by Synthea, an open-source synthetic patient population simulation. <sup>167</sup> ONC is supporting an effort to enhance Synthea to produce high-quality synthetic data for opioid, pediatric, and complex care use cases focusing on Patient-Centered Outcomes Research (PCOR). <sup>168</sup> Examples of

additional organizations conducting synthetic data projects include the VA and Boston Children's Hospital. 169

However, synthetic data are not a panacea from a privacy and security standpoint. Questions have been raised whether AI could be used to re-identify the real patient populations on whom the synthetic health data were based. Also, typically real data needs to be used to verify the results of synthetic data, so the records of actual patients are still vulnerable.<sup>170</sup>

#### International Data Exchange and Privacy Considerations

The European Union's (EU) General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) established new rules on how companies manage and share personal data. The GDPR is more expansive than HIPAA and requires entities to implement new privacy and security measures as well as to obtain explicit consent to the acquisition and processing of individuals' data.<sup>171</sup> There is still much to be determined about how the GDPR will affect U.S. companies, including health IT developers. Recent guidance has clarified some of the GDPR's provisions and additional clarification is expected.<sup>172</sup> It is anticipated that enforcement will increase in 2020 and several large fines will be imposed.<sup>173</sup> For instance, in June 2020, a French court fined Google €50 million for GDPR violations.<sup>174</sup>

Other international changes in data privacy protections law may also affect U.S. entities. For example, in June 2020, Japan promulgated an amendment to its Personal Information Protection Act that extends the applicability of the law to certain foreign businesses that handle the information of individuals in Japan and establishes more stringent requirements for cross-border transfers of information.<sup>175</sup>

The COVID-19 pandemic may affect the implementation and enforcement of these privacy changes, as work locations are moved and governments around the world have loosened their privacy restrictions to support public health.<sup>176</sup>

#### **State Privacy Considerations**

Many states have laws and regulations to protect the privacy of health information. They often have stricter privacy protections on use and disclosure than the HIPAA Privacy Rule, which increases the complexity of compliance. These laws and regulations also vary from state to state, causing confusion among interstate exchange partners and making it more difficult and expensive to manage technology to ensure privacy compliance.

Additionally, states have begun to enact new privacy laws that likely encompass data collected by and/or maintained by healthcare entities and other entities that fall outside the scope of HIPAA.<sup>179</sup> For instance, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (CCPA), which expands the privacy rights of California consumers, went into effect on January 1, 2020; enforcement began on July 1, 2020.<sup>180</sup> Other states contemplating their own versions of CCPA include Florida, Hawaii, Illinois, Nebraska, New Hampshire, New Jersey, and Wisconsin.<sup>181</sup> Another new state law that increases healthcare entities' privacy and security obligations is New York's Stop Hacks and Improve Electronic Data Security (SHIELD) Act, which went into effect on March 21, 2020. This law creates new data security requirements for HIPAA covered entities, which now need to protect data elements that are not PHI.<sup>182</sup>

# Privacy and Security Issues with Artificial Intelligence

Data analytics and AI are increasingly being developed and used in healthcare. According to the National Academy of Medicine, AI offers opportunities to improve patient and clinical team outcomes, reduce costs, and impact population health. <sup>183</sup> For example, ONC is collaborating with the National Institutes of Health on a project to train data for AI to enhance the PCOR data infrastructure. <sup>184</sup>This trend is raising new privacy and security concerns. For example, AI automation raised the risk that the patient data and the AI systems themselves may become the subject of manipulation and data breaches. <sup>185</sup> In recognition of this growing issue, the FTC issued general guidance in April 2020 about using AI, including a warning to AI users that the algorithms be protected from unauthorized use. <sup>186</sup> The FDA is considering a new framework for regulating AI software as a medical device. <sup>187</sup>

Collecting, using, and sharing data for AI also raises the risk of violating patient privacy. This is especially problematic when the data are shared with third parties for developing and training AI systems because it is harder to keep patients' identities confidential. Under HIPAA's Privacy Rule, a covered entity may disclose PHI to third parties without patient consent if it is de-identified. It has been shown that AI technology can easily and quickly pair information and re-identify individuals. <sup>188</sup> The recent partnerships between healthcare entities and technology companies that already hold large amounts of consumer data may mean that no data can remain de-identified because AI can combine healthcare data with consumer data. <sup>189,190</sup>

# Cybersecurity

Health data continues to be vulnerable to cybersecurity threats. Ransomware attacks against health data ramped up in 2019 and are expected to continue in the future. <sup>191</sup> Malicious cyber activity has also increased by actors trying to take advantage of U.S-based healthcare entities during the COVID-19 pandemic. Both the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) and the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) have issued warnings about such targeting. <sup>192,193</sup> The FDA and DHS have issued several warnings in 2020 about potential cybersecurity vulnerabilities in certain medical devices. <sup>194,195</sup> The dramatic rise in telehealth and telework due to the COVID-19 pandemic has also increased the risk that electronic health data will be stolen, compromised, or otherwise adversely affected. For instance, the FBI issued a warning about the privacy and security risk of using certain video conferencing platforms. <sup>196</sup> Remote healthcare workers are also being targeted by new voicemail phishing attacks, known as "vishing" attacks. <sup>197</sup>

Cybersecurity and privacy are seen as the largest barrier to the adoption of digital strategies in the healthcare industry. Even though CMS has urged for the end of the use of fax machines by 2020 due to interoperability issues and privacy risks at fax endpoints, 90 percent of clinicians are still using fax machines and eschewing health IT for data sharing due to cybersecurity concerns. The rise of e-faxing, also known as cloud faxing, may alleviate some of these concerns and increase interoperability. In December 2019, the EU released new guidance on the cybersecurity for medical devices which may inform other guidance helpful to the United States.

#### Privacy Issues with Genomic Data Sharing

The use of genomic data collection is expanding, fueled by the potential of precision medicine and personalized therapies, as well as the wider availability of testing. Much of this data collection is dependent on the donation of such data to academic and research institutions. However, the data are increasingly

being used in areas other than biomedical research and by commercial entities, which has raised concerns about the protection of the data. A recent study has found that as patients learned more about the potential privacy risks of genomic data and the acquisition of genomic data for commercial use, they were more concerned about the privacy and security of their data and less likely to share it.<sup>202</sup> Less than 12 percent of respondents were willing to donate their genetic data, more than 50 percent expected to be paid for it, and almost 38 percent refused to share it, even if they would have been paid for it.<sup>203</sup>

# TARGET AREA: PATIENT ACCESS TO INFORMATION

# **Background**

Patients' electronic access and use of their health information are critical to enabling individuals to better monitor their health as well as manage and coordinate their care. The ONC Cures Act Final Rule and CMS Interoperability Final Rule will help improve patient access to their health information. The ONC Cures Act Final Rule will support this by enabling patients to receive on-demand access to certain information in their medical records, specifically the data included in the USCDI-defined data elements, and allowing patients to choose which apps they want to use to access their medical records. Additionally, the ONC Cures Act Final Rule requires the capability for patients to electronically access their health information at no cost and addresses information blocking practices.

#### **Current State**

#### Safety and Impact of Mobile Health Applications

Standardized use of APIs could enable prompt increased access to medical records and improve patients' ability to obtain them.<sup>206</sup> The ONC Cures Act Final Rule includes provisions that improve patients' ability to access and use their data from clinicians by establishing secure, standards-based API requirements and gives patients electronic access to their health information at no cost. These provisions enable patients to choose which apps they authorize to access their data. The CMS Interoperability Final Rule builds on these provisions by requiring certain payers to give patients access to their data through standards-based APIs.<sup>207</sup>

The private sector is also providing innovative opportunities for patients to access, manage, and share their health data with trusted parties. The CARIN Alliance is facilitating increased consumer-mediated exchange through third-party apps. In 2020, it released the My Health Application where consumers can select a healthcare app of their choice to help collect health information across clinicians, hospitals, and payers. My Health Application acts as a centralized vendor and platform agnostic location with 11 consumer-facing apps available on release. Each app featured on the website has attested to the CARIN Code of Conduct. Users can see each app's affiliations with other trusted organizations (such as CMS, VA, Carequality, CommonWell Health Alliance, 1up Health, and Apple Health), and can easily access the app's privacy policies. Additionally, Xcertia has created guidelines to support the safe and effective development of mobile health apps. Organizations including Ranked Health and PsyberGuide are reviewing and ranking healthcare apps to help patients and clinicians adopt clinically proven and high-quality digital health solutions. 111,212,213

However, some stakeholders have expressed safety concerns with healthcare-related, consumer-facing third-party apps, including fears that these apps may be developed without expert involvement, an evidence

base, or strong validation.<sup>214</sup> For instance, a study that evaluated asthma management apps found that only one out of the eight reviewed apps was consistent with clinical guidance. Another study found that just 10 percent of apps for depression include evidence-based principles. Moreover, there are concerns related to the information presented to the consumer, such as incorrect or incomplete information, content variation, and incorrect or inappropriate response to consumer needs. For example, an app for bipolar disorder incorrectly differentiated between condition types and suggested that it was contagious. <sup>215</sup> Some prescription benefit managers have introduced programs to review digital health apps on a variety of factors including clinical accuracy. One large prescription benefit manager introduced a digital health formulary that includes a curated set of apps.<sup>216</sup>

# Correction of Incorrect Clinical Data and the Ramifications of Exchange of this Data

Clinicians can use information stored in the EHR to make well-informed clinical decisions. However, up to 70 percent of patient records contain incorrect information. Of patient-reported medical record errors, 42 percent were described by the patient as serious or very serious, such as those related to diagnoses, medications, allergies, test procedures or results, and notes on the wrong patient. Patients often have difficulty getting incorrect EHR data corrected. HIPAA provides patients with the right to ask for a correction, but healthcare entities are not obligated to make changes and may reject a patient's request for correction. Although some requests for health record corrections are resolved quickly, others may not be corrected with little feedback from the clinician or healthcare entity.

One of the ramifications of incorrect data is the subsequent electronic sharing of the data with other healthcare entities and incorporation of that data into various medical records. For example, in regions with a strong HIE presence, the HIE may transmit incorrect data it receives to other participants. Even if the source of the incorrect data subsequently updates it in the HIE, facilities that received the incorrect data and incorporated it into their system may never know about the change.

#### Use and Sharing of Patient-Generated Health Data

PGHD are data created, recorded, or gathered by or from patients (or family members or other caregivers) to support their health. This data may include health history, biometric data, symptoms, and lifestyle information. PGHD captured and shared in a non-clinical setting can offer insights into a patient's health and potentially enable care teams to make timely and well-informed decisions.<sup>220</sup>

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, there has been an increased need for tracking personal metrics such as temperature, heart rate, and oxygen levels, which are common symptoms of the disease. The collection of such PGHD could help monitor and mitigate the spread of the virus.<sup>221</sup>

Consumer interest in the use of PGHD has increased with the growing prevalence of wearable fitness trackers and mobile health apps. The increasing number of devices and apps on the market along with differing data preferences have some clinicians concerned about the interoperability and scalability of PGHD efforts.<sup>222</sup> For example, since VA's launch of Apple Health Records in late 2019, VA has established the VETERANS (Veteran Engagement Through Electronic Resources and Notifications Study) pilot program which monitors 25 veterans with atrial fibrillation using the electrocardiogram (EKG) functionality in Apple watches.<sup>223</sup> As part of the pilot program, veterans are taught how to share their EKGs through secure messaging on My HealtheVet. VA is also developing the ability to gather data from wellness devices and glucometers using a mobile app.<sup>224</sup>

# Health IT Infrastructure Gap Analysis

# TARGET AREA: USE OF TECHNOLOGIES THAT SUPPORT PUBLIC HEALTH

# Limited Bidirectional Exchange of Clinical and Administrative Data for Public Health Purposes

Public health authorities face interoperability challenges to be able to collect, access, and use information, as well as exchange it bidirectionally between clinicians and laboratories, particularly data needed for proper reporting.

There are long-standing infrastructure gaps in public health reporting capabilities that have prevented public health authorities from receiving timely information on COVID-19 infections. Public health data collection is decentralized in the United States, meaning that each locality sets the standards for data collection and reporting. Because COVID-19 has a nationwide reach, this has had problematic effects. Public health authorities have been unable to receive complete information on patient demographic information, medical history, and course of the disease because of incomplete data and inadequate access to clinical data from EHRs. Additionally, bidirectional information exchange between clinicians and public health agencies, while valuable to patient care and public health interventions, is not supported consistently across the country. Existing technologies such as FHIR® APIs could provide a channel for public health agencies to pull information from EHRs; however, some public health agencies may not choose to implement these technologies, in part because they do not have the technical infrastructure to support such exchange. These obstacles have led to delays in contact tracing and case investigations, which can have direct effects on the spread of COVID-19.

In addition, there is a paucity of data standards to allow for standardized reporting from EHRs directly to public health or government officials, and some data are not stored in the EHR. These stakeholders are only able to collect data in manual, error-prone manners. Data on measures such as bed availability, staffing, and equipment inventory are only actionable if the data are real-time or near-real-time. A delay in understanding these important measures can result in grave harm. The SANER Project developed an HL7® FHIR® Implementation Guide to enable standardized reporting of bed availability, staffing availability, and equipment inventory. This Implementation Guide has set the technical standards for such capability; however, the standards need to be validated in a practical setting. There has been success in standardizing EHR reporting for immunizations, therefore this use case can serve as an example for COVID-19-related data.

# **Privacy and Security Concerns Related to Public Health**

Biosurveillance efforts, including case investigation, contact tracing, and exposure notification, as well as increased use of telehealth and remote monitoring, face privacy and security issues.

There is an urgent need to be able to conduct nationwide surveillance and contact tracing of COVID-19 cases. Various IT companies have proposed solutions to accomplish this using cell phone location data. However, there are privacy concerns regarding these systems. Due to the novel nature of these

technologies, ambiguity exists about the privacy protections afforded to the users of such technology, hindering widespread use because the data can fall outside the scope of federal or state privacy laws. In addition, much of the data generated from these mobile apps and technologies are siloed from health delivery and public health systems, so public health authorities are often not able to access insights from these apps. A systematic review of the data from exposure notification systems is needed, including the accuracy and completeness of tracking of exposures, rates of adoption, and their impact on pandemic control.

# Lack of Nationwide Infrastructure to Track Vaccine Supply and Administration

Even pre-pandemic, questions arose about whether various public health organizations might be tracking unimmunized populations, where patients are obtaining vaccines, and if others can access that data.

As the country's public health entities prepare for the availability of COVID-19 vaccines, existing gaps in the infrastructure to track the supply and administration of these vaccines have come to light. Because vaccine databases, also known as immunization information systems, are administered on a state level, there is no nationwide database to track the administration of the future COVID-19 vaccines and other vaccines.<sup>227</sup> A nationwide database would allow federal agencies to track vaccine supply and distribution on a macro level, making it easier to predict resource allocation and understand patterns across the country.<sup>228</sup> The HITAC has noted in the past, while deliberating on pediatric voluntary criteria in the ONC Health IT Certification Program Proposed Rule, that the lack of ability to track vaccines is problematic.

# **Need for Improved Patient Matching when Sharing Data for Public Health Purposes**

Patient matching challenges exist due to gaps in information (particularly demographic) shared from commercial laboratories and from contact tracing records, and lack of a UPI.

Public health authorities have been unable to receive complete information on patient demographics, creating significant challenges in accurately matching patients to reported data. Missing or incorrect data that limits or prevents accurate patient matching can delay a public health authority's response.<sup>229</sup> Patient matching errors can originate from multiple aspects of the healthcare experience, such as during patient registration or data sharing among organizations. Matching errors can result in inaccurate creation, inadvertent merging, and duplication of patient records. These errors can negatively impact public health due to delays in contact tracing and present patient safety risks.<sup>230</sup>

Many stakeholders believe that a lack of standardization of demographic data elements collected at the point of care and a lack of a national unique patient identifier limit their ability to effectively match patient records.<sup>231</sup> Proponents of a unique patient identifier suggest that it will save time and money currently spent on patient matching.<sup>232</sup> They also suggest that it is key to improving interoperability and will increase patient safety and quality of care.<sup>233</sup> Some who oppose the use of identifiers raise privacy and security concerns and note that a unique patient identifier does not solve all patient matching problems. Proponents of a unique patient identifier respond by pointing to the success of Europe's unique patient identifier and suggest that privacy can be further enhanced by encrypting other elements of PHI.<sup>234</sup> Others suggest requiring additional data elements, such as an e-mail address, for use in patient matching.<sup>235</sup> ONC is partnering with several industry organizations for an initiative called "Project US@" to issue a unified, health care industry-wide specification for representing a patient's address for the purposes of patient matching and linking records.<sup>236</sup>

# **Challenges with International Exchange of Clinical Data for Public Health Purposes**

Currently, countries are imposing significant restrictions on the movement of people and goods to ensure public safety, in part due to a lack of information about the health status of travelers.

Although there is potential value of exchanging clinical data between countries to support public health, the ability to do so is not yet present. Within the United States, the prevailing interoperability challenges would preclude data sharing with other countries. Such data may be critical in understanding transmission risks and the impact of policies in the early phases of a pandemic. Additionally, each country utilizes its own information systems and data standards to collect data. Operational obstacles exist, but there is also an absence of trust frameworks among countries to share health data. Countries may be hesitant to share sensitive patient data of their citizens with other countries without outlined principles of how the data will be used.

# **TARGET AREA: INTEROPERABILITY**

# Interoperability Needs to be Increased More Broadly across the Care Continuum

LTPAC, behavioral health, and home and community-based service settings are limited in their ability to exchange data with other clinicians, including SDOH data, in part due to EHR design.

When transferring patients from an LTPAC setting to another care setting, the accompanying documentation frequently does not include the reason for transferring the patient. Similarly, many acute care clinicians do not share data when transitioning patients to LTPAC facilities. Sixteen percent of acute care clinicians reported sharing all patient data with skilled nursing facilities and 35 percent sharing some data, leaving almost half reporting no data sharing.<sup>237</sup> When data are shared between care settings, data elements include medications, demographics, and diagnoses, while other data such as measurements, observations, and advance care planning remains unshared. Acute care and LTPAC providers often communicate by fax or paper hand-offs, leading to data entry errors during transcription.<sup>238</sup>

Privacy concerns around sensitive behavioral health data contribute to limited information sharing.<sup>239</sup> As integrated behavioral and physical health services gained traction in recent years, it has become apparent that EHRs are not equipped to designate specific components of the record as confidential. Redisclosure rules make it difficult for offices that provide physical health, mental health, and SUD services to share data with patients and other members of the care team inside and outside the organization.<sup>240</sup>

#### **Limited Exchange of Social Determinants of Health Data**

Business models across healthcare sectors do not yet support the capture and use of SDOH data due to a lack of standards and data availability, imperfect patient matching, and varying levels of technical maturity of community-based organizations' IT systems.

For example, if SDOH data are collected, they are usually documented in free-text portions of the EHR, limiting the ability for data exchange between clinicians. Healthcare entities have been reluctant to share PHI with social service agencies or community-based providers, who may not be covered by HIPAA, due to concerns that such sharing will result in HIPAA violations by the healthcare entities.<sup>241</sup>

# **Need for Annual Review of Priority Uses of Health IT**

The HITAC annual review and publication of priority uses of health IT and existing standards and implementation specifications related to the priority uses required by the Cures Act needs to be implemented.

#### **Need for Increased Coordination of USCDI Submissions**

HITAC members often make suggestions for additions to the USCDI, but currently must submit them to ONC as an individual.

# Impact of Health IT on Patient Safety

Stakeholders continue to express concern about the impact health IT can have on patient safety, for example, resulting from EHR configuration.

EHR configuration checklists can help ensure that EHRs are configured with patient safety in mind at the time of implementation.<sup>242</sup> However, the large number of items in the checklist illustrates the complexity of EHR software and the lack of vendor focus on usability.<sup>243</sup>

# Lack of Data to Support Health Equity and Equitable Distribution of Resources

Data are not systematically collected nor used to identify disparities in outcomes, quality of care, or risk.

Although EHRs can capture race and ethnicity data, they may not be recorded in the EHR or may be of poor quality. At one health system serving a racially and ethnically diverse population, race or ethnicity was unknown 57 percent of the time. When patients directly reported this information, it was different from what was already recorded 66 percent of the time. <sup>244</sup> Non-traditional sources of health data, such as the Neighborhood Atlas, exist but have not yet been mined or shared to support more equitable distribution of health resources. <sup>245</sup>

The COVID-19 pandemic is a recent example of how data are needed to support the equitable distribution of resources. Failing to collect race and ethnicity for COVID-19 tests created a gap in understanding of and response to the pandemic. Early in the COVID-19 pandemic, data showed that a disproportionate number of people hospitalized with COVID-19 were African American. At the same time, states struggled to report COVID-19 case numbers by race and ethnicity because those data were not collected systematically by laboratories and others conducting testing. Published best practices encourage state and local leaders to disaggregate data related to COVID-19 cases, and measures of access to testing and treatment among others, by age, race, ethnicity, gender, disability, neighborhood, and other sociodemographic characteristics. Analyzing data this way illustrates the interplay between place and social factors, allowing for informed decision making to ensure equitable access to resources and determine the burden of infection across populations.<sup>246</sup>

# **Inability to Use and Share Health Data for Research Purposes**

Regarding data captured in EHRs, researchers are challenged by data quality and consistency concerns, limited governance structures and policies allowing access to the data, inconsistent implementations across technical architectures, and varying needs of individuals and organizations that create and use data.

Data quality and consistency challenges limit the availability of health data captured in EHRs for research purposes. They include linking data across systems, ensuring privacy for study participants, and engaging patients in the consent process when necessary.<sup>247</sup> In terms of linking data across systems, healthcare entities and researchers can work together to harmonize data standards, establish common nomenclatures, and manage metadata.<sup>248</sup> The process of gathering EHR data for research being conducted outside the health institution is expensive and labor-intensive with differing goals among researchers, the healthcare system, and research participants.<sup>249</sup> Researchers often transcribe clinical data, demonstrating the need to streamline data transfer methodologies.<sup>250</sup>

The clinicians and researchers maintain their own systems for capturing and storing electronic data. Common data standards and technology to easily integrate, aggregate, or compare data among research studies do not currently exist. For example, there are no interoperability standards between HL7® and the Clinical Data Interchange Standards Consortium, the standards body for clinical research data. Although half of research organizations plan to create a strategy for using EHRs, only 20 percent currently use them. Electronic consent, which would further researchers' ability to use EHR data, is not yet widely adopted. There is no unified approach to obtaining and maintaining electronic consent, resulting in inefficiencies for researchers working with multiple institutions in the form of additional workflows and interfaces.

#### Lack of Metadata Standards Hinders Reuse of Data for Research

Many data management tasks are burdensome because they are manual and require human labor for reconciliation that could be automated.

The lack of a common metadata nomenclature and description of data elements translates to burdensome data management tasks that often require manual processes for reconciliation. For example, clinical registries, developed by professional societies and other organizations, support health outcomes research. However, they are often standardized at the database level, requiring manual chart abstraction and data entry for submission to the registry. For many registries, manual chart abstraction results in significant financial burden for data collection and data analysis.<sup>253</sup>

# TARGET AREA: PRIVACY AND SECURITY

# Beyond HIPAA: Protections for Data Generated Outside of the HIPAA Framework

#### Lack of Clear Rules for Data Not Subject to HIPAA Protections

Health data not subject to HIPAA lacks clear legal privacy protections. Health data sent to a third-party app that is not the business associate of, owned, or affiliated with a covered entity would likely put that data outside of the protections of HIPAA.

Consumers are often unaware that the data they generated and collected are not protected by HIPAA, and any privacy protections are voluntary, not mandatory.<sup>254</sup> The exchange of health data with entities not subject to HIPAA is expected to increase due to the implementation of the ONC Cures Act Final Rule and

developments such as Google's acquisition of Fitbit and Facebook's launch of a new preventive health tool. HPAA's limitations may erode public trust in sharing digital health data outside of the HIPAA framework. In addition, initiatives between big technology companies and health systems like "Project Nightingale" have raised privacy and transparency concerns from providers, patient advocates, and government agencies. Health acquired transparency concerns from providers, patient advocates, and government agencies.

# Lack of Clarity about the Parameters for Disclosures and Their Implications for Patient Consent

There is confusion about patient consent for research and other uses or sharing of their data. Additionally, rules for consent have not been established for receivers of pushed (received) data when they receive it.

Patients continue to experience constraints on their ability to choose whether to electronically exchange sensitive data. They are often unaware that their data, including genomic data, may be used or disclosed without their knowledge or consent or disclosure about how it will be shared.<sup>258</sup> More than four-fifths of Americans say that they feel very little or no control of the data collected about them.<sup>259</sup> Consumers also often do not read the terms of service contracts for third-party apps and other recipients of data so they do not understand the extent to which they have permitted the use and sharing of their information.<sup>260</sup>

# Lack of Understanding of the Vulnerabilities of Devices Connected to the Internet of Things

There is limited interoperability across IoT vendors. As IoT devices become more integrated with health IT systems, security risks increase. Additional concerns have been raised regarding the challenges of informed consent for users of IoT technologies.

Medical and other devices connected to the IoT are vulnerable to hacking and other privacy and security risks. However, privacy and security are not necessarily considered when these devices are designed, and most of them are not subject to HIPAA.<sup>261</sup> Users typically are unaware of the risks of using connected devices. As the use of these devices increases, so does the risk of exploitation.<sup>262</sup>

# Potential Privacy and Security Risks Associated with the Use of Synthetic Data

HIPAA constraints limit the ability to conduct research and train machine learning models using large-scale datasets, in both research and healthcare settings.

Although synthetic data reduces some privacy and security risks because it uses fabricated patient records, it may not be a cure-all mechanism to protect the confidentiality of healthcare data. There is the potential that Al could be used to re-identify the actual patients on whom the synthetic data are based.

# TARGET AREA: PATIENT ACCESS TO INFORMATION

#### Concerns about the Safety and Impact of Mobile Health Applications

As the quantity and use of third-party apps grow, there is increasing concern about the clinical accuracy of these apps and the potential for patient harm. The use of apps that are built without using sound clinical knowledge can produce incorrect conclusions or readings.

Most apps are not regulated, resulting in tools that are not validated for quality and safety.<sup>263</sup> Research has identified 80 unique patient safety concerns associated with health apps, the most serious of which cause

potential or actual harm or other hazardous events.<sup>264</sup> The use of apps that are built without using sound clinical knowledge can produce incorrect conclusions or readings, such as over-diagnosis of benign skin lesions, incorrect insulin dose calculations, and improper brain function assessments, adversely affecting patient safety.<sup>265,266</sup>

# Barriers to Correcting Incorrect Clinical Information and Mitigating Its Exchange

There is a limited ability to correct data that has already been exchanged. As a result, these incorrect data might persist and be further disseminated. Transparency about the accuracy of patient data is lacking for patients, which in turn affects patient safety.

It is not clear who is responsible for correcting incorrect data exchanged electronically via an HIE.<sup>267</sup> Some state laws and organizations' internal policies dictate the HIE's role and responsibility for correcting incorrect clinical data in its possession. For example, Arizona law provides patients with the right to request that the HIE amend incorrect health information.<sup>268</sup> Other HIEs place the responsibility of managing incorrect data on participants, noting that all HIE data originates from data sources, not from the HIE itself.<sup>269</sup> Exploring the use of data provenance to help identify potentially incorrect information could improve patient safety and data accuracy by supporting error identification and corrections up and downstream.<sup>270</sup>

# Recommendations for Addressing Health IT Infrastructure Gaps

The Cures Act requires this annual report to include recommendations for addressing the identified gaps in policies and resources across the target areas and for furthering interoperability throughout the health IT infrastructure. The HITAC offers the following suggestions for HITAC activities that could result in future recommendations that would be transmitted to the National Coordinator for Health IT. Within each target area, topics are grouped by the timeliness of the opportunity to be addressed by the HITAC. An immediate opportunity correlates to planned topics for the HITAC within the next one to two years, while longer-term opportunities are anticipated to begin in three or more years.

# TARGET AREA: USE OF TECHNOLOGIES THAT SUPPORT PUBLIC HEALTH

# Illustrative Story of What the Recommended HITAC Activities Will Enable

A patient who lives in a rural county underwent a nasal swab test for COVID-19 at a county-run public testing site and received a positive result while still at the site, which was also reported to the state public health agency. However, key demographic data were not collected for the patient so timely contact tracing and notification of proper quarantine conduct could not be undertaken. As a result of improved patient matching techniques, the state public health agency has begun investigating artificial intelligence-based solutions to improve its ability to conduct patient matching and to use other data sources to fill in missing demographic information to increase the precision of case reporting and subsequent vaccination programs.

# **Immediate Opportunities**

#### Exchange of Bidirectional Clinical and Administrative Data for Public Health Purposes

**Opportunity:** Improve bidirectional interoperability between public health information systems and EHRs.

Local, state, and federal public health authorities will continue to need data to measure the impact of COVID-19 infections throughout this pandemic and equivalent measures for future public health emergencies. It is necessary to understand the continued gaps and potential solutions that can advance interoperability between public health reporting systems and EHRs.

Recommended HITAC Activity: Encourage further support for the identification and exchange of minimum necessary datasets and consideration of technical requirements for exchange for public

health, e.g., with laboratories, especially for test order entry, results, and case reporting. Additionally, encourage further support for the development of standards for population-level data exchange.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify interim solutions implemented to improve reporting capabilities and assess whether additional long-term solutions are needed.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Compile a set of useful health IT resources to raise awareness among public health organizations.

**Opportunity:** Accelerate the use of data standards to improve situational awareness for federal, state, and local government emergency response.

The efficacy of standards and implementation guides need to be validated in real-world settings.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Facilitate acceleration of the practical use of data standards to improve situational awareness for local, state, and federal government public health emergency response.

**Opportunity:** Explore an expanded role for HIEs to support public health data access and exchange.

Public health authorities need to be able to collect and exchange information from clinicians and laboratories for proper reporting in their jurisdictions.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Learn about the successes and remaining barriers to exchange by HIEs to support public health's geographically oriented information needs, including how to optimize, standardize, and potentially expand their role and address regional differences in capacity to address any gaps. Identify approaches to combine data from national HINs to address regional public health data needs.

# **Privacy and Security for Public Health Purposes**

**Opportunity:** Discuss the tradeoffs between increasing interoperability, protecting privacy and security, and ensuring public safety during pandemics.

The COVID-19 pandemic has shed light on existing interoperability barriers; however, concerns exist about how to ensure public safety, privacy, and security when exchanging information between clinical and public health stakeholders.

**Recommended HITAC Activity**: Help clarify what data can be collected in a public health emergency and how it can be used.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Encourage clinical workforce and patient education/re-education on the use of technology for telehealth (including smartphones).

**Opportunity:** Increase clarity on the privacy and security concerns associated with biosurveillance activities.

Technologies that facilitate biosurveillance and contact tracing have raised privacy concerns. Additional clarity is needed about how existing privacy laws affect these technologies.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify educational approaches that offer improved transparency of privacy protections applicable to contact tracing apps and biosurveillance technologies such as contact tracing and exposure notification apps.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Encourage the development of guidance about and harmonization of privacy and security protections of mobile health data used for public health information across varying state and local laws.

# **Vaccine Tracking**

**Opportunity:** Investigate whether predictive analytics can be used to a) aggregate and analyze data to anticipate needs for vaccines among vulnerable and/or high-risk populations, including for flu and COVID-19 prevention, and b) better target outreach, education, and response efforts and strategies.

Existing health IT solutions may help facilitate vaccine tracking to anticipate needs for vaccines among vulnerable and high-risk populations.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify opportunities and barriers for healthcare, home and community-based service, and public health organizations to work together to target vulnerable populations for vaccination campaigns, highlight successful predictive analytics, and assess how health IT can better support a balance of vaccine data being pushed vs. pulled for public health purposes.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Encourage needed improvements to community registries for easier exchange and use, e.g., increased normalization and standardization of data.

# **Patient Matching for Public Health Purposes**

**Opportunity:** Improve patient matching through expanded use of AI while considering privacy and security concerns about AI algorithms, in order to accurately identify patients and locate at-risk individuals.

**Opportunity:** Increase alignment across federal, state, and local public health reporting requirements and guidance to support improved collection and consistency of demographic data.

ONC is developing a report for Congress to outline a path forward on patient matching. The HITAC could assist and accelerate this work to improve patient matching.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Develop tactical recommendations based on ONC's forthcoming Patient Matching Report to Congress, including considerations of expanding the use of AI and related privacy and security concerns as well as increased alignment of government public health reporting requirements and guidance.

#### **Longer-Term Opportunities**

#### **International Exchange of Clinical Data for Public Health Purposes**

**Opportunity:** Share and apply lessons learned across countries about the use of health IT to support public health, e.g., for electronic case reporting.

The ability to share health data with organizations in other countries may have value during the pandemic; however, the legal and operational parameters that support or inhibit this exchange are unclear.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify opportunities and barriers for the use of health IT in support of compliance with international health regulations and international data exchange. Experts to be consulted could include the CDC, WHO, GDHP, Department of Commerce, clinician representatives, and privacy and security experts.

# **TARGET AREA: INTEROPERABILITY**

# Illustrative Story of What the Recommended HITAC Activities Will Enable

An academic medical center wants to use its clinical data for population health purposes and community outreach. It finds that it needs to capture more patient demographic data to be able to identify health disparities and implement community benefit programs. The academic medical center institutes a new process based on recommended best practices to collect standardized, patient-reported demographic data such as race, ethnicity, gender identity, and preferred language. Applying appropriate privacy protections, it then shares this data with social service organizations to improve care and outreach in its service area as well as with public health organizations and state agencies to support public health efforts.

# **Immediate Opportunities**

#### **Exchange of Health Data More Broadly across the Care Continuum**

**Opportunity:** Collect more complete data about patients, which will help clinicians identify risk factors for procedures, offer interventions, and provide targeted care.

Behavioral health and long-term care providers have lower rates of adoption of EHRs and use of HIEs compared to hospitals and ambulatory clinicians. Addressing this gap is important for enabling behavioral health and long-term care providers to successfully participate in the care continuum. Regarding standards, the HITAC's Interoperability Standards Priorities Task Force identified a need for specialty-specific minimum standards to enable closed loop referrals and data exchange between clinicians.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Learn more about recent developments in standards and exchange in the areas of PROs, e.g., 2020 AHRQ report, and SDOH, such as HL7's® Gravity Project.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify and help improve data streams where interoperability is a challenge to sharing broader datasets, especially when a pandemic affects healthcare settings like LTPAC and any transitions to and from those settings. For example, various care settings would benefit from increased consensus on datasets for exchange with that setting.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Leverage the current federally mandated assessment instruments as the basis for a shared, semantically interoperable dataset.

#### Increased Health Equity across Populations, Locations, and Situations

**Opportunity:** Advance requirements to collect and share data about groups experiencing health inequities. This data can be used to support the implementation of culturally and linguistically appropriate health IT solutions.

**Opportunity:** Identify non-traditional sources of health information that could be made interoperable, e.g., primary care doctors receive updates electronically from organizations offering exercise classes for seniors, school clinics, or third-party wellness services.

Standards and requirements regarding data collection to identify individuals who may experience health inequities. Taking a holistic approach to updating data exchange requirements and standards can help promote health equity.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Convene stakeholders, e.g., healthcare organizations, health IT developers, and patient advocacy groups, to discuss:

- a. How to improve collecting and sharing of data that can support identifying and addressing disparities in healthcare, e.g., race codes.
- b. The current state of and potential improvements for the accessibility of consumer-facing health IT by diverse populations.
- c. Non-traditional sources of health information that could be made interoperable to better serve at-risk populations.

# **Exchange of Social Determinants of Health Data**

**Opportunity:** Develop and adopt standards for SDOH data collection, transfer, and integration for population health and individuals' needs.

The collection, transfer, and integration of SDOH data is fragmented and varies significantly. Expanding the use of standards for non-health data presents an opportunity to integrate health and social support systems in healthcare delivery.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Suggest updates on SDOH data for the ONC Patient Engagement Playbook.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Convene a group of stakeholders from healthcare entities, payers, SDOH technology companies, community-based organizations, and standards development projects to understand the state of SDOH data exchange in practice and identify gaps and barriers.

Recommended HITAC Activity: Suggest SDOH data elements for inclusion in the USCDI.

# Coordination of Health IT Standards to Support Interoperability: Priority Uses

**Opportunity:** Building on the prior work of the HITAC, establish an annual process for reviewing and publishing priority uses of health IT and related standards and implementation specifications.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Each year, review and publish priority uses of health IT and related standards and implementation specifications.

#### Coordination of Health IT Standards to Support Interoperability: USCDI

**Opportunity:** A new system exists for individuals to submit suggestions to ONC for consideration for the USCDI, called ONDEC, but some suggestions would benefit from public discussion by the HITAC first.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** As needed, collect and discuss suggestions for consideration for inclusion in the USCDI.

# **Longer-Term Opportunities**

# **Association between EHRs and Patient Safety**

**Opportunity:** Define factors that increase and decrease the safety of health IT that affects patient outcomes.

Health IT can pose patient safety risks, in part due to usability challenges, but factors that increase or decrease these risks are emerging. Highlighting these factors and making information about them publicly available can help organizations consider patient safety as they purchase, implement, and/or upgrade health IT systems.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Review changes that could be made to the Health IT Certification Program to support improvements to EHRs to support patient safety.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Help further define patient safety and any gaps where technology does not support that definition.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Explore the use of health IT in automating the collection and sharing of data about adverse events for drugs and devices.

# **Sharing Data with the Research Community**

**Opportunity:** Increase alignment between the clinical and research health information ecosystems to enable prospective and ongoing research to occur more quickly and effectively.

Current standards used to capture clinical data are not used by the research community, slowing the ability to use data captured for clinical purposes to conduct research and advance medicine's body of knowledge. To realize this potential, clinicians and researchers need standards and systems that support interoperability and the use of clinical data by research stakeholders.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Learn more about gaps in standards needed by the research community, which is accountable to institutional review boards.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify educational approaches that increase awareness and promote the implementation of the research priorities outlined in the National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda.

**Opportunity:** Determine the type(s) of metadata and related standards necessary to facilitate machine-based, clinical data management, including management of exchanged data to reconcile data from multiple sources.

Current metadata standards do not meet the needs of the research and clinical communities, lacking a common nomenclature and use.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify needed metadata standards and potential additions to the USCDI.

# TARGET AREA: PRIVACY AND SECURITY

# Illustrative Story of What the Recommended HITAC Activities Will Enable

Several of an internist's patients have asked her to accept some of the electronic data collected on their fitness trackers so that she can monitor their weight and activity levels as they start new exercise programs. She is hesitant at first because she is not familiar with the privacy and security risks of devices connected to the IoT and how these risks might compromise her EHR system. Luckily, best practices for developers have been identified to increase the privacy and security of health-related data collected from connected devices. Additionally, tools to increase awareness of the risks of connected devices have been made available to healthcare providers. As a result of outreach efforts, the internist accesses relevant guidelines and takes steps to reduce the privacy and security risks of receiving information from the IoT while more effectively partnering with her patients.

#### **Immediate Opportunities**

# **Beyond HIPAA: Rules for Sharing**

**Opportunity:** Support increased transparency and patient education on business practices and other potential uses of patient health data when healthcare organizations share or license data to technology companies.

Healthcare organizations are increasingly sharing or licensing patient information to technology companies to help improve their health IT systems, develop data analytics, and for other purposes, often without patient knowledge or consent.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Define the roles, responsibilities, and operations of various technical actors in the app economy, building on work completed by a past FACA subcommittee.<sup>271</sup> These technical actors include clinicians, developers, and patients.

#### **Beyond HIPAA: Patient Consent**

**Opportunity:** In the near term, improve clarity around patient consent for research and exchange of their data, and further patient understanding of the accuracy and validity of clinical information offered by third-party apps.

Large amounts of health data are generated and collected by entities not subject to HIPAA. Educating patients about the limits of HIPAA protections enables them to make more informed decisions about sharing their health data for research and other purposes.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Suggest steps toward a consistent technical and operational approach to capturing and managing consent.

# **Longer-Term Opportunities**

## **Beyond HIPAA: Rules for Sharing**

**Opportunity:** Support increased transparency and patient education on business practices and other potential uses of patient health data when healthcare organizations share or license data to technology companies.

Healthcare organizations are increasingly sharing or licensing patient information to technology companies to help improve their health IT systems, develop data analytics, and for other purposes, often without patient knowledge or consent.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Learn more about HHS and FTC activities, as well as security approaches of or any security lapses by third-party app developers.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Explore patient and clinician experiences with the sharing of health data with third-party technology companies to continue to identify best practices and gaps.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Review government and industry activities already underway protecting the privacy and security of health data shared with third-party technology companies.

# **Beyond HIPAA: Patient Consent**

**Opportunity:** Over time, improve clarity around patient consent for research and exchange of their data, and further patient understanding of the accuracy and validity of clinical information offered by third-party apps.

Large amounts of health data are generated and collected by entities not subject to HIPAA. Educating patients about the limits of HIPAA protections enables them to make more informed decisions about sharing their health data for research and other purposes.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify educational approaches and potential regulatory solutions that offer improved transparency of privacy protections outside the purview of HIPAA.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Explore ways clinicians can educate patients about the benefits and potential risks of using third-party apps as contemplated by the ONC Cures Act Final Rule and about the need to review and comprehend the apps' privacy policies.

#### **Beyond HIPAA: Internet of Things**

**Opportunity:** Increase awareness of the privacy and security risks of using the IoT to collect health-related data.

Device developers, healthcare entities, and consumers lack knowledge of the vulnerabilities of medical and other devices connected to the IoT.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify best practices for increasing the privacy and security of health-related data collected from connected devices.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Identify educational approaches that increase awareness of the privacy and security issues for health-related data collected from devices connected to the IoT and ways to reduce them.

#### **Synthetic Data**

**Opportunity:** Explore whether the use of synthetic health data raises privacy and security issues and, if so, to what extent.

All could be used to re-identify the actual patient populations on whom synthetic health records are based.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Assess whether the use of synthetic data raises any unintended privacy risks, such as the ability to use AI to re-identify the actual patients on which the synthetic health data are based.

# TARGET AREA: PATIENT ACCESS TO INFORMATION

#### Illustrative Story of What the Recommended HITAC Activities Will Enable

As a result of public deliberation about improving the governance process, data correction requests from patients are addressed more quickly and seamlessly. For example, a patient notices in her patient portal that a medication dosage is listed incorrectly. Fortunately, she can easily report this error to her primary care provider using the portal. Once the provider verifies and corrects the error, the patient's entire care team is automatically notified of the change electronically, including specialists outside her network who use different EHRs. In this case, the correction was made widely within a week of the patient reporting the error rather than over several weeks, if at all. The medication dosage was listed correctly in her medical record the next time she had an appointment with one of her specialists, thereby avoiding the adverse event of a drug-drug interaction.

# **Immediate Opportunities**

# **Safety and Impact of Mobile Health Applications**

**Opportunity:** Provide reliable information about the quality of apps to enable clinicians to advise patients about app use and to empower patients when using apps to make decisions about their care.

As the use of third-party apps grows, regulation and validation of the clinical accuracy will be important to protect patient safety. Expert guidance on clinical information will help ensure that information delivered to patients is accurate and appropriately communicated.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Support the existing efforts of consortia that are working to vet apps based on their safety and accessibility and educate patients about the findings of the consortia. In particular, investigate if frameworks or scorecards for assessing apps exist or are being developed; if so, raise awareness of these efforts.

**Recommended HITAC Activity:** Explore ways the safety of mobile health apps could be enhanced. **Recommended HITAC Activity:** Evaluate the impact of the use of apps (as opposed to the current portal systems) on patient challenges in collecting, accessing, using, and sharing their health data. Areas to consider include the efficacy, patient experience, and remaining challenges of the use of apps.

## Correction of Incorrect Clinical Data and the Ramifications of Exchange of this Data

**Opportunity:** Increase clarity on the applicable statutes and liability that apply to the exchange of incorrect data, and on methods for correction.

Errors in patient information need to be corrected. However, once the data has been shared, it becomes significantly more difficult to determine how to correct it. There are also issues regarding honoring patient requests to correct data and tracking patient corrections.

# Recommended HITAC Activity: Hold a listening session to:

- a. Identify approaches that clinicians and HIEs are taking to correct incorrect data, including incentives for widespread correction.
- b. Discuss liability considerations related to exchanging and correcting incorrect data.
- c. Learn about organizational policies and mechanisms for patients to document change requests, and how data provenance of patient corrections is being tracked.

# Suggestions for Additional HITAC Initiatives

The HITAC did not identify additional target areas or related HITAC initiatives as defined in the Cures Act in FY20. The HITAC will revisit this opportunity in the FY21 annual report.

# Conclusion

The HITAC made significant progress in advancing interoperability, privacy and security, and patient access to information in FY20; however, work remains in these target areas to achieve the full potential using health IT tools to help transform the healthcare sector. In FY21, ONC and the HITAC will continue to focus on advancing the implementation of the health IT provisions of the Cures Act including the EHR Reporting Program and the Trusted Exchange Framework and Common Agreement, as well as address emerging issues including public health-related technology concerns, contributions to the USCDI, and priority uses of health IT and related standards and specifications.

# **Appendices**

# **GLOSSARY**

**2015** Edition Health Information Technology Certification Criteria - The standards and implementation specifications that certified health IT modules would need to include to, at a minimum, support the achievement of meaningful use by eligible clinicians, eligible hospitals, and critical access hospitals under the CMS Promoting Interoperability Programs when such edition is required for use under these programs.

**Application Programming Interface (API)** - A set of tools, definitions, and protocols for building and integrating application software. It lets a product or service communicate with other products and services without needing to know how they are implemented.

**Artificial Intelligence** - The theory and development of computer systems able to perform tasks that normally require human intelligence, such as visual perception, speech recognition, decision making, and translation between languages.

**CDS Hooks** - A technical functionality supporting clinical decision support that enables the creation of standardized places within an EHR workflow where the EHR can issue a notification that an event is occurring. This notification can be received by an external application, which in turn can return pertinent information to the EHR for display to the EHR user.

**Certified Electronic Health Record Technology (CEHRT)** - Electronic health record technology that meets the 2015 Edition Health IT Certification Criteria and is required for use to qualify for the CMS Promoting Interoperability Programs and to receive a score in the Merit-based Incentive Payment System Promoting Interoperability performance category.

**Common Agreement** - A set of terms and conditions for health information exchange between health information networks set by the Recognized Coordination Entity (RCE) as required by the Cures Act.

**Consolidated-Clinical Document Architecture (C-CDA)** - A document standard for the transmission of structured summary data between clinicians, and between clinicians and patients. Transmitted data supports care transitions, referrals, and care coordination.

**Contact Tracing** - The identification, monitoring, and support of a confirmed or probable communicable disease case's close contacts who have been exposed to, and possibly infected with, the disease.

**Covered Entity** - An individual, organization, or agency that must comply with HIPAA requirements to protect the privacy and security of health information and must provide individuals with certain rights to their health information. Examples include a health plan, a health clearinghouse, or a healthcare provider who transmits any information in an electronic form for a transaction for which HHS has adopted a standard.

**Electronic Case Reporting** - The automated, real-time exchange of case report information between electronic health records and public agencies using a shared standards-based, interoperable infrastructure.

**Exchange Purposes** - A proposed subset of payment, healthcare operations, treatment, public health, and benefits determination purposes for which exchange of electronic health information would be governed under the Trusted Exchange Framework and Common Agreement.

**Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)** - A federal law that protects the privacy of student education records. The law applies to all schools that receive funds under an applicable program of the U.S. Department of Education.

Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR®) Standard - An interface specification that specifies the content of the data exchanged between healthcare applications, and how the exchange is implemented

and managed. The data exchanged includes clinical data as well as healthcare-related administrative, public health, and research data.

**Fee-For-Service (FFS)** - A method in which clinicians and other healthcare organizations are reimbursed for each service performed.

**Health Equity** - Achieving fair and just opportunities for all to be as healthy as possible requires removing obstacles to health such as poverty, discrimination, and their consequences, including powerlessness and lack of access to good jobs with fair pay, quality education and housing, safe environments, and healthcare.<sup>272</sup>

**Health Information Exchange (HIE)** - Both the act of moving health data electronically between organizations and an organization that facilitates information exchange. HIEs may be statewide, regional, metropolitan, or organization-specific and may be privately owned or publicly funded.

**Health Information Network (HIN)** - An individual or entity that (a) determines, oversees, or administers policies or agreements that define business, operational, technical, or other conditions or requirements for enabling or facilitating access, exchange, or use of electronic health information between or among two or more unaffiliated individuals or entities; (b) provides, manages, or controls any technology or service that enables or facilitates the exchange of electronic health information between or among two or more unaffiliated individuals or entities; or (c) exercises substantial influence or control with respect to the access, exchange, or use of electronic health information between or among two or more unaffiliated individuals or entities.

**Health Level Seven International (HL7®)** - A not-for-profit, standards developing organization dedicated to providing a comprehensive framework and related standards for the exchange, integration, sharing, and retrieval of electronic health information that supports clinical practice and the management, delivery, and evaluation of health services.

**Information Blocking** - A practice that (a) is likely to interfere with, prevent, or materially discourage access, exchange, or use of electronic health information; and (b) if conducted by a health information technology developer, exchange, or network such developer, exchange, or network knows, or should know, that such practice is likely to interfere with, prevent, or materially discourage the access, exchange, or use of electronic health information; or (c) if conducted by a healthcare provider, such provider knows that such practice is unreasonable and is likely to interfere with, prevent, or materially discourage access, exchange, or use of electronic health information.

**Internet of Things (IoT)** - The networking capability that allows information to be sent to and received from objects and devices (such as medical devices and kitchen appliances) using the Internet.

**Interoperability** - Health information technology that (a) enables the secure exchange of information with, and use of electronic health information from, other health information technology without special effort on the part of the user; (b) allows for complete access, exchange, and use of all electronically accessible health information for authorized use under applicable state or federal law; and (c) does not constitute information blocking as defined in section 3022(a) of the Cures Act.

**Location Tracking** - The use of apps and phone signals, often Bluetooth, to detect potential encounters with a COVID-19 case.

**Logical Observation Identifiers Names and Codes (LOINC)** - A common language (set of identifiers, names, and codes) for identifying health measurements, observations, and documents.

**Medical Device** - An instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, in vitro reagent, or other similar or related article intended for use in the diagnosis of disease or other conditions, or in the cure, mitigation, treatment, or prevention of disease.

**Metadata** - Data about data, or information about information, or the information required to contextualize and understand a given data element.

**Patient-Generated Health Data (PGHD)** - Health-related data created, recorded, or gathered by or from patients (or family members or other caregivers) to help address a health concern.

**Patient Matching** - The process of comparing several demographic data elements from different health IT systems to determine if they refer to the same patient.

**Prescription Drug Monitoring Program (PDMP)** - A statewide electronic database that tracks all controlled substance prescriptions. Authorized users can access prescription data such as medications dispensed and doses.

**Qualified Health Information Network (QHIN)** - A network of organizations working together to share data to implement the Trusted Exchange Framework, having agreed to the Common Agreement.

**Recognized Coordinating Entity (RCE)** - A governance body that will operationalize the Trusted Exchange Framework by incorporating it into a single, all-encompassing Common Agreement to which Qualified HINs will agree to abide.

**Social Determinants of Health (SDOH)** - The conditions in which people are born, grow, work, live, age, and the wider set of forces and systems shaping the conditions of daily life.

**Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine (SNOMED)** - A systematically organized computer processable collection of medical terms providing codes, terms, synonyms, and definitions used in clinical documentation and reporting.

Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 2: Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records (42 CFR Part 2) - A federal rule first promulgated in 1975 to address confidentiality concerns about the use of substance use disorder information in non-treatment-based settings, such as administrative or criminal hearings related to the patient. This law protects the confidentiality of the identity, diagnosis, prognosis, or treatment of any patient records maintained in connection with the performance of any federally assisted program or activity relating to substance abuse education, prevention, training, treatment, rehabilitation, or research.

**Trusted Exchange Framework (TEF)** - A set of principles and minimum required terms and conditions for trusted exchange, as required by the Cures Act.

**Unique Device Identifier (UDI)** - An alphanumeric code that identifies a specific medical device that may be added to relevant records such as patients' health records and insurance claim forms.

**Usability** - The extent to which a product can be used by specified users to achieve specified goals with effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction in a specified context of use.

**U.S. Core Data for Interoperability (USCDI)** - A common set of data classes and data elements that are required for interoperable exchange. The USCDI will be expanded over time.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

**42 CFR Part 2** - Title 42 of the Code of Regulations, Part 2: Confidentiality of Substance Use Disorder Patient Records

ACA - Affordable Care Act

AHRQ - Agency for Health Research and Quality

AI - Artificial Intelligence

AMA - American Medical Association

API - Application Programming Interface

**APM** - Alternative Payment Model

ASPE - Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation

C-CDA - Consolidated-Clinical Document Architecture

CARES Act - The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act

**CCDS** - Common Clinical Data Set

CCPA - California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018

**CDC** - Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

**CDS** - Clinical Decision Support

**CEHRT** - Certified Electronic Health Record Technology

CMS - Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services

**CMS Interoperability Rule** - Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services Interoperability and Patient Access Final Rule

**COVID-19** - Coronavirus

**DEL** - Data Element Library

**DHCoE** - Digital Health Center of Excellence

**DHS** - The United States Department of Homeland Security

**DoD** - The United States Department of Defense

DOJ - The United States Department of Justice

EHI - Electronic Health Information

EHR - Electronic Health Record

**EKG** - Electrocardiogram

**EU** - European Union

FBI - Federal Bureau of Investigation

FCC - Federal Communications Commission

FDA - United States Food and Drug Administration

FERPA - Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act

FFS - Fee-For-Service

FHIR® - Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources

FTC - Federal Trade Commission

FY20 - Fiscal Year 2020

GAO - Government Accountability Office

**GDHP** - Global Digital Health Partnership

**GDPR** - General Data Protection Regulation

**HHS** - United States Department of Health and Human Services

**HIE** - Health Information Exchange

**HIN** - Health Information Network

**HINTS** - Health Information National Trends Survey

HIPAA - Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act

HITAC - Health Information Technology Advisory Committee

HL7® - Health Level Seven International

HRSA - Health Resources & Services Administration

**ICD-10** - 10th Revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems

IoT - Internet of Things

LTPAC - Long-term Post-Acute Care

**LOINC** - Logical Observation Identifiers Names and Codes

NCVHS - National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics

NIH - National Institutes of Health

**NIST** - National Institute of Standards and Technology

**OCR** - Office for Civil Rights

OIG - Office of Inspector General

**OMB** - Office of Management and Budget

ONC - Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology

**ONC-ACB** - ONC-Authorized Certification Body

**ONC Cures Act Final Rule** - 21st Century Cures Act: Interoperability, Information Blocking, and the ONC Health IT Certification Program Final Rule

**OPO** - Organ Procurement Organization

PCOR - Patient-Centered Outcomes Research

**PDMP** - Prescription Drug Monitoring Program

**PGHD** - Patient-Generated Health Data

PHI - Protected Health Information

PRO - Patient-Reported Outcome

**PULSE** - Patient Unified Lookup System for Emergencies

**QHIN** - Qualified Health Information Network

**QTF** - QHIN Technical Framework

RCE - Recognized Coordinating Entity

**SAMHSA** - Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration

**SANER** - Situational Awareness for Novel Epidemic Response

**SDOH** - Social Determinants of Health

SHIELD Act - Stop Hacks and Improve Electronic Data Security Act

**SNOMED** - Systematized Nomenclature of Medicine

SO/GI - Sexual Orientation/Gender Identity

SUD - Substance Use Disorder

**TEF** - Trusted Exchange Framework

TEFCA - Trusted Exchange Framework and Common Agreement

**TMAP** - Technology Modernization Action Plan

**UDI** - Unique Device Identifier

**UPI** - Unique Patient Identifier

**USCDI** - United States Core Data for Interoperability

VA - Department of Veterans Affairs

**VAMS** - Vaccine Administration Management System

WHO - World Health Organization

# **RESOURCE LIST**

#### **ONC Publications**

21st Century Cures Act: Interoperability, Information Blocking, and the ONC Health IT Certification Program Final Rule

Information Blocking and the ONC Health IT Certification Program: Extension of Compliance Dates and Timeframes in Response to the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency

2020-2025 Federal Health IT Strategic Plan

National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda

Patient Matching Report [Placeholder]

Patient Safety Report [Placeholder]

Health IT Data Briefs

Health IT Playbook

COVID-19 Response

# **FY20 HITAC MEMBER LIST**

- Carolyn Petersen, Co-Chair, Individual\*
- Robert Wah, Co-Chair, Individual
- Michael Adcock, Member, Magnolia Health
- Christina Caraballo, Member, Audacious Inquiry\*
- Tina Esposito, Member, Advocate Aurora Health
- Cynthia A. Fisher, Member, PatientRightsAdvocate.org
- Valerie Grey, Member, New York eHealth Collaborative
- Anil K. Jain, Member, IBM Watson Health
- Jim Jirjis, Member, Clinical Services Group of Hospital Corporation of America (HCA)
- John Kansky, Member, Indiana Health Information Exchange
- Kensaku Kawamoto, Member, University of Utah Health
- Steven Lane, Member, Sutter Health
- Leslie Lenert, Member, Medical University of South Carolina
- Arien Malec, Member, Change Healthcare
- Clem McDonald, Member, National Library of Medicine
- Aaron Miri, Member, The University of Texas at Austin, Dell Medical School and UT Health Austin\*
- Brett Oliver, Member, Baptist Health\*
- Terrence O'Malley, Member, Massachusetts General Hospital
- James Pantelas, Member, Individual
- Raj Ratwani, Member, MedStar Health
- Steve L. Ready, Member, Norton Healthcare
- Abby Sears, Member, OCHIN
- Alexis Snyder, Member, Individual
- Sasha TerMaat, Member, Epic
- Andrew Truscott, Member, Accenture
- Sheryl Turney, Member, Anthem, Inc.
- Denise Webb, Member, Individual
- Amy Abernethy, Federal Representative, Food and Drug Administration
- James Ellzy, Federal Representative, Defense Health Agency, Department of Defense
- Adi V. Gundlapalli, Federal Representative, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
- Jonathan Nebeker, Federal Representative, Department of Veterans Health Affairs
- Michelle Schreiber, Federal Representative, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
- Ram Sriram, Federal Representative, National Institute of Standards and Technology
- \* Annual Report Workgroup Member

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

- Michelle Murray, ONC
- Seth Pazinski, ONC
- Lauren Richie, ONC
- Marla Durben Hirsch, Audacious Inquiry
- Katie Iser, Audacious Inquiry
- Maxine LeSaux, Audacious Inquiry
- Kory Mertz, Audacious Inquiry
- Michelle Rubin, Audacious Inquiry

# **REFERENCES**

- <sup>1</sup> The Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT. (2020). *Enforcement Discretion*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/curesrule/resources/enforcement-discretion">https://www.healthit.gov/curesrule/resources/enforcement-discretion</a>
- <sup>2</sup> The Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT. (2020, October 29). HHS Extends Compliance Dates for Information Blocking and Health IT Certification Requirements in 21st Century Cures Act Final Rule. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/10/29/hhs-extends-compliance-dates-information-blocking-health-it-certification-requirements-21st-century-cures-act-final-rule.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/10/29/hhs-extends-compliance-dates-information-blocking-health-it-certification-requirements-21st-century-cures-act-final-rule.html</a>
- <sup>3</sup> Berry, M. (2020, May 26). A Look Ahead: Year Two for ONC and the Recognized Coordinating Entity for TEFCA. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/a-look-ahead-year-two-for-onc-and-the-recognized-coordinating-entity-for-tefca">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/a-look-ahead-year-two-for-onc-and-the-recognized-coordinating-entity-for-tefca</a>
- <sup>4</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020). 2020-2025 Federal Health IT Strategic Plan. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/2020-2025FederalHealthIT%20StrategicPlan\_0.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/2020-2025FederalHealthIT%20StrategicPlan\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>5</sup> Pazinski, S., Karras, P., Zayas Cabán, T. & Chaney, K. (2020, May 7). *Mapping the Path Forward in Health IT*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/mapping-the-path-forward-in-health-it/6">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/mapping-the-path-forward-in-health-it/6</a> Anthony, E., Pazinski, S., & Karras, P. (2020, May 7). *Mapping the Path Forward in Health IT*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/2020-2025-federal-health-it-strategic-plan-is-now-available">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/2020-2025-federal-health-it-strategic-plan-is-now-available</a>
- <sup>7</sup> Gettinger, A. & Mason, A. (2020, February 21). *Final Report Delivers a Strategy to Reduce EHR Burden*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/final-report-delivers-a-strategy-to-reduce-ehr-burden">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/final-report-delivers-a-strategy-to-reduce-ehr-burden</a>
  <sup>8</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020). *Strategy on Reducing Regulatory and Administrative Burden Relating to the Use of Health IT and EHRs*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-02/BurdenReport\_0.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-02/BurdenReport\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>9</sup> Zayas Cabán, T., Chaney, K., & Rucker, R. (2020, February 24). *ONC Releases National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/onc-releases-national-health-it-priorities-for-research-a-policy-and-development-agenda">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/onc-releases-national-health-it-priorities-for-research-a-policy-and-development-agenda</a>
- <sup>10</sup> Garcia, S., Chaney, K., Okubo, T., Freimuth, R., & Zayas Cabán, T. (2020, April 9). *Clinical Genomics Data for Precision Medicine*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/precision-medicine-initiative/clinical-genomics-data-for-precision-genomics-data-for-precision-genomics-data-for-precision-
- <sup>11</sup> Chaney, K., Okubo, T., Sim, I., & Zayas Cabán, T. (2020, April 9). Standards for Everyday Life: Integrating Emerging Health Data to Advance Precision Medicine. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/precision-medicine-initiative/standards-for-everyday-life-integrating-emerging-health-data-to-advance-precision-medicine">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/precision-medicine-initiative/standards-for-everyday-life-integrating-emerging-health-data-to-advance-precision-medicine</a>
- Sadigh, G., Carlos, R.C., Krupinski, E.A., Meltzer, C.C., & Duszak, R. (2017). Health Care Price Transparency and Communication: Implications for Radiologists and Patients in an Era of Expanding Shared Decision Making.
   American Journal of Roentgenology. 209(959-964). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28742372">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28742372</a>
   Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2019, November 27). Final Rule: Medicare and Medicaid Programs: CY 2020 Hospital Outpatient PPS Policy Changes and Payment Rates and Ambulatory Surgical Center Payment System Policy Changes and Payment Rates. Price Transparency Requirements for Hospitals To Make Standard Charges Public. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2019/11/27/2019-24931/medicare-and-medicaid-programs-cy-2020-hospital-outpatient-pps-policy-changes-and-payment-rates-and-</a>
- <sup>14</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, May 11). Fiscal Year (FY) 2021 Medicare Hospital Inpatient Prospective Payment System (IPPS) and Long Term Acute Care Hospital (LTCH) Proposed Rule (CMS-1735-P). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/fiscal-year-fy-2021-medicare-hospital-inpatient-prospective-payment-system-ipps-and-long-term-acute">https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/fiscal-year-fy-2021-medicare-hospital-inpatient-prospective-payment-system-ipps-and-long-term-acute</a>
- <sup>15</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, October 29). *CMS Completes Historic Price Transparency Initiative*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/cms-completes-historic-price-transparency-initiative">https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/cms-completes-historic-price-transparency-initiative</a>
- <sup>16</sup> Jason, C. (2020, May 18). *How Patients Benefit from DoD, VA Health Information Exchange*. Retrieved from <a href="https://ehrintelligence.com/news/how-patients-benefit-from-dod-va-health-information-exchange">https://ehrintelligence.com/news/how-patients-benefit-from-dod-va-health-information-exchange</a>
- <sup>17</sup> Office for Civil Rights. (2020, October 9). *OCR Settles Ninth Investigation in HIPAA Right of Access Initiative*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/10/09/ocr-settles-ninth-investigation-hipaa-right-access-initiative.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/10/09/ocr-settles-ninth-investigation-hipaa-right-access-initiative.html</a>
- <sup>18</sup> Sullivan, T. (2019, February 19). *DOJ slams Greenway with \$57 million False Claims fine*. Retrieved from https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/doj-slams-greenway-57-million-false-claims-fine

- <sup>19</sup> U.S Department of Justice. (2020, January 27). *Electronic Health Records Vendor to Pay \$145 Million to Resolve Criminal and Civil Investigations*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/electronic-health-records-vendor-pay-145-million-resolve-criminal-and-civil-investigations-0">https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/electronic-health-records-vendor-pay-145-million-resolve-criminal-and-civil-investigations-0</a>
- <sup>20</sup> National Institutes of Health. (n.d.). All of Us Research Hub. Retrieved from https://www.researchallofus.org/
- <sup>21</sup> National Institutes of Health. (n.d.). *All of Us Research Hub Data Snapshots*. Retrieved from https://www.researchallofus.org/data/data-snapshots/
- <sup>22</sup> Brennan, P. (2019, July 30). *Accelerating Innovation in Science*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from https://nlmdirector.nlm.nih.gov/2019/07/30/accelerating-innovation-in-science/
- <sup>23</sup> Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. (2019, September 9). AHRQ Encourages Use of Fast Healthcare Interoperability Resources (FHIR®) Standard. Retrieved from <a href="https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-HS-19-020.html">https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-HS-19-020.html</a>
- <sup>24</sup> Office of The Director, National Institutes of Health. (2020, July 30). *Accelerating Clinical Care and Research through the Use of the United States Core Data for Interoperability (USCDI)*. Retrieved from <a href="https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-20-146.html">https://grants.nih.gov/grants/guide/notice-files/NOT-OD-20-146.html</a>
- <sup>25</sup> U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2019). *FDA's Technology Modernization Action Plan (TMAP)*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fda.gov/media/130883/download">https://www.fda.gov/media/130883/download</a>
- <sup>26</sup> U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2020, September 22). *FDA Launches the Digital Health Center of Excellence*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-launches-digital-health-center-excellence">https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-launches-digital-health-center-excellence</a>
- <sup>27</sup> Posnack, S. (2020, March 30). *Calling all COVID-19 Health IT Projects*. [Web blog post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/interoperability/calling-all-covid19-health-it-projects">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/interoperability/calling-all-covid19-health-it-projects</a>
- <sup>28</sup> Office for Civil Rights. (2020, March 26). *OCR Announces Notification of Enforcement Discretion for Telehealth Remote Communications During the COVID-19 Nationwide Public Health Emergency*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/17/ocr-announces-notification-of-enforcement-discretion-for-telehealth-remote-communications-during-the-covid-19.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/17/ocr-announces-notification-of-enforcement-discretion-for-telehealth-remote-communications-during-the-covid-19.html</a>
- <sup>29</sup> Office for Civil Rights (2020, March 24). *OCR Issues Guidance to Help Ensure First Responders and Others Receive Protected Health Information about Individuals Exposed to COVID-19*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/24/ocr-issues-guidance-to-help-ensure-first-responders-and-others-receive-protected-health-information-about-individuals-exposed-to-covid-19.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/24/ocr-issues-guidance-to-help-ensure-first-responders-and-others-receive-protected-health-information-about-individuals-exposed-to-covid-19.html</a>
- <sup>30</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020). *Health IT Playbook*. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/playbook/
- <sup>31</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, April 1). *New ICD-10-CM code for the 2019 Novel Coronavirus* (COVID-19). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/icd/Announcement-New-ICD-code-for-coronavirus-3-18-2020.pdf?fbclid=lwAR1W4E21-xZbEJdSG-RFewVZmuM72GGhiE2QIRyur\_CPStp14uAa8gzhRXw">https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/icd/Announcement-New-ICD-code-for-coronavirus-3-18-2020.pdf?fbclid=lwAR1W4E21-xZbEJdSG-RFewVZmuM72GGhiE2QIRyur\_CPStp14uAa8gzhRXw</a>
- <sup>32</sup> Lee, J. (2020, April 15). *Delaware Health Information Network: Current Efforts, Progress to Date.* Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/2020-04-15\_Jan\_Lee\_DHIN\_Presentation\_508.pdf
- <sup>33</sup> LaPointe, J. (2020, December 16). *Key Considerations for COVID-19 Vaccine Billing and Coding*. Retrieved from <a href="https://revcycleintelligence.com/news/key-considerations-for-covid-19-vaccine-billing-and-coding">https://revcycleintelligence.com/news/key-considerations-for-covid-19-vaccine-billing-and-coding</a>
- <sup>34</sup> O'Reilly, K. (2020, December 18). CPT Codes for new coronavirus vaccines: What you need to know. Retrieved from https://www.ama-assn.org/practice-management/cpt/cpt-codes-new-coronavirus-vaccines-what-you-need-know <sup>35</sup> Pence, M. (2020, March 29). Text of a Letter from the Vice President to Hospital Administrators. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/text-letter-vice-president-hospital-administrators/">https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/text-letter-vice-president-hospital-administrators/</a>
- <sup>36</sup> Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2020). *Centers for Medicare and Medicaid COVID-19 NHSN Reporting Requirements for Nursing Homes*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/pdfs/covid19/ltcf/cms-covid19-req-508.pdf">https://www.cdc.gov/nhsn/pdfs/covid19/ltcf/cms-covid19-req-508.pdf</a>
- <sup>37</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, September 2). *Interim Final Rule: Medicare and Medicaid Programs, Clinical Laboratory Improvement Amendments (CLIA), and Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act; Additional Policy and Regulatory Revisions in Response to the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/09/02/2020-19150/medicare-and-medicaid-programs-clinical-laboratory-improvement-amendments-clia-and-patient">https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/09/02/2020-19150/medicare-and-medicaid-programs-clinical-laboratory-improvement-amendments-clia-and-patient</a>
- <sup>38</sup> Jerchich, K. (2020, May 27). *Hospitals facing big hurdles to public health data reporting.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/hospitals-facing-big-hurdles-public-health-data-reporting">https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/hospitals-facing-big-hurdles-public-health-data-reporting</a>
- <sup>39</sup> Bazzoli, F. (2020, June 25). *SANER Project Using HLT FHIR to Enable Easier Reporting for Public Health*. Retrieved from <a href="https://blog.hl7.org/saner-project-using-hl7-fhir-to-enable-easier-reporting-for-public-health-reports">https://blog.hl7.org/saner-project-using-hl7-fhir-to-enable-easier-reporting-for-public-health-reports</a>
- <sup>40</sup> Raths, D. (2020, March 20). *Some HIEs Stepping Up to Play Key Role in COVID-19 Response*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/interoperability-hie/health-information-exchange-hie/article/21130588/some-hies-stepping-up-to-play-key-role-in-covid19-response">https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/interoperability-hie/health-information-exchange-hie/article/21130588/some-hies-stepping-up-to-play-key-role-in-covid19-response</a>
- <sup>41</sup> Cidon, D. (2020, May 11). Why COVID-19 is a Breakout Moment for HIEs. Retrieved from https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2020/05/11/why-covid-19-is-a-breakout-moment-for-hies/

- <sup>42</sup> Transcript from Health Information Technology Advisory Committee COVID-19 Pandemic Response Hearing. (2020, April 15). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/2020-04-15\_HITAC\_Transcript\_508\_0.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/2020-04-15\_HITAC\_Transcript\_508\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>43</sup> Boufides, C.H. et al (2020, June 22). *FAQ: COVID-19 and Health Data Privacy*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.networkforphl.org/resources/faqs-covid-19-and-health-data-privacy/">https://www.networkforphl.org/resources/faqs-covid-19-and-health-data-privacy/</a>
- <sup>44</sup> Mostashari, F. & McClellan, M. (2020, June). *Data Interoperability and Exchange to Support COVID-19 Containment*. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/sites/default/files/2020-06/data\_interoperability\_and\_exchange\_to\_support\_covid-19\_containment\_final.pdf">https://healthpolicy.duke.edu/sites/default/files/2020-06/data\_interoperability\_and\_exchange\_to\_support\_covid-19\_containment\_final.pdf</a>
- <sup>45</sup> Office for Civil Rights. (2020, December 18). HIPAA, Health Information Exchanges, and Disclosures of Protected Health Information for Public Health Purposes. Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/hie-faqs.pdf
  <sup>46</sup> Romm, T., Harwell, D., Swoskin, E., & Timberg, C. (2020, April 10). Apple, Google debut major effort to help people track if they've come in contact with coronavirus. Retrieved from https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/04/10/apple-google-tracking-coronavirus/
- <sup>47</sup> Frey, M. (2020, June 10). *Apps designed to keep COVID-19 out of offices may spur privacy concerns*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/apps-designed-to-keep-covid-19-out-of-offices-may-spur-privacy-concerns-58929618">https://www.spglobal.com/marketintelligence/en/news-insights/latest-news-headlines/apps-designed-to-keep-covid-19-out-of-offices-may-spur-privacy-concerns-58929618</a>
- <sup>48</sup> Albergotti, R. (2020, September 1). *Apple and Google expand coronavirus warning software*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/09/01/apple-google-exposure-notification-express">https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/09/01/apple-google-exposure-notification-express</a>
  <sup>49</sup> Jerchich, K. (2020, June 16). Survey says majority of Americans won't use COVID-19 contact-tracing apps. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/survey-says-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-tracing-majority-americans-wont-use-covid-19-contact-tracing-
- <sup>50</sup> Albergotti, R. & Harwell, D. (2020, May 15). *Apple and Google are building a virus-tracking system. Health officials say it will be practically useless.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/05/15/app-apple-google-virus/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/05/15/app-apple-google-virus/</a>
- <sup>51</sup>Associated Press. (2020, December 6). *Few adopting Apple Google COVID-19 exposure apps*. Retrieved from https://www.modernhealthcare.com/technology/few-adopting-apple-google-covid-19-exposure-apps
- <sup>52</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, March 17). *Medicare Telemedicine Health Care Provider Fact Sheet*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/medicare-telemedicine-health-care-provider-fact-sheet">https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/fact-sheets/medicare-telemedicine-health-care-provider-fact-sheet</a>
- <sup>53</sup> Leventhal, R. (2020, April 24). *Telehealth Visits Surging Due to COVID-19, Survey of Physicians Finds*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/covid-19/news/21135528/telehealth-visits-surging-due-to-covid19-survey-of-physicians-finds">https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/covid-19/news/21135528/telehealth-visits-surging-due-to-covid19-survey-of-physicians-finds</a>
- <sup>54</sup> Mehrotra, A. (2020, May 19). What Impact Has COVID-19 Had on Outpatient Visits? Retrieved from <a href="https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/2020/apr/impact-covid-19-outpatient-visits">https://www.commonwealthfund.org/publications/2020/apr/impact-covid-19-outpatient-visits</a>
- <sup>55</sup> Verma, S. (2020, July 17). *The telemedicine genie is out of the bottle*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/healthcare/507874-the-telemedicine-genie-is-out-of-the-bottle?linkld=94458453">https://thehill.com/blogs/congress-blog/healthcare/507874-the-telemedicine-genie-is-out-of-the-bottle?linkld=94458453</a>
- <sup>56</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, October 14). *Trump Administration Drives Telehealth Services in Medicaid and Medicare*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/trump-administration-drives-telehealth-services-medicaid-and-medicare">https://www.cms.gov/newsroom/press-releases/trump-administration-drives-telehealth-services-medicaid-and-medicare</a>
- <sup>57</sup> Leventhal, R. (2020, June 30). *340 Healthcare Organizations Urge Congress to Make Telehealth Flexibilities*\*\*Permanent. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/population-health-management/telehealth/news/21144313/340-healthcare-organizations-urge-congress-to-make-telehealth-flexibilities-permanent">https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/population-health-management/telehealth/news/21144313/340-healthcare-organizations-urge-congress-to-make-telehealth-flexibilities-permanent</a>
- <sup>58</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, December 28). Medicare Program; CY 2021 Payment Policies Under the Physician Fee Schedule and Other Changes to Part B Payment Policies; Medicare Shared Savings Program Requirements; Medicaid Promoting Interoperability Program Requirements for Eligible Professionals; Quality Payment Program; Coverage of Opioid Use Disorder Services Furnished by Opioid Treatment Programs; Medicare Enrollment of Opioid Treatment Programs; Electronic Prescribing for Controlled Substances for a Covered Part D Drug; Payment for Office/Outpatient Evaluation and Management Services; Hospital IQR Program; Establish New Code Categories; Medicare Diabetes Prevention Program (MDPP) Expanded Model Emergency Policy; Coding and Payment for Virtual Check-in Services Interim Final Rule Policy; Coding and Payment for Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Interim Final Rule Policy; Regulatory Revisions in Response to the Public Health Emergency (PHE) for COVID-19; and Finalization of Certain Provisions from the March 31st, May 8th and September 2nd Interim Final Rules in Response to the PHE for COVID-19. Retrieved from
- https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/12/28/2020-26815/medicare-program-cy-2021-payment-policies-under-the-physician-fee-schedule-and-other-changes-to-part

- <sup>59</sup> Wicklund, E. (2020, June 26). CMS Makes Moves to Make COVID-19 Home Health Telehealth Expansion Permanent. Retrieved from https://mhealthintelligence.com/news/cms-moves-to-make-covid-19-home-healthtelehealth-expansion-permanent
- 60 Siwicki, B. (2020, July 7). Cloud-based telehealth, linked with Epic EHR, helps one hospital scale up virtual care. Retrieved from https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/how-one-physician-practice-was-transformed-ehr-embeddedtelehealth
- 61 Health Information Technology, Evaluation and Quality Center. (2020, July 6). Telehealth & Telemedicine Resources. Retrieved from https://hiteqcenter.org/Resources/Telehealth-Telemedicine
- 62 Drees, J. (2020, November 18). The challenges & tech needed for COVID-19 vaccine distribution: 7 things to know. Retrieved from https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/digital-transformation/the-challenges-tech-neededfor-covid-19-vaccine-distribution-7-things-to-know.html
- 63 Tahir, D. & Roubein, R. (2020). Trump officials rush to introduce untested vaccine tracking system. Retrieved from https://www.politico.com/news/2020/09/12/trump-vaccine-tracking-system-412968
- <sup>64</sup> Mulcahy, S., Rosenzweig-Ziff, D., & Livingston, A. (2020, December 31). The Texas Tribune. *Eligible Texans* can't get answers about the COVID-19 vaccine. Retrieved from https://www.texastribune.org/2020/12/31/texascoronavirus-vaccine-rollout/
- 65 Jercich, K. (2021, January 14). States rely on wide range of IT systems to manage COVID-19 vaccines. Retrieved from https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/states-rely-wide-range-it-systems-manage-covid-19-vaccines
- 66 Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2014, February 7). Patient Identification and Matching Final Report. Retrieved from
- https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/patient identification matching final report.pdf
- <sup>67</sup> Hamilton, J. (2020, April 15). Public Health Surveillance Needs for the COVID-19 Response Data: Elemental to Health. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/2020-04-15\_Janet\_Hamilton\_CSTE\_Presentation\_508.pdf
- 68 Moscovitch, B. (2019, September 6). Standardized Demographic Data Improve Patient Matching in Electronic Health Records. Retrieved from https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issuebriefs/2019/09/standardized-demographic-data-improve-patient-matching-in-electronic-health-records
- <sup>69</sup> United States Congress. (2020). Explanatory Statement of the House of Representatives Subcommittee on Labor, Health and Human Services, Education, and Related Agencies on HR 116-62. Washington: U.S. Govt. Print. Off. Retrieved from https://docs.house.gov/billsthisweek/20191216/BILLS-116HR1865SA-JES-DIVISION-A.pdf
- <sup>70</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020, June 09). ONC Patient Identity and Matching Working Session. [web transcript] Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/news/events/onc-patient-identityand-matching-working-session
- 71 Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020, September 16). ONC Working Session #2: Patient Identity and Matching. [web transcript]. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/news/events/oncworking-session-2-patient-identity-and-matching
  72 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). COVID-19 Map and Travel Notices. Retrieved from
- https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/travelers/map-and-travel-notices.html
- <sup>73</sup> Braiki, A. (2020). Global healthcare needs to speak a common language to tackle the challenge of COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.healthcareitnews.com/blog/europe/global-healthcare-needs-speak-common-languagetackle-challenge-covid-19
  74 The Commons Project. (2020). CommonPass. Retrieved from <a href="https://thecommonsproject.org/commonpass">https://thecommonsproject.org/commonpass</a>
- <sup>75</sup> Moorthy, V., Restrpo, A., Preziosi, M., & Swaminathan, S. (2020, March). Data Sharing for Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), Retrieved from <a href="https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/98/3/20-251561/en/">https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/98/3/20-251561/en/</a> Pylpchuk, Y., Johnson, C., & Patel, V. (2020). State of Interoperability among US Non-federal Acute Care
- Hospitals. (ONC Data Brief no. 51). Washington, DC: Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-03/State-of-Interoperability-among-US-Non-federal-Acute-Care-Hospitals-in-2018.pdf
- <sup>78</sup> Patel, V., Pylypchuk, Y., Parasrampuria, S., & Kachay, L. (2019, May). *Interoperability among Office-Based* Physicians in 2015 and 2017. (ONC Data Brief no. 47) Washington, DC: Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2019-05/ONC-Data-Brief-47-Interoperability-among-Office-Based-Physicians-in-2015-and-2017.pdf
- <sup>79</sup> Butler, M. (2018). Health IT Vendors, Software Developers Look to Streamline Automated Organ Donation Process. Journal of American Health Information Management Association. Retrieved from https://iournal.ahima.org/health-it-vendors-software-developers-look-to-streamline-automated-organ-donationprocess/

- 80 Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network. (2020, March 27). Transcript from Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network Data Advisory Committee Meeting Summary. Retrieved from <a href="https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/media/3752/20200327\_dac\_minutes.pdf">https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/media/3752/20200327\_dac\_minutes.pdf</a>
- <sup>81</sup> Easterling, K. (2019, September 17). *Overcoming the Interoperability Gap in Home Health & Hospice*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.homecaremag.com/september-2019/interoperability-home-health">https://www.homecaremag.com/september-2019/interoperability-home-health</a>
- <sup>82</sup> Barker, W. & Johnson, C. (2020, July). Variation in Methods for Health Information Management among U.S. Substance Abuse Treatment Centers, 2017. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-06/substance-abuse-treatment-center-health-information-management-2017.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-06/substance-abuse-treatment-center-health-information-management-2017.pdf</a>
  <sup>83</sup> Ibid
- <sup>84</sup> Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. *Data Element Library*. (2020, June 1). Retrieved from <a href="https://del.cms.gov/DELWeb/pubHome">https://del.cms.gov/DELWeb/pubHome</a>
- <sup>85</sup> Connor, B., Wickiser, L., Hall, E. P., Dougherty, M., & Hill, D. (2019, March 19). *CMS and ONC: Enabling Data Interoperability Across the Continuum*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Outreach/NPC/Downloads/2019-03-19-Data-Interoperability-Presentation.pdf">https://www.cms.gov/Outreach-and-Education/Outreach/NPC/Downloads/2019-03-19-Data-Interoperability-Presentation.pdf</a>
- <sup>86</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology.(2020, November 6). A Path Toward Further Clinical and Administrative Data Integration: Final Report and Recommendations to the HITAC, Prepared by the Intersection of Clinical and Administrative Data Task Force. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/ICAD\_TF\_FINAL\_Report\_HITAC\_2020-11-06\_0.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/ICAD\_TF\_FINAL\_Report\_HITAC\_2020-11-06\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>87</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. (2020, May 1). *Medicare and Medicaid Programs; Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act; Interoperability and Patient Access for Medicare Advantage Organization and Medicaid Managed Care Plans, State Medicaid Agencies, CHIP Agencies and CHIP Managed Care Entities, Issuers of Qualified Health Plans on the Federally-Facilitated Exchanges, and Health Care Providers.* Retrieved from https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/05/01/2020-05050/medicare-and-medicaid-programs-patient-protection-and-affordable-care-act-interoperability-and
- <sup>88</sup> Khanna, G. (2020, July 31). *New Advances in Collecting and Using Patient-Reported Outcome Data*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ahrq.gov/news/blog/ahrqviews/prism-app.html">https://www.ahrq.gov/news/blog/ahrqviews/prism-app.html</a>
- <sup>89</sup> Miller, H., & Paytchev, V. (2019, January). *White Paper: 360 Exchange Closed Loop Referral and Beyond.*Retrieved from <a href="https://www.interoperabilityshowcase.org/sites/interoperabilityshowcase/files/medallies">https://www.interoperabilityshowcase.org/sites/interoperabilityshowcase/files/medallies</a> white paper 360 exchange closed loop referral and beyond final 1.9.19 v3.pdf
- 90 The PACIO Project. (2020). About the PACIO Project. Retrieved from http://pacioproject.org/about
- <sup>91</sup> Mandl, S. (n.d.) *Data Standardization: Looking Forward in Post-Acute Care.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/121213">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/121213</a> StellaMandlPresentation.pdf
- <sup>92</sup> Health Equity. (2020, March 11). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/healthequity/index.htm">https://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/healthequity/index.htm</a>
- <sup>93</sup> CMS Office of Minority Health. (2015, September). The CMS Equity Plan for Improving Quality in Medicare. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/About-CMS/Agency-Information/OMH/OMH\_DwnId-CMS">https://www.cms.gov/About-CMS/Agency-Information/OMH/OMH\_DwnId-CMS</a> EquityPlanforMedicare 090615.pdf
- <sup>94</sup> Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services EHR Incentive Program. (2014, May). *Eligible Professional Meaningful Use Core Measures, Measure 7 of 13*Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cms.gov/regulations-and-guidance/legislation/ehrincentiveprograms/downloads/7">https://www.cms.gov/regulations-and-guidance/legislation/ehrincentiveprograms/downloads/7</a> record demographics.pdf
- <sup>95</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology Interoperability Standards Advisory. (2020). Representing Patient Race and Ethnicity. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/isa/representing-patient-race-and-ethnicity">https://www.healthit.gov/isa/representing-patient-race-and-ethnicity</a>
- <sup>96</sup> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2020, June 4). *HHS Announces New Laboratory Data Reporting Guidance for COVID-19 Testing*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/06/04/hhs-announces-new-laboratory-data-reporting-guidance-for-covid-19-testing.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/06/04/hhs-announces-new-laboratory-data-reporting-guidance-for-covid-19-testing.html</a>
- <sup>97</sup> National Association of State and Territorial AIDS Directors. (2017, June 8). *Modernizing Programs to Collect Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity Data.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nastad.org/sites/default/files/sogi.issue">https://www.nastad.org/sites/default/files/sogi.issue</a> .brief .final .pdf
- 98 Caiazza, T. (2015, October 7). STATEMENT: New HHS Rules Require Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity Data Collection in Electronic Health Records Program. Retrieved from
- https://www.americanprogress.org/press/statement/2015/10/07/122884/statement-new-hhs-rules-require-sexual-orientation-and-gender-identity-data-collection-in-electronic-health-records-program/
- <sup>99</sup> Sutter, M..E., Schabath, M. B., & Quinn, G.P. (2018, December 28). Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity Disclosure in Emergency Departments. Retrieved from
- https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2719569?resultClick=1
- <sup>100</sup> Mayes, B. (2020). *New Jersey is falling behind on SOGI data collection*. Retrieved from https://www.gardenstateeguality.org/sogidatamap

- <sup>101</sup> Morris, M. A. & Hasnain-Wynia, R. (2014). A Research Agenda for Documenting Disability Status within Healthcare Organizations to Address Disparities in Care. *Journal For Healthcare Quality, 36*(2), 7-13. doi:10.1111/jhq.12059
- The Gravity Project. (2020, July 24). Retrieved from <a href="https://confluence.hl7.org/display/GRAV/The+Gravity+Project">https://confluence.hl7.org/display/GRAV/The+Gravity+Project</a>
   Ibid
- <sup>104</sup> The Gravity Project. (2020, July 7). *Food Insecurity Domain*. Gravity SDOH Domain Workstream. Retrieved from <a href="https://confluence.hl7.org/pages/viewpage.action?pageld=55938680">https://confluence.hl7.org/pages/viewpage.action?pageld=55938680</a>
- <sup>105</sup> Center for Open Data Enterprise. (2019). Leveraging Data on the Social Determinants of Health Roundtable Report. Retrieved from <a href="http://reports.opendataenterprise.org/Leveraging-Data-on-SDOH-Summary-Report-FINAL.pdf">http://reports.opendataenterprise.org/Leveraging-Data-on-SDOH-Summary-Report-FINAL.pdf</a>
  <sup>106</sup> Leventhal, R. (2020, January, 29). HIEs Increasingly Connecting With Community, Social Service Organizations, Survey Finds. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/interoperability-hie/health-information-exchange-hie/news/21123356/hies-increasingly-connecting-with-community-social-service-organizations-survey-finds">https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/interoperability-hie/health-information-exchange-hie/news/21123356/hies-increasingly-connecting-with-community-social-service-organizations-survey-finds</a>
  <sup>107</sup> Ratwani, R.M. (2020). Modest Progress on the Path to Electronic Health Record Medication Safety. JAMA Network Open. 3(5):e206665. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.6665
- <sup>108</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020). *Strategy on Reducing Regulatory and Administrative Burden Relating to the Use of Health IT and EHRs*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-02/BurdenReport\_0.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-02/BurdenReport\_0.pdf</a>
- <sup>109</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2015). 2015 Edition Final Rule: Advancing Patient Safety. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/factsheets/factsheet-safety-12-3-15.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/factsheet-safety-12-3-15.pdf</a>
  <sup>110</sup> Ratwani, R.M. (2020). Modest Progress on the Path to Electronic Health Record Medication Safety. JAMA Network Open. 3(5):e206665. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.6665
- 111 Ramos, C., Blavin, F., Johnston, E. et al. (2020). What Comparative Information Is Needed for the EHR Reporting Program? Priorities Identified Through The Stakeholder Engagement Process. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-comparative-information-needed-ehr-reporting-program/view/full\_report">https://www.urban.org/research/publication/what-comparative-information-needed-ehr-reporting-program/view/full\_report</a>
- 112 The Urban Institute. (2020, October 13). *Electronic Health Record Reporting Program Voluntary User-Reported Criteria*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.urban.org/research/publication/electronic-health-record-reporting-program-voluntary-user-reported-criteria">https://www.urban.org/research/publication/electronic-health-record-reporting-program-voluntary-user-reported-criteria</a>
- 113 Office of the National Coordinator for Health IT (2018). General Instructions for the SAFER Self-Assessment Guides. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/safer/guides/safer\_high\_priority\_practices.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/safer/guides/safer\_high\_priority\_practices.pdf</a>
  114 NIH Collaboratory. (2015). Acquiring and Using Electronic Health Record Data. Retrieved from <a href="https://rethinkingclinicaltrials.org/resources/acquiring-and-using-electronic-health-record-data/#:~:text=The%20use%20of%20EHR%20data%20collected%20during%20the%20course%20of,be%20secondarily%20used%20for%20research.
- 115 Chisolm, R., Denny, J., Fridsma, D. et. al. (n.d.) *Opportunities and Challenges related to the use of Electronic Health Records data for research*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nih.gov/sites/default/files/research-training/initiatives/pmi/opportunities-challenges-electronic-health-records.pdf">https://www.nih.gov/sites/default/files/research-training/initiatives/pmi/opportunities-challenges-electronic-health-records.pdf</a>
- Nitkin, K. (2019, May 8). Using Epic for Research at Johns Hopkins: Tips and Resources. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/office-of-johns-hopkins-physicians/best-practice-news/using-epic-for-research-at-johns-hopkins-tips-and-resources">https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/office-of-johns-hopkins-physicians/best-practice-news/using-epic-for-research-at-johns-hopkins-tips-and-resources</a>
   Cabán, T.Z., Chaney, K., & Rucker, D. (2020, February 24). ONC Releases National Health IT Priorities for
- 117 Cabán, T.Z., Chaney, K., & Rucker, D. (2020, February 24). ONC Releases National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/onc-releases-national-health-it-priorities-for-research-a-policy-and-development-agenda">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/onc-releases-national-health-it-priorities-for-research-a-policy-and-development-agenda</a>
  118 Ibid
- <sup>119</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Making EHR Data More Available for Research and Public Health*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/csels/phio/making-ehr-data-more-available.html">https://www.cdc.gov/csels/phio/making-ehr-data-more-available.html</a>.
- <sup>120</sup> Banger, A., Rizk, S., Bagwell, J. et. al. (2020, January 15). National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/PolicyandDevelopmentAgenda.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/PolicyandDevelopmentAgenda.pdf</a>
- <sup>121</sup> Federated learning. (2020, December 17). In *Wikipedia*. Retrieved from https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Federated\_learning
- 122 Drolet, B.C. & Johnson, K.B. (2008, December). *Categorizing the world of registries*. J Biomed Inform. 41:1009-20, 2008. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.01.009
- 123 CDISC Standards in the Clinical Research Process. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.cdisc.org/standards
- <sup>124</sup> Ndikom, A. & Wang, L. (2017). *Clinical Metadata management with the DCISC mindset.* Retrieved from https://www.phusewiki.org/docs/Conference%202017%20SI%20Papers%20NEW/SI02.pdf

- <sup>125</sup> Barrett, M., DeAngelo, T.R., & DeAngelo, J.G. (2020, April 9). *E-Discovery: Metadata Analysis in Medical Malpractice Litigation*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.law.com/thelegalintelligencer/2020/04/09/e-discovery-metadata-analysis-in-medical-malpractice-litigation/?slreturn=20200825101709">https://www.law.com/thelegalintelligencer/2020/04/09/e-discovery-metadata-analysis-in-medical-malpractice-litigation/?slreturn=20200825101709</a>
- Patel, V., Pylypchuk, Y., Parasrampuria, S., & Kachay, L. (2019, May). Interoperability among Office-Based Physicians in 2015 and 2017. (ONC Data Brief no. 47) Washington, DC: Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2019-05/ONC-Data-Brief-47-Interoperability-among-Office-Based-Physicians-in-2015-and-2017.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2019-05/ONC-Data-Brief-47-Interoperability-among-Office-Based-Physicians-in-2015-and-2017.pdf</a>
- <sup>127</sup> Adler-Milstein J. & Wang, M. (2020). The impact of transitioning from availability of outside records within electronic health records to integration of local and outside records within electronic health records. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics* Association. 27(4):606-612. Retrieved from <a href="https://academic.oup.com/jamia/article-abstract/27/4/606/5782094?redirectedFrom=fulltext">https://academic.oup.com/jamia/article-abstract/27/4/606/5782094?redirectedFrom=fulltext</a>
- <sup>128</sup> Health Level Seven International. (n.d.). *HL7*® *FHIR*® *Accelerator Program.* Retrieved from https://www.hl7.org/about/fhir-accelerator/
- <sup>129</sup> Food and Drug Administration Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research. (2020, July 1). *Unique Device Identification: Policy Regarding Compliance Dates for Class I and Unclassified Devices and Certain Devices Requiring Direct Marking*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fda.gov/media/110564/download">https://www.fda.gov/media/110564/download</a>
- <sup>130</sup> Federation of State Medical Boards. (n.d.) *Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs State-by-State Overview*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.fsmb.org/siteassets/advocacy/key-issues/prescription-drug-monitoring-programs-by-state.pdf">http://www.fsmb.org/siteassets/advocacy/key-issues/prescription-drug-monitoring-programs-by-state.pdf</a>
- 131 Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2019). *Health IT for the Care Continuum*. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/facas/2019-03-29\_HITCC\_MeetingSlides\_508.pdf
- <sup>132</sup> Holmgren, A. & Apathy, N. (2020). Evaluation of Prescription Drug Monitoring Program Integration With Hospital Electronic Health Records by US County-Level Opioid Prescribing Rates. *JAMA Network Open.* 3(6):e209085 Retrieved from <a href="https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2767691">https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2767691</a>
- 133 Government Accountability Office. (2020, October 1). Prescription Drug Monitoring Programs: Views on Usefulness and Challenges of Programs. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/710/709907.pdf
   134 Health Level Seven International. (2018). CDS Hooks Overview. Retrieved from https://cds-hooks.org/
- <sup>135</sup> Hussain, M., Nelson, A., Yeung, B. et al. (2020). How the presentation of patient information and decision-support advisories influences opioid prescribing behavior: A simulation study. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*. doi:https://core.ac.uk/reader/287623950.
- <sup>136</sup> Raths, D. (2020). AHRQ Projects Developing Clinical Decision Support Tools for Shared Decision-Making about Chronic Pain Care. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/clinical-it/clinical-decision-support/article/21121603/ahrq-projects-developing-clinical-decision-support-tools-for-shared-decisionmaking-about-chronic-pain-care">https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/clinical-it/clinical-decision-support-article/21121603/ahrq-projects-developing-clinical-decision-support-tools-for-shared-decisionmaking-about-chronic-pain-care</a>
- <sup>137</sup> Department of Health and Human Services. (2020, March 9). *HHS Finalizes Historic Rules to Provide Patients More Control of Their Health Data*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/09/hhs-finalizes-historic-rules-to-provide-patients-more-control-of-their-health-data.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/09/hhs-finalizes-historic-rules-to-provide-patients-more-control-of-their-health-data.html</a>
- Reuter, E. (2020, March 9). *In final interoperability rules, HHS seeks balance between privacy and freedom.* Med City News. Retrieved from <a href="https://medcitynews.com/2020/03/in-final-interoperability-rules-hhs-seeks-balance-between-privacy-and-freedom/?rf=1">https://medcitynews.com/2020/03/in-final-interoperability-rules-hhs-seeks-balance-between-privacy-and-freedom/?rf=1</a>
- Tas Department of Health and Human Services. (2016). Examining Oversight of the Privacy & Security of Health Data Collected by Entities Not Regulated by HIPAA. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/non-covered\_entities\_report\_june\_17\_2016.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/non-covered\_entities\_report\_june\_17\_2016.pdf</a>
- 140 Davis, J. (2019, October 22). HHS Clarifies HIPAA Liability Around Third-Party Health Apps. Health IT Security.
   Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitsecurity.com/news/hhs-clarifies-hipaa-liability-around-third-party-health-apps">https://healthitsecurity.com/news/hhs-clarifies-hipaa-liability-around-third-party-health-apps</a>
   141 Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act. H.R. 748, 116th Cong.

(2020.)https://www.congress.gov/bill/116th-congress/house-bill/748/text

- <sup>142</sup> Terry, N., Goldstein, M., & Nahra, K. (2020, June 8). *COVID-19: Substance Use Disorder, Privacy And The CARES Act.* Health Affairs Blog. Retrieved from
- https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20200605.571907/full/?utm\_medium=social&utm\_source=twitter&utm\_campaign=blog&utm\_content=Terry
- 143 Department of Health and Human Services (2020, July 13). Substance Abuse Health Privacy Rule 42 CFR Part 2 Is Revised, Modernizing Care Coordination for Americans Seeking Treatment for Substance Use Disorders. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/07/13/health-privacy-rule-42-cfr-part-2-revised-modernizing-care-coordination-americans-seeking-treatment.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/07/13/health-privacy-rule-42-cfr-part-2-revised-modernizing-care-coordination-americans-seeking-treatment.html</a>
  144 Department of Health and Human Services (2019, December 19). Updated Joint Guidance on Privacy and
- <sup>144</sup> Department of Health and Human Services (2019, December 19). *Updated Joint Guidance on Privacy and Student Education and Health Records*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2019/12/19/updated-joint-guidance-privacy-and-student-education-and-health-records.html">https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2019/12/19/updated-joint-guidance-privacy-and-student-education-and-health-records.html</a>

<sup>145</sup> Department of Health and Human Services and Department of Education. (2019, December). Joint Guidance on the Application of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) And the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) To Student Health Records. Retrieved from

https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/2019-hipaa-ferpa-joint-guidance-508.pdf

- <sup>146</sup> Cassagnol, D. (2019, September 12). *CTA Releases Industry-Developed Privacy Guidelines on Health Data.* [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://cta.tech/News/Press-Releases/2019/September/CTA-Releases-Industry-Developed-Privacy-Guidelines.aspx">https://cta.tech/News/Press-Releases/2019/September/CTA-Releases-Industry-Developed-Privacy-Guidelines.aspx</a>
- <sup>147</sup> eHealth Initiative. (2020, February 12). *eHI & CDT launch Collaborative to Build a Consumer Privacy Framework for Health Data*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ehidc.org/node/6023">https://www.ehidc.org/node/6023</a>
- <sup>148</sup> American Medical Association. (2020, May 11). *AMA issues new principles to restore trust in data privacy.* [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ama-assn.org/press-center/press-releases/ama-issues-new-principles-restore-trust-data-privacy">https://www.ama-assn.org/press-center/press-releases/ama-issues-new-principles-restore-trust-data-privacy</a>
- <sup>149</sup> Fagan, M., Megas, K., Scarfone, K., & Smith, M. (2020, May 29). *Foundational Cybersecurity Activities for IoT Device Manufacturers*. Retrieved from <a href="https://csrc.nist.gov/publications/detail/nistir/8259/final">https://csrc.nist.gov/publications/detail/nistir/8259/final</a>
- <sup>150</sup> Food and Drug Administration, Center for Devices and Radiological Health. (2018). *Digital Health Cybersecurity*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/digitalhealth/ucm373213.htm">www.fda.gov/medicaldevices/digitalhealth/ucm373213.htm</a>
- <sup>151</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2019). 21st Century Cures Act: Interoperability, Information Blocking, and the ONC Health IT Certification Program. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR2019-03-04/pdf/2019-02224.pdf">https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR2019-03-04/pdf/2019-02224.pdf</a>
- <sup>152</sup> Ascension. (2019, November 11). *Ascension and Google working together on healthcare transformation*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ascension.org/News/News-Articles/2019/11/11/19/51/Ascension-and-Google-working-together-on-healthcare-transformation">https://www.ascension.org/News/News-Articles/2019/11/11/19/51/Ascension-and-Google-working-together-on-healthcare-transformation</a>
- <sup>153</sup> Shaukat, T. (2019, November 11). *Inside Google Cloud: Our Partnership with Ascension* [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://cloud.google.com/blog/topics/inside-google-cloud/our-partnership-with-ascension">https://cloud.google.com/blog/topics/inside-google-cloud/our-partnership-with-ascension</a>
- <sup>154</sup> Landi, H. (2020, March 4). Google defends use of patient data on Capitol Hill among scrutiny of Ascension deal. Fierce Healthcare. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/tech/senators-pressing-ascension-google-data-deal-as-tech-giant-defends-its-use-patient-records">https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/tech/senators-pressing-ascension-google-data-deal-as-tech-giant-defends-its-use-patient-records</a>
- <sup>155</sup> Ross, C. (2020, June 3). At Mayo Clinic, sharing patient data with companies fuels AI innovation and concerns about consent. STAT. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.statnews.com/2020/06/03/mayo-clinic-patient-data-fuels-artificial-intelligence-consent-">https://www.statnews.com/2020/06/03/mayo-clinic-patient-data-fuels-artificial-intelligence-consent-</a>
- concerns/?utm\_campaign=KHN%3A%20Daily%20Health%20Policy%20Report&utm\_medium=email&\_hsmi=889100 15&\_hsenc=p2ANqtz-\_-
- GKCqnBdgg2go535 HiYmN3hjFNO6ENt9ZYpu7TJTjE6XDjQAbgObpKB0Xm3TEe1dWlzbsSh4TFmiuVH07zu2aTQc aA&utm\_content=88910015&utm\_source=hs\_email
- <sup>156</sup> Langley, H. (2020, April 6). *The DoJ is scrutinizing Google's \$2.1 billion Fitbit acquisition because of how much personal information it will get.* Business Insider. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.businessinsider.com/googles-fitbit-deal-more-scrutiny-from-the-justice-department-2020-4">https://www.businessinsider.com/googles-fitbit-deal-more-scrutiny-from-the-justice-department-2020-4</a>
- <sup>157</sup> Davis, J. (2020 January 7). *Health Tech Slowed by Privacy, Security Concerns*. Health IT Security. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitsecurity.com/news/consumer-adoption-of-health-tech-slowed-by-privacy-security-concerns">https://healthitsecurity.com/news/consumer-adoption-of-health-tech-slowed-by-privacy-security-concerns</a>
- <sup>158</sup> United States Government Accountability Office, Center for Science, Technology, and Engineering. (2017). Internet of Things: Status and implications of an increasingly connected world. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/684590.pdf
- <sup>159</sup> Sciforce. (2019). *IoT in Healthcare: Are We Witnessing a New Revolution?* Retrieved from https://medium.com/sciforce/iot- in-healthcare-are-we-witnessing-a-new-revolution-6bb0ecf55991
- 160 United States Government Accountability Office, Center for Science, Technology, and Engineering. (2017). Internet of Things: Status and implications of an increasingly connected world. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/684590.pdf
- <sup>161</sup> Insider Intelligence. (2020, January 6). *The security and privacy issues that come with the Internet of Things*. Business Insider. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.businessinsider.com/iot-security-privacy">https://www.businessinsider.com/iot-security-privacy</a>
- <sup>162</sup> Federal Trade Commission. (2015). *Internet of Things: Privacy & Security in a Connected World*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/events-calendar/2013/11/internet-things-privacy-security-connected-world">https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/events-calendar/2013/11/internet-things-privacy-security-connected-world</a>
- <sup>163</sup> Shindell, R.,(2017, September 6). HIPAA Privacy & Security Compliance: The Dirty Little Secret About Medical Device Security, Today's Wound Clinic. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.todayswoundclinic.com/articles/hipaa-privacy-security-compliance-dirty-little-secret-about-medical-device-security">https://www.todayswoundclinic.com/articles/hipaa-privacy-security-compliance-dirty-little-secret-about-medical-device-security</a>
- <sup>164</sup> O'Connor, Y., Rowan, W., Lynch, L., & Heavin, C. (2017). *Privacy by Design: Informed Consent and Internet of Things for Smart Health.* The 7th International Conference on Current and Future Trends of Information and Communication Technologies in Healthcare. Retrieved from
- https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1877050917317398

- <sup>165</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020). *Synthetic Health Data Generation to Accelerate Patient-Centered Outcomes Research*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/topic/research-evaluation/synthetic-health-data-generation-accelerate-patient-centered-outcomes">https://www.healthit.gov/topic/research-evaluation/synthetic-health-data-generation-accelerate-patient-centered-outcomes</a>
- <sup>166</sup> Na, L., Yang, C., Lo, C., et. al. (2018). Feasibility of Reidentifying Individuals in Large National Physical Activity Data Sets From Which Protected Health Information Has Been Removed With Use of Machine Learning. JAMA Network Open, 1(8). doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.6040
- <sup>167</sup> About SyntheticMass. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://synthea.mitre.org/about
- <sup>168</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2020, March 30). *Synthetic Health Data Generation to Accelerate Patient-Centered Outcomes Research*. Retrieved from
- https://www.healthit.gov/topic/research-evaluation/synthetic-health-data-generation-accelerate-patient-centered-outcomes
- <sup>169</sup> Rebhan, A. (2019, November 19). *How and why health organizations are using synthetic health care data.* The Advisory Board. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.advisory.com/research/health-care-it-advisor/it-forefront/2019/11/synthetic-health-data">https://www.advisory.com/research/health-care-it-advisor/it-forefront/2019/11/synthetic-health-data</a>
- Lund, J. (2020, January 31, last updated 2020, May 20). What is GDPR and How Does It Impact Your Business?.
   [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.superoffice.com/blog/gdpr/">https://www.superoffice.com/blog/gdpr/</a>
   Uzialko, A. (2020, February 4). How GDPR is Impacting Business and What to Expect in 2020. Business News
- <sup>172</sup> Uzialko, A. (2020, February 4). *How GDPR is Impacting Business and What to Expect in 2020*. Business News Daily. Retrieved from <a href="https://newsoncompliance.com/how-gdpr-is-impacting-business-and-what-to-expect-in-2020/">https://newsoncompliance.com/how-gdpr-is-impacting-business-and-what-to-expect-in-2020/</a> <sup>173</sup> Ibid
- <sup>174</sup> Ravia, H., Hammer, D., & Shoval, A. (2020, June 30). *United States: Google's Appeal Dismissed, Will Pay a* €50 *Million Fine for GPDR Violations*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.mondaq.com/unitedstates/data-protection/960340/google39s-appeal-dismissed-will-pay-a-50-million-fine-for-gdpr-violations?email\_access=on">https://www.mondaq.com/unitedstates/data-protection/960340/google39s-appeal-dismissed-will-pay-a-50-million-fine-for-gdpr-violations?email\_access=on</a>
- <sup>175</sup> Promulgation of the Amendment Act of The Act on the Protection of Personal Information, etc., Personal Information Protection Commission, Japan. (2020, June 12). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ppc.go.jp/en/news/archives/2020/20200618/">https://www.ppc.go.jp/en/news/archives/2020/20200618/</a>
- <sup>176</sup> Ng, A. (2020, March 21). *Coronavirus pandemic changes how your privacy is protected.* cnet.com. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cnet.com/health/coronavirus-pandemic-changes-how-your-privacy-is-protected/">https://www.cnet.com/health/coronavirus-pandemic-changes-how-your-privacy-is-protected/</a>
- <sup>177</sup> George Washington University (n.d.). *Health Information and the Law*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.healthinfolaw.org/state">http://www.healthinfolaw.org/state</a>
- <sup>178</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2019, August 21). State Health IT Privacy and Consent Laws and Policies. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/topic/state-health-it-privacy-and-consent-laws-and-policies">https://www.healthit.gov/topic/state-health-it-privacy-and-consent-laws-and-policies</a>
- <sup>179</sup> Hedges, R.J. & Gottehrer, G.L. (2019, May 1). *Beyond HIPAA: Examining Data Privacy Laws at the State Level.* Journal of AHIMA. Retrieved from <a href="https://journal.ahima.org/beyond-hipaa-examining-data-privacy-laws-at-the-state-level/">https://journal.ahima.org/beyond-hipaa-examining-data-privacy-laws-at-the-state-level/</a>
- Terman, R. (2020, July 1). *California begins enforcing digital privacy law, despite calls for delay*. The Washington Post. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/07/01/ccpa-enforcement-california/">https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2020/07/01/ccpa-enforcement-california/</a>
- <sup>181</sup> Jones Day, Worldwide: *Jones Day Global Privacy & Cybersecurity Update*. Vol. 25 (2020, 11 May). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.mondaq.com/unitedstates/data-protection/930480/jones-day-global-privacy-cybersecurity-update-vol-25-?email access=on">https://www.mondaq.com/unitedstates/data-protection/930480/jones-day-global-privacy-cybersecurity-update-vol-25-?email access=on</a>
- <sup>182</sup> Trowell, K.K. (2020, April 9). New York's 'SHIELD' Act Amendments: Impacts and Implications for the Healthcare Industry. Davis, Wright Tremaine LLP [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.dwt.com/blogs/privacy--security-law-blog/2020/04/new-yorks-shield-act-amendments">https://www.dwt.com/blogs/privacy--security-law-blog/2020/04/new-yorks-shield-act-amendments</a>
- <sup>183</sup> Matheny, M., Israni, S.T., Ahmed, M. & Whicher, D., Editors (2019). *Artificial Intelligence in Health Care: The Hope, the Hype, the Promise, the Peril.* NAM Special Publication, National Academy of Medicine. Retrieved from <a href="https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Al-in-Health-Care-PREPUB-FINAL.pdf">https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Al-in-Health-Care-PREPUB-FINAL.pdf</a>
- <sup>184</sup> Garcia, S. (2020, March 31). *The Application of Machine Learning to Address Kidney Disease*. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/the-application-of-machine-learning-to-address-kidney-disease">https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/the-application-of-machine-learning-to-address-kidney-disease</a>
- <sup>185</sup> Matheny, M., Israni, S.T., Ahmed, M. & Whicher, D., Editors (2019). *Artificial Intelligence in Health Care: The Hope, the Hype, the Promise, the Peril.* NAM Special Publication, National Academy of Medicine. Retrieved from <a href="https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Al-in-Health-Care-PREPUB-FINAL.pdf">https://nam.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Al-in-Health-Care-PREPUB-FINAL.pdf</a>
- 186 Smith, A. (2020, April 8). *Using Artificial Intelligence and Algorithms*. Federal Trade Commission. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/blogs/business-blog/2020/04/using-artificial-intelligence-algorithms">https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/blogs/business-blog/2020/04/using-artificial-intelligence-algorithms</a>
  187 Food and Drug Administration. *Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Software as a Medical Device*
- <sup>187</sup> Food and Drug Administration. *Artificial Intelligence and Machine Learning in Software as a Medical Device* (content current as of 2020, January 28). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/software-medical-device-samd/artificial-intelligence-and-machine-learning-software-medical-device">https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/software-medical-devices/software-medical-device</a>

- <sup>188</sup> Cohen, J.K. (2019). *Al can re-identify de-identified health data, study finds*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/artificial-intelligence/ai-can-re-identify-de-identified-health-data-study-finds.html">https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/artificial-intelligence/ai-can-re-identify-de-identified-health-data-study-finds.html</a>
- Oscislawski, H. (2020, April 30). Are Lawsuits for Violations of HIPAA's Deidentification Standards About to Take
   Off and What Can You Do About it? Legal Health Information Exchange. Retrieved from
   https://www.legalhie.com/are-lawsuits-for-violations-of-hipaas-de-identification-standards-about-to-take-off-and-what-can-you-do-about-it/
   Calhoun, P.S. & Carreiro, P.M. (2020, April 16). De-Identified data exception in HIPAA poses a litigation risk.
- 190 Calhoun, P.S. & Carreiro, P.M. (2020, April 16). De-Identified data exception in HIPAA poses a litigation risk.
   STAT. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.statnews.com/2020/04/16/de-identified-data-exception-hipaa-litigation-risk/">https://www.statnews.com/2020/04/16/de-identified-data-exception-hipaa-litigation-risk/</a>
   191 Davis, J. (2020, February 13). Ransomware Attacks Cost Health Care at Least \$160M Since 2016. Health IT Security. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitsecurity.com/news/ransomware-attacks-cost-healthcare-sector-at-least-160m-since-2016">https://healthitsecurity.com/news/ransomware-attacks-cost-healthcare-sector-at-least-160m-since-2016</a>
- <sup>192</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation, Cyber Division. (2020, April 21). *FBI Flash:* COVID-19 *Email Phishing Against US Healthcare Providers*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.aha.org/system/files/media/file/2020/04/fbi-alert-tlp-white-covid-19-email-phishing-against-us-healthcare-providers-4-21-2020.pdf">https://www.aha.org/system/files/media/file/2020/04/fbi-alert-tlp-white-covid-19-email-phishing-against-us-healthcare-providers-4-21-2020.pdf</a>
- <sup>193</sup> Alert AA20-126A: *APT Groups Target Healthcare and Essential Services*. (2020, May 5). Joint Alert from the United States Department of Homeland Security (DHS) Cybersecurity and Infrastructure Security Agency (CISA) and the United Kingdom's National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.us-cert.gov/ncas/alerts/AA20126A">https://www.us-cert.gov/ncas/alerts/AA20126A</a>
- <sup>194</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2020, March 3). FDA Informs Patients, Providers and Manufacturers About Potential Cybersecurity Vulnerabilities in Certain Medical Devices with Bluetooth Low Energy. [Press release].
  Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fbi.gov/contact-us/field-offices/boston/news/press-releases/fbi-warns-of-teleconferencing-and-online-classroom-hijacking-during-covid-19-pandemic">https://www.fbi.gov/contact-us/field-offices/boston/news/press-releases/fbi-warns-of-teleconferencing-and-online-classroom-hijacking-during-covid-19-pandemic</a>
- <sup>195</sup> Davis, J. (2020, June 22). *DHS CISA: Serious Vulnerabilities Found in 6 Medical Device Systems*. Health IT Security. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitsecurity.com/news/dhs-cisa-serious-vulnerabilities-found-in-6-medical-device-systems">https://healthitsecurity.com/news/dhs-cisa-serious-vulnerabilities-found-in-6-medical-device-systems</a>
- <sup>196</sup> Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2020 March 30). *FBI Warns of Teleconferencing and Online Classroom Hijacking During Covid-19 Pandemic*. [Press release]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.fbi.gov/contact-us/field-offices/boston/news/press-releases/fbi-warns-of-teleconferencing-and-online-classroom-hijacking-during-covid-19-pandemic">https://www.fbi.gov/contact-us/field-offices/boston/news/press-releases/fbi-warns-of-teleconferencing-and-online-classroom-hijacking-during-covid-19-pandemic</a>
- <sup>197</sup> Davis, J. (2020, June 5). *Voicemails of Remote Workers Targeted in New Phishing Campaign*. Health IT Security. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitsecurity.com/news/voicemails-of-remote-workers-targeted-in-new-phishing-campaign">https://healthitsecurity.com/news/voicemails-of-remote-workers-targeted-in-new-phishing-campaign</a>
  <sup>198</sup> PwC Health Research Institute. (2019, December). *Top health industry issues of 2020: Will digital start to show an ROI?*Retrieved from <a href="https://www.pwc.com/us/en/industries/health-industries/assets/pwc-us-health-top-health-issues.pdf">https://www.pwc.com/us/en/industries/health-industries/assets/pwc-us-health-top-health-issues.pdf</a>
- <sup>199</sup> Davis, J. (2019, November 4). *90% Healthcare Providers Still Rely on Fax Machines, Posing Privacy Risk.* Health IT Security. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitsecurity.com/news/90-healthcare-providers-still-rely-on-fax-machines-posing-privacy-risk">https://healthitsecurity.com/news/90-healthcare-providers-still-rely-on-fax-machines-posing-privacy-risk</a>
- <sup>200</sup> Hung, C. (2020, April 28). *New Healthcare Interoperability Solution Leverages Age-Old Technology*. Healthcare IT Today. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2020/04/28/new-healthcare-interoperability-solution-leverages-age-old-">https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2020/04/28/new-healthcare-interoperability-solution-leverages-age-old-</a>
- technology/#:~:text=Despite%20repeated%20attempts%20to%20axe,information%20while%20layering%20on%20ne
- w/201 Medical Device Coordination Group. (2019, December). *Guidance on Cybersecurity for medical devices*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/docsroom/documents/38941
- <sup>202</sup> Ajunwa, I., Gaddis, A., & McCormick, J. (2020, March 11). Evolving public views on the value of one's DNA and expectation for genomic database governance: Results from a national survey. PLoS ONE 15(3): e0229044. Retrieved from <a href="https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0229044">https://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0229044</a>
- <sup>203</sup> Kent, J. (2020, March 13). *More than 50% of People Expect Compensation for Genomic Data Sharing.* Health IT Analytics. Retrieved from <a href="https://healthitanalytics.com/news/more-than-50-of-people-expect-compensation-for-genomic-data-sharing">https://healthitanalytics.com/news/more-than-50-of-people-expect-compensation-for-genomic-data-sharing</a>
- <sup>204</sup> Patel, V. & Johnson, C. (2019). *Trends in Individuals' Access and Use of Online Medical Records and Technology for Health Needs: 2017-2018.* (ONC Data Brief, no.48). Washington, DC: Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2019-05/Trends-in-Individuals-Access-Viewing-and-Use-of-Online-Medical-Records-and-Other-Technology-for-Health-Needs-2017-2018.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2019-05/Trends-in-Individuals-Access-Viewing-and-Use-of-Online-Medical-Records-and-Other-Technology-for-Health-Needs-2017-2018.pdf</a>

- 205 Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (2020). The ONC Cures Act Final Rule. (Fact Sheet). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/cures/sites/default/files/cures/2020-03/TheONCCuresActFinalRule.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/cures/sites/default/files/cures/2020-03/TheONCCuresActFinalRule.pdf</a>
- <sup>206</sup> Patients Seek Better Exchange of Health Data Among Their Care Providers (Issue brief). (2020, March 17). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2020/03/patients-seek-better-exchange-of-health-data-among-their-care-providers">https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2020/03/patients-seek-better-exchange-of-health-data-among-their-care-providers</a>
- <sup>207</sup> U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2020, March 9). *HHS Finalizes Historic Rules to Provide Patients More Control of Their Health Data*. [Press release]. Retrieved from
- https://www.hhs.gov/about/news/2020/03/09/hhs-finalizes-historic-rules-to-provide-patients-more-control-of-their-health-data.html
- <sup>208</sup> The CARIN Alliance. Trust Framework and Code of Conduct. (n.d.). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.carinalliance.com/our-work/trust-framework-and-code-of-conduct/">https://www.carinalliance.com/our-work/trust-framework-and-code-of-conduct/</a>
- <sup>209</sup> The CARIN Alliance. (2020, May 27). *The CARIN Alliance Launches "My Health Application"*. [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.carinalliance.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/CARIN-Blog-05.27.2020.pdf
- <sup>210</sup> Wicklund, E. (2019). *Xcertia Releases New mHealth App Guidelines, Adding 3 Categories*. Retrieved from https://mhealthintelligence.com/news/xcertia-releases-new-mhealth-app-guidelines-adding-3-categories
- <sup>211</sup> About PsyberGuide. (2018). In *PsyberGuide*. Retrieved from <a href="https://psyberguide.org/about-psyberguide/">https://psyberguide.org/about-psyberguide/</a>
- <sup>212</sup> About Page. (n.d.). In Ranked Health. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.rankedhealth.com/about/">http://www.rankedhealth.com/about/</a>
- <sup>213</sup> Akbar, S., Coiera, E. & Magrabi, F. (2020). Safety concerns with consumer-facing mobile health applications and their consequences: a scoping review, *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association*, 27(2), 330–340. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz175
- <sup>214</sup> Ibid
- <sup>215</sup> Ibid
- <sup>216</sup> Muoio, D. (2020, March 11). *CVS Health program for PBM clients adds five new digital health programs*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.mobihealthnews.com/news/cvs-health-program-pbm-clients-adds-five-new-digital-health-programs">https://www.mobihealthnews.com/news/cvs-health-program-pbm-clients-adds-five-new-digital-health-programs</a>
- <sup>217</sup> Spitzer, J. (2020). Medical Record Errors are Common, Hard to Fix, Report Finds. *Becker's Health IT*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/ehrs/medical-record-errors-are-common-hard-to-fix-report-finds.html">https://www.beckershospitalreview.com/ehrs/medical-record-errors-are-common-hard-to-fix-report-finds.html</a>.
- <sup>218</sup> Bell, S., Delbanco, T. & Elmore, J. (2020). Frequency and Types of Patient-reported Errors in Electronic Health Record Ambulatory Care Notes. *JAMA Network Open.* 3(6). Retrieved from <a href="https://iamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2766834">https://iamanetwork.com/journals/jamanetworkopen/fullarticle/2766834</a>
- <sup>219</sup> Graham, J. (2018). *Check your Medical Records for Dangerous Errors*. Retrieved from https://khn.org/news/check-your-medical-records-for-dangerous-errors/
- <sup>220</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. *Patient-Generated Health Data.* (2018, March 21). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/topic/scientific-initiatives/patient-generated-health-data">https://www.healthit.gov/topic/scientific-initiatives/patient-generated-health-data</a>
- <sup>221</sup> Seshadri, D.R., Davies, E.V., Harlow, E.R., Hsu, J.J., Knighton, S.C., Walker T.A., Voos J.E., & Drummond, C.K. (2020). *Wearable Sensors for COVID-19: A Call to Action to Harness Our Digital Infrastructure for Remote Patient Monitoring and Virtual Assessments.* Front. Digit. Health 2:8. doi: 10.3389/fdgth.2020.00008
- <sup>222</sup> Lavallee, D., Lee, J, Austin, E., et.al. (2020, January 5). *mHealth and patient generated health data: stakeholder perspectives on opportunities and barriers for transforming healthcare.* mHealth, 6, 8. <a href="https://doi.org/10.21037/mhealth.2019.09.17">https://doi.org/10.21037/mhealth.2019.09.17</a>
- Frisbee, K. (2020, May 12). VA leads on using patient-generated data to positively impact a Veterans health care. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthtechmagazines.com/va-leads-on-using-patient-generated-data-to-positively-impact-a-veterans-health-care/">https://www.healthtechmagazines.com/va-leads-on-using-patient-generated-data-to-positively-impact-a-veterans-health-care/</a>
- Department of Veterans Affairs. (2020, April 10). Watches provide health care connections for Veterans. [Web log post]. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.blogs.va.gov/VAntage/73661/watches-provide-health-care-connections-veterans/">https://www.blogs.va.gov/VAntage/73661/watches-provide-health-care-connections-veterans/</a>
  Patel, N. (2020, May 7). The US has no idea how to manage all the testing data it's collecting. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.technologyreview.com/2020/05/07/1001311/how-to-manage-coronavirus-testing-data-collection-management-reporting-state-health-departments/">https://www.technologyreview.com/2020/05/07/1001311/how-to-manage-coronavirus-testing-data-collection-management-reporting-state-health-departments/</a>
- <sup>226</sup> Raths, D. (2020, July 22). *Pandemic Reveals Public Health Data Infrastructure Shortcomings*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/policy-value-based-care/public-health/article/21147049/pandemic-reveals-public-health-data-infrastructure-shortcomings">https://www.hcinnovationgroup.com/policy-value-based-care/public-health/article/21147049/pandemic-reveals-public-health-data-infrastructure-shortcomings</a>
- <sup>227</sup> Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Adult Vaccination Records.* (2016, May 2). Retrieved from <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/adults/vaccination-records.html">https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/adults/vaccination-records.html</a>
- <sup>228</sup> Johnson, S. (2019, February 2). *Predictive analytics may ease the burden of flu outbreaks*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20190202/NEWS/190139981/predictive-analytics-may-ease-the-burden-of-flu-outbreaks">https://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20190202/NEWS/190139981/predictive-analytics-may-ease-the-burden-of-flu-outbreaks</a>
- <sup>229</sup> Jercich, K. (2020, August 31). *Accurate Patient Matching is Even More Vital Amidst the Covid-19 Crisis, Say Industry Groups*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/accurate-patient-matching-even-more-vital-amidst-covid-19-crisis-say-industry-groups">https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/accurate-patient-matching-even-more-vital-amidst-covid-19-crisis-say-industry-groups</a>

- <sup>230</sup> Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology. (2014, February 7). *Patient Identification and Matching Final Report*. Retrieved from
- https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/patient\_identification\_matching\_final\_report.pdf 
  231 lbid
- <sup>232</sup> Frieden, J. (2020, February 13). *Health Groups Press for Solution to Patient Matching Problem.* Retrieved from https://www.medpagetoday.com/publichealthpolicy/healthpolicy/84882
- <sup>233</sup> Probst, M. (2020, June 9). ONC Patient Identity and Matching Working Session. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/news/events/onc-patient-identity-and-matching-working-session
- <sup>234</sup> Christian, C. (2020, June 9). ONC Patient Identity and Matching Working Session. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/news/events/onc-patient-identity-and-matching-working-session">https://www.healthit.gov/news/events/onc-patient-identity-and-matching-working-session</a>
- <sup>235</sup> Rising, J. (2019, May 31). *RE: RIN 0955-AA01: 21st Century Cures Act: Interoperability, Information Blocking, and the ONC Health IT Certification Program.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=HHS-ONC-2019-0002-1301">https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=HHS-ONC-2019-0002-1301</a>
- <sup>236</sup> Posnack, S. (2020, December 1). Say "Hey!" to Project US@ a Unified Specification for Address in Health Care. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/health-it/say-hey-to-project-us-a-unified-specification-for-address-in-health-care
- <sup>237</sup> Vandeweerd, S. (2019, October 7). SNF Setback: Acute Care Providers Share Limited Data when Transferring Patients to Post-Acute Care. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2019/10/07/snf-setback-acute-care-providers-share-limited-data-when-transferring-patients-to-post-acute-care/">https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2019/10/07/snf-setback-acute-care-providers-share-limited-data-when-transferring-patients-to-post-acute-care/</a>
- <sup>238</sup> Vandeweerd, S. (2019). *It's Time for Hospitals and Skilled Nursing Facilities to Break Down Patient Data Silos*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2019/10/21/its-time-for-hospitals-and-skilled-nursing-facilities-to-break-down-patient-data-silos/">https://www.healthcareittoday.com/2019/10/21/its-time-for-hospitals-and-skilled-nursing-facilities-to-break-down-patient-data-silos/</a>
- <sup>239</sup> Bipartisan Policy Center. (2019). *Integrating Clinical and Mental Health: Challenges and Opportunities*. Retrieved from <a href="https://bipartisanpolicy.org/report/integrating-clinical-and-mental-health-challenges-and-opportunities/">https://bipartisanpolicy.org/report/integrating-clinical-and-mental-health-challenges-and-opportunities/</a>
- <sup>240</sup> Van Cain, M. (2019). *Using EHRs to integrate mental, clinical health difficult due to privacy concerns.* AAP News. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.aappublications.org/news/2019/05/14/hit051419">https://www.aappublications.org/news/2019/05/14/hit051419</a>
- <sup>241</sup> The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2019). *Integrating social care into the delivery of health care: Moving upstream to improve the nation's health.* The National Academies Press. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nap.edu/read/25467/chapter/1">https://www.nap.edu/read/25467/chapter/1</a>
- <sup>242</sup> Dhillon-Chattha, P., McCorkle, R. & Borycki, E. (2018). *An Evidence-Based Tool for Safe Configuration of Electronic Health Records: The eSafety Checklist. Applied Clinical Informatics*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6247819/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6247819/</a>
- <sup>243</sup> Koppel, R. (2018). Response to: An Evidence-Based Tool for Safe Configuration of Electronic Health Records: The eSafety Checklist. Applied clinical informatics, 9(4), 831–832. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0038-1675811.
- <sup>244</sup> Polubriaginof, F., Ryan, P., Salmasian, H., et al.,(2019, September). *Challenges with quality of race and ethnicity data in observational databases*. Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz113
- <sup>245</sup> University of Wisconsin School of Medicine and Public Health. (2019). *Neighborhood Atlas*®. Retrieved from https://www.neighborhoodatlas.medicine.wisc.edu/
- <sup>246</sup> Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. *Health Equity Principles for State and Local Leaders in Responding to, Reopening and Recovering from COVID-19.* (2020, August 6). Retrieved from
- https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2020/05/health-equity-principles-for-state-and-local-leaders-in-responding-to-reopening-and-recovering-from-covid-19.html
- <sup>247</sup> Banger, A., Rizk, S., Bagwell, J. et. al. (2020, January 15). *National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/PolicyandDevelopmentAgenda.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/PolicyandDevelopmentAgenda.pdf</a>
- <sup>248</sup> Nordo, A., Levaux, H., Becnel, L. et. al. (2019). *Use of EHRs data for clinical research: Historical progress and current applications. Learning Health Systems*. *3*(1). doi:10.1002/lrh2.10076
- <sup>249</sup> Banger, A., Rizk, S., Bagwell, J. et. al. (2020, January 15). National Health IT Priorities for Research: A Policy and Development Agenda. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/PolicyandDevelopmentAgenda.pdf">https://www.healthit.gov/sites/default/files/page/2020-01/PolicyandDevelopmentAgenda.pdf</a>
- <sup>250</sup> Nordo, A., Levaux, H., Becnel, L. et. al. (2019). Use of EHRs data for clinical research: Historical progress and current applications. Learning Health Systems, 3(1). doi:10.1002/lrh2.10076
- <sup>251</sup> Nordo, A. (2019, September 15). *HL7 FHIR Blazing the Path Forward for Research: Notes from the Research on FHIR Thought Leaders Forum.* Retrieved from <a href="https://confluence.hl7.org/display/VA/2019-09-15+Initial+Meeting+-Atlanta?preview=/66917194/66917917/Research%20on%20FHIR%20Forum%20Minutes%20FINAL.docx">https://confluence.hl7.org/display/VA/2019-09-15+Initial+Meeting+-Atlanta?preview=/66917194/66917917/Research%20on%20FHIR%20Forum%20Minutes%20FINAL.docx</a>

- <sup>252</sup> Chen, C., Lee, P., Pain, K. et al. (2020, May 30). Replacing Paper Informed Consent with Electronic Informed Consent for Research in Academic Medical Centers: A Scoping Review. American Medical Informatics Association Joint Summits on Translational Science. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7233043/ <sup>253</sup> Duke Clinical Research Institute. (2018, December 8). Improving Healthcare Interoperability - Project Report. Retrieved from https://dcri.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Pew-Report-v2018DEC08FINAL3.pdf <sup>254</sup> Fitbit. (2019, November 1). Fitbit to Be Acquired by Google. [Press release]. Retrieved from https://investor.fitbit.com/press/press-releases/press-release-details/2019/Fitbit-to-Be-Acquired-by-Google/default.aspx
- <sup>255</sup> Mullin, E. (2020, January 28). Facebook Wants Your Medical Data, but Isn't Legally Obligated to Protect It. One Zero. Retrieved from https://onezero.medium.com/facebook-wants-your-medical-data-but-isnt-legally-obligated-toprotect-it-4bc50d7e3bf6

  256 Bari, L. & O'Neill, D.P. (2019, December 12). Rethinking Patient Data Privacy In The Era OF Digital Health. [Web
- log post]. Retrieved from https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/hblog20191210.216658/full/
- <sup>257</sup> Copeland, R., Mattioli, D., & Evans, M. (2020, January 11). Inside Google's Quest for Millions of Medical Records. The Wallstreet Journal. Retrieved from https://www.wsi.com/articles/paging-dr-google-how-the-tech-giant-is-laying-
- <u>claim-to-health-data-11578719700</u>
  <sup>258</sup> Ford, P. (2020, March 10). *How private is private?* Healthcare IT News. Retrieved from https://www.healthcareitnews.com/news/europe/how-private-private
- <sup>259</sup> Auxier, B., Rainie, L., Anderson, M., Perrin, A., Kumar, M., & Turner, E. (2019, November 15). Americans and Privacy: Concerned, Confused and Feeling Lack of Control Over their Personal Information. Pew Research Center. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2019/11/15/americans-and-privacy-concerned-confused-andfeeling-lack-of-control-over-their-personal-information/
- <sup>260</sup> Beards, A. (2020, April). Google Makes A Move in the Ongoing Tech Wars, For the Records. Retrieved from http://viewer.zmags.com/publication/04516026#/04516026/31
- <sup>261</sup> United States Government Accountability Office, Center for Science, Technology, and Engineering. (2017). Internet of Things: Status and implications of an increasingly connected world. Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/684590.pdf 262 Ibid
- <sup>263</sup> Gordon, W., Landman, A., Zhang, H., & Bates, D. (2020, February 3). Beyond validation: Getting health apps into clinical practice, npi Digital Medicine, Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41746-019-0212-z
- <sup>264</sup> Akbar, S., Cojera, E., & Magrabi, F. (2019, October 10), Safety concerns with consumer-facing mobile health applications and their consequences: A scoping review. Journal of American Medical Informatics Association. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/jamia/article/27/2/330/5585394 <sup>265</sup> Ibid
- <sup>266</sup> Center for Devices and Radiological Health. (2019, April 10). FDA Recommends Only Using Cleared or Approved Devices for Head Injury. Retrieved from https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/safety-communications/fdarecommends-only-using-cleared-or-approved-medical-devices-help-assess-or-diagnose-head-injury
- <sup>267</sup> Office for Civil Rights (n.d.) The HIPAA Privacy Rule and Electronic Health Information Exchange in a Networked Environment. Retrieved from
- https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/ocr/privacy/hipaa/understanding/special/healthit/individualchoice.pdf
- <sup>268</sup> Health Current. (n.d.) Patient Rights. Retrieved from https://healthcurrent.org/hie/patient-rights/
- <sup>269</sup> HealtheConnections. (n.d.). Terms and Conditions to the HIE Participation Agreement. Retrieved from https://www.healtheconnections.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/HealtheConnections-Terms-Conditions-to-Participation-Agreement-FINAL-JULY-2016.pdf
- <sup>270</sup> Posnack, S. (2017, April 6). Oh, the Places Data Goes: ONC Announces Data Provenance Challenge. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/buzz-blog/interoperability/places-data-onc-announces-data-provenancechallenge
- <sup>271</sup> Tang, P., Blake K., Gallagher, L., & Malec, A. (2016, July 8). Application Programming Interface (API) Task Force Recommendations. Retrieved from https://www.healthit.gov/hitac/committees/health-information-technology-advisorycommittee-hitac?tid=125 272 Braveman, P., Arkin, E., Orleans, T., Proctor D, & Plough, A. (2017, May 1). What is Health Equity?. Retrieved
- from https://www.rwif.org/en/library/research/2017/05/what-is-health-equity-.html